

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Exploring Teachers' Use of Instructional Technology During Reading for English Language Learners

Phyllis Ingram Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Education Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education and Human Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Phyllis E. Ingram

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Anissa Harris, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Christopher Cale, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Mary Howe, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2023

Abstract

Exploring Teachers' Use of Instructional Technology During Reading for English

Language Learners

by

Phyllis E. Ingram

MS, Walden University, 2010

BS, Brenau University, 2005

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

August 2023

Abstract

In the southeastern United States, many local school districts have mandated an increased use of instructional technology to address low reading proficiency among English language learners (ELLs). However, local district leaders and stakeholders concurred that additional research was needed to explore how teachers were using technology in their instructional practices for the academic content proficiency of ELLs. The purpose of this qualitative multisite case study was to explore Grade 3–5 teachers' perceptions of and experiences using instructional technology during reading instruction with ELLs; consequently, the research questions addressed these perceptions and experiences. The substitution, augmentation, redefinition, and modification (SAMR) model was the conceptual framework in this study. The purposeful sample included twelve reading teachers who were required to use technology during classroom instruction and whose classes were more than 51% ELLs. Additionally, each participant had more than two years of ELL teaching experience and either English Second Other Language certification or training in the Sheltered Instruction Observation Protocol. Data were collected through observations, semistructured interviews, and a document analysis of lesson plans. Using the SAMR model as a lens, the data were thematically analyzed and assigned a priori, open, and axial codes. The findings indicated that teachers may benefit from professional development focused on more effectively implementing reading instructional technology, specifically when modifying or redefining instruction with technology. The implications for positive social change include stakeholders and ELL students benefitting from enhanced reading and transformative instructional practices by directly addressing the instructional practices taking place in elementary ELL classrooms.

Exploring Teachers' Use of Instructional Technology During Reading for English

Language Learners

by

Phyllis E. Ingram

MS, Walden University, 2010 BS, Brenau University, 2005

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

August 2023

Dedication

This project study is dedicated to my late mother, Peggy Perry, who believed I could do all things through Christ who strengthened me. She did not live to see my completion of this study, but her memory served as a continuous reminder during the process that I could do things that are perceived to be hard. I know I made her proud.

Acknowledgments

There are many people I would like to thank for supporting me on this journey. My children, Micah, Gabriel, Joshua, and Jacob, who always encouraged me to keep working so they could call me Dr. Mom; my friends, who always listened and dried my tears when I wanted to just give up; Dr. Edgar Rivas, who mentored and always gave words of encouragement-especially on the weekends; my mom, who was always in awe of my perseverance; and Dr. Anissa Harris, who understood the frustrations I had when writing.

List of Tablesv
Section 1: The Problem1
The Local Problem1
Background of the Study1
Rationale4
Local Evidence4
Evidence in Profession/Discipline7
Definition of Terms9
Significance of the Study9
Research Questions11
Review of the Literature
Conceptual Framework12
Review of the Broader Problem14
Implications
Summary
Section 2: The Methodology
Research Design and Approach
Setting and Sample Participants
Setting of the Study
Participants for the Study
Criteria for Participant Selection

Table of Contents

Access to Participants	40
Researcher–Participant Working Relationship	42
Protecting Participant Rights	42
Data Collection	43
Procedures to Assure Accuracy, Credibility, and Evidence of Quality	43
Role of the Researcher	48
Data Analysis	49
Preparing the Data for Analysis	49
A Priori Coding	50
Open Coding	53
Axial Coding	54
Discrepant Cases	56
Trustworthiness	56
Data Analysis Results	57
RQ1	58
RQ2	70
RQ3	78
Summary	
Section 3: The Project	90
Introduction	90
Rationale	90
Review of the Literature	91

Conducting the Search	92
Saturation of the Literature	93
Professional Development for Identifying and Using Instructional	
Technology	93
Professional Development to Address Implementation Barriers	99
Project Description	102
Resources, Existing Supports, Potential Barriers, and Solutions	102
Implementation and Timeline	104
Participants	104
Phase 1: PreImplementation Sessions	105
Phase 2: Coaching and Feedback Sessions	106
Roles and Responsibilities	107
Project Evaluation Plan	
Goals of Evaluation	108
Formative Assessments	
Summative Evaluation	109
Project Implications	110
For Social Change	110
For Stakeholders	111
Summary	111
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	113
Project Strengths	113

Project Limitations	114
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	115
Reflective Self-Analysis	116
Scholarship	116
Growth as a Practitioner	116
Project Development	117
Growth as a Project Developer	117
Leadership and Change	118
Reflection on Importance of the Work	119
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	119
Social Change	119
Implications and Applications	120
Direction for Future Research	121
Conclusion	121
References	123
Appendix A: The Project	144
Appendix B: Observation Protocol	195
Appendix C: Interview Protocol	196
Appendix D: Document Collection Checklist	198

List of Tables

Table 1.	Percentages of Nonproficient Students on 2015 English Language Arts	
Sun	nmative Assessment by School Site	6
Table 2.	A Priori Codes (SAMR Model) by Data Source With Examples	52
Table 3.	Open Codes by Source With Examples	54
Table 4.	Axial Codes	55
Table 5.	Alignment of RQ Content to Theme and Data Source	58

Section 1: The Problem

The Local Problem

Based upon a review of school data, stakeholder surveys, and the 2018–2021 technology plan of Mallard School District (a pseudonym), a metropolitan school district in the southeastern United States (MSDSUS), the superintendent and chief academic officer for curriculum and instruction mandated instructional technology use across all academic content areas, for all students, including English language learners (ELLs). Using researched best practices, which included the benefits of instructional design and technology (IDT), MSDSUS launched a 2-year, billion-dollar initiative to provide teachers and students with instructional technology to use to increase academic proficiency. However, a problem existed at the local level where it was unknown how upper elementary teachers were using technology in their reading instructional practices, specifically for ELLs.

Background of the Study

The MSDSUS's 2015 reading proficiency initiative, Vision 20/20, was intended to increase reading proficiency through various approaches by utilizing 21st-century skills, including technology. The MSDSUS state's department of education team first adopted and established the technology plan guidelines in 2004. According to the Department of Education in the state that MSDSUS is in, the education team set goals in the 2007–2012 technology plan guidelines for school districts to have 95% of students obtain passing scores on the state's standardized testing inclusive of 21st-century skills. In MSDSUS, the technology advisory committee's strategic plan indicated that instructional technology was to be embedded across the curriculum and used to reach the curricular goal of students achieving proficiency in content. This initiative corresponded to data collected from a focus group (comprising representatives from state colleges, universities, local businesses, community leaders, and larger corporations) that the district conducted. Based on the focus group findings, students were not adequately prepared for college or careers beyond high school, and limited exposure to technology use in content areas, including reading, could be the cause. According to MSDSUS interim chief information officer, lack of preparation and limited exposure to technology may have contributed to the reduction of students prepared for higher education or the workforce.

Despite a commitment to improving reading instruction in the field of education, a continued concern exists regarding the use of instructional technologies to support reading instruction (Mei et al., 2018). According to Alhejoj (2020) and Zientek et al. (2015), technology transformed teaching and learning when integrated into the curriculum, instruction, and assessment because it became a helpful tool for learning content and concepts. As such, instructional technology could be used during instruction in all content areas.

Moreover, teachers' reading instructional practices for ELLs should include explicit instruction in information literacy using instructional technology (Prince, 2018). A lack of this practice might have negatively influenced students, particularly ELLs, because researchers have indicated that students' reading scores have improved in classes that used technology (Fransson et al., 2020; Goodwyn, 2014; Huang & Hong, 2016).

2

Furthermore, Hispanic students, who represented nearly 80% of the ELLs, were among the fastest-growing student demographic (Li, 2013; National Center for Education Statistics, 2017) and were among a subgroup of ELLs greatly affected by the quality of instructional strategies they receive (Lopez, 2018; Tellez & Manthey, 2015).

Instructional technology use in reading is vital to the efficacy of improving student achievement (Hur, 2019). Prince (2018) specified that teachers' instructional best practices must meaningfully tie technology use to content targets, including reading. Specifically, researchers have found that ELL teachers or teachers who teach ELL students are expected to incorporate both research-based reading and instructional technology strategies into their teaching practices (Inceli, 2015; Koura & Zahran, 2017).

As a result of required reading prerequisites, district personnel in MSDSUS sought and used research-based instructional strategies, such as the Sheltered Instruction Observation Protocol (SIOP) model, to address reading deficiencies in ELLs. The district endorsed the instructional strategies of the SIOP model across all content areas, which were inclusive of instructional technology strategies for ELLs and provided teachers with professional development on how it was to be implemented. This best practice model guides teachers in the instructional processes by supporting the delivery of strategies and instructional techniques that improved student achievement across all content, specifically for ELLs (Inceli, 2015; King, 2021). According to Echevarria et al. (2013) and King (2021), appropriate SIOP lessons are those in which teachers integrate technology into their lesson delivery. According to a Region 1 English language coordinator II, MSDSUS adopted the SIOP instructional model as one of the instructional strategies for ELL students; yet, most elementary ELL students struggled to meet proficiency levels in reading assessments. In the school district, it was unknown how elementary teachers used instructional technology in the reading curriculum for ELLs; therefore, I conducted this qualitative multisite case study of elementary teachers to investigate their perceptions of technology use for ELLs and how they used technology in their reading instructional practices to provide further insight into improving reading instructional strategies for ELLs within the district. To explore teachers' perceptions and their instructional best practices for teaching and learning using technology in their classrooms, I used the substitution, augmentation, modification, redefinition (SAMR) model as a framework.

Before this project study, few studies had been conducted in the MSDSUS to explore teachers' perceptions of and how they used technology in their reading instructional practices to support an increase in ELLs' reading proficiency. The purpose of this project study was to explore teachers' perceptions of and experiences using instructional technology during the reading instruction of Grades 3–5 ELLs.

Rationale

Local Evidence

According to data obtained from MSDSUS, potential school research sites, and the state's Department of Education, teachers might not have been using instructional technology best practices for ELLs during reading instruction to master grade-level standards. MSDSUS used perception surveys related to the effective use of instructional technology in developing a shared vision, set goals, and implemented technology use across all content areas. Research conducted by the district, which included community forums, focus groups, and listening sessions, identified school stakeholder concerns related to instructional and curricular goals and showed that the infrastructure provided by the district could optimize instructional technology, but classroom teachers sporadically used the technology.

Recent researchers have conducted studies on varying degrees of instructional technology use in the classroom and the benefits resulting from that use. According to Handoko (2020) and Seifert (2016), most classroom teachers merely apply technology without many transformations of student instructional outcomes, and schools do not use much instructional technology. Instead, the instruction students are receiving lacks transformative (i.e., higher order) skills often found when teachers move beyond merely enhancing the learning experiences of students using instructional technology (e.g., substituting conventional pencil and paper assignments with typed assignments; Handoko, 2020; Seifert, 2016). These conclusions added weight to the argument that it was beneficial for teachers to create, use, and thoroughly engage students using instructional technology in the academic content for increased academic gains (International Society for Technology in Education, 2017).

MSDSUS leadership has pinpointed literacy and embedding technology in the curriculum in the district's technology initiative. The latter point concerned the district because a shift in instructional best practices has taken root across the field of education related to an increase in instructional technology use to address the inequities and gaps in reading (see Hur, 2019).

5

Data from 2017 on the MSDSUS Department of Education website revealed that ELLs continued to perform below grade level in reading on the state's summative assessments. The MSDSUS's assessment tool was a comprehensive summative assessment in which students in Grades 3–12 were tested on the state-adopted content standards at the end of each grade or course. Reading assessment scores from each of the three research sites in the district showed a comparison of all students in the testing Grades 3 through 5 and ELLs in the same testing grades (see Table 1). Based on reading proficiency scores across students at all three sites, ELLs represented more than 50% of nonproficient grade-level students.

Table 1

	School 1			School 2				School 3		
Year	Total %	ELL %	_	Total %	E	ELL %	_	Total %	ELL %	
2017	56	63		38		45		18	40	
2016	60	67		37		49		23	58	
2015	61	69		35		50		30	65	

Percentages of Nonproficient Students on 2015 English Language Arts Summative Assessment by School Site

As shown in Table 1, ELLs' reading achievement scores were lower than non-

ELL's scores as well as the scores of all students considered nonproficient in reading. As a result of low reading achievement, MSDSUS schools focused on instructional processes to address the reading instruction ELLs receive. Even so, potential schools within the district have reported in their Comprehensive School Improvement Plan, a tool used by school districts to focus on selected areas to address the academic needs of students, that more instructional technology should be made available and used by teachers and students in reading instruction in the classroom.

Evidence in Profession/Discipline

Technology has become a conventional instrument in teaching reading, with a continued emphasis on finding approaches and components that make instructional technology effective in reading (Archer et al., 2014; Chauhan, 2017; Scherer et al., 2020). The use of technology parallels the 2018 MSDSUS Department of Education literacy initiative, "THE WHAT," which indicated that to improve reading achievement for all K–12 students, teachers must integrate reading instruction across all content and that this instruction must encompass, among other things, technology.

The emphasis on reading and using instructional technology also revealed some concerns that teachers of ELL students experience. Cassidy et al. (2016) and Connelly et al. (2021) found that traditional reading instruction often fails to provide all the reading skills that students require. Additionally, Kenny (2020) and Trainin et al. (2016) found that less than three fourths of U.S. fourth-grade students are fluent readers (i.e., their reading comprehension scores are below grade level). Alenezi (2017) found that exemplar and typical teachers had varying degrees of concerns, such as time, self-efficacy, restrictions from administrators, and lack of support, when using instructional technology. Moreover, the target population of this project study was Hispanic ELLs, and according to the National Assessment of Educational Progress ([NAEP], 2015), only 21% of these students in Grade 4 score proficient or higher on reading assessments. Over the

last 20 years, Hispanic ELL students experienced only minimal growth in reading and remained at basic reading according to the data collected by the NAEP (2015). Achievement gaps were statistically significant between the highest-scoring subgroups and Hispanic English Language Learners (NAEP, 2015).

Historically, researchers studying reading instruction for ELLs have shown that inadequate use of instructional technology is an increasing issue, even though the researchers observed improvement in controlled studies of technology utilization (August et al., 2014; Milhourn, 2021; Union et al., 2015). However, other researchers noted that instructional technology use in all curricular content areas for ELLs was an enhancing tool for teachers to meet the educational goals of modern classrooms (Li, 2013; Woodrich & Fan, 2017). Specifically, instructional technology in reading instruction may not be used proportionately to the rise of ELL student populations. As such, many school districts have lagged in implementing measures to nurture a shift in instructional technology use for reading instruction and in continuous school improvement plans (Schildkamp, 2019).

According to Byrd (2018), Oakley et al. (2018), and Zheng et al. (2018), using instructional technology effectively through online collaborative learning, technologyenhanced audible and visual tools, and computer educational programs during instruction can lead to increases in student reading. Furthermore, Anderson (2018) and Fogarty et al. (2017) confirmed that the use of instructional technology during reading improved the comprehension skills of students. However, at the study site, it was unknown how teachers were using technology within their reading instruction for ELLs.

Definition of Terms

ELLs: Any student who initially speaks a language other than English and, therefore, has the most room for improvement in reading proficiency (Roy-Campbell, 2013).

IDT: A systematic course of learning programs with outcomes capable of producing consistently, reliable instructional materials that address the educational needs of a specific learner (Donmez & Cagiltay, 2016).

Instructional technology: Integrated learning elements that include the comprehensive processes to which people, actions, concepts, and devices all share in the whole aspect of learning (Mayes et al., 2015).

Reading instruction: The process by which students build the capacity to learn and use language in all forms of communication, including reading, speaking, listening, and writing (Karimi & Dehghani, 2016).

SAMR model: A method that allows educators to permeate instruction with technology and categorizes this type of instruction into four levels of use (i.e., substitution, augmentation, modification, and redefinition; Hamilton et al., 2016).

Upper elementary: Typically identified as third through fifth grades in the primary school setting (Toste & Ciullo, 2016).

Significance of the Study

Reports on reading proficiency in U.S. educational organizations confirmed that the proportion of ELL students unable to reach proficiency levels was too high (National Assessment of Educational Progress, 2015). Researchers have expressed that in addition to continuous professional development, teacher preparation programs inclusive of researched best practices in instructional technology use could otherwise address the proficiency concerns (Quintana & Zelaya, 2015). As such, a review of school data, stakeholder surveys, and the MSDSUS's current technology plan, which specifies digital learning targets to "prepare educators to maximize technology in ways that transform learning," provided evidence of shared concerns about instructional technology best practices in the classroom. Although there has been a shift toward including instructional technologies in reading, according to the MSDSUS's student proficiency scores that were posted in 2017, there continued to be little significant change in the number of ELLs who can read with proficiency. It is possible that these ELL students might not have been receiving the 21st-century instruction that became commonplace in schools of non-ELLs, which may have helped improve the latter subgroup's reading achievement.

In this project study, I explored how reading teachers of ELL majority classrooms used technology in their instructional best practices for teaching and learning. The findings of this qualitative multisite case study provide teachers with a better understanding of how instructional technologies were effectively used in reading instruction with ELL populations. Administrators could also possibly use the results of this study to gauge the extent to which instructional technologies, as mandated, were implemented at their schools. The results could benefit ELLs by addressing the instructional processes that influence their learning during reading instruction. The comprehensive data collected in this study provide clarity on the uses of instructional technology in the MSDSUS through the lens of the SAMR model.

Research Questions

Many ELLs continue to struggle in achieving reading proficiency and often receive instruction that is not suited to meet their needs (O'Connor et al. 2019). Although the MSDSUS promoted the use of technology as an instructional strategy to support reading instruction that could have led to proficiency in reading, it was unknown how teachers were using technology in their reading instruction to ELLs. In this study, I explored teachers' perceptions of and experiences using technology for Grades 3-5 ELL reading instruction. The following research questions guided this study:

RQ1: What are elementary teachers' perceptions about their use of technology to teach reading to ELL students?

RQ2: What are elementary teachers' experiences using instructional technology to differentiate reading for ELLs?

RQ3: What are elementary teacher experiences using instructional technology to teach reading for ELLs in ways that exemplify the SAMR model?

Review of the Literature

In this section, I provide a review of literature on the topics of the SAMR model, reading instruction, technology utilization, and ELLs. Furthermore, themes including the role of professional development on technology use in all aspects of education, the importance of IDT, the effect of teachers' use of instructional technology on reading instruction, optimal classroom conditions for instructional technology use, collaborative work, and the impact of infrastructure on instructional technology use, are discussed. The following databases were searched to identify relevant, current, and thorough

information: Educational Resource Information Center, ProQuest Central, Education Research Complete, and Dissertation Abstracts International. I also made traditional library inquiries using published books for primary sources. In my searches, articles published in the last 5 years were prioritized, except for primary sources. I used the following search terms: *computers, Chromebooks, instructional technology, pedagogy, technology in urban schools, instructional design and technology, instructional design systems, reading instruction, literacy, language acquisition, elementary education, primary education, school-age education, technology integration, English language learners, English as a second language, teachers' perceptions, teachers' attitudes* and *substitution, augmentation, modification, redefinition (SAMR) model.*

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework that guided this exploration of teachers' perceptions and experiences of instructional technology use during reading instruction for ELLs was Puentedura's SAMR model. I chose this model as the framework because it allowed me to describe how instructional tasks and assignments were used to transform learning through the integration of technology (see Hamilton et al., 2016; Marlatt, 2019). The parameters of the model allowed for the categorization of the technology used during content instruction. This model informs the perspective that instruction in any discipline can be viewed along a spectrum determined by the extent technology is used (Anderson, 2016; Warsen & Vandermolen, 2020).

Bober (2016) and Djiwandono (2020) explained that the SAMR model offers a framework for observing the instructional technology used in tasks and activities within a

classroom setting. The spectrum of this model includes two primary benchmarks, with *enhancement* on one end of the spectrum and *transformative* on the other end (Bober, 2016). Within the enhancement benchmark are substitution and augmentation, and the transformative aspect of the continuum includes modification and redefinition (Bober, 2016). Instructional technologies merely replace traditional tools with no significant change of tasks at substitution. At augmentation, instructional technologies replace basic instructional tools with slight changes being observed. Modification of tasks includes instructional technologies replacing traditional instructional tools resulting in significant, evidence-based instructional changes. Redefinition utilizes instructional technologies in a way that produces new tasks that were impossible using basic instructional tools (Handoko, 2020: Sweeney et al., 2017).

The spectrum of the SAMR model formed the foundation of the conceptual framework for this project study and helped capture the necessary data on technology utilization during reading instruction. I explored teachers' perceptions of and their experiences with instructional technology use in the classroom by collecting data from observations, interviews, and documents. Then I processed the data through the lens of the SAMR model to sort instructional technology use during reading instruction. The analyzed data revealed differing and different uses of instructional technology at the research sites for ELLs. Teacher use of technology in this model refers to how the teachers understand and use various technologies for instruction in and outside of classroom teaching (Bober, 2016; Handoko, 2020). I also used several specific aspects of the framework to code the data collected in this study.

Bober (2016) and Lyddon (2019) confirmed that the observation of learning activities within instructional parameters is supported through the SAMR model. Because the purpose of the current study was to explore Grades 3–5 teachers' perceptions and use of instructional technology during reading instruction of ELLs, the framework provided a spectrum of categories with which to identify learning activities as being either enhancement or transformative. Furthermore, Kumar and Louise (2018) and Luo and Yang (2016) argued for the use of the SAMR model to specifically assess instructional technology use within the context of English language teaching. As such, I used the SAMR model to explore teachers' utilization of instructional technology for the reading instruction of ELLs in this study.

Review of the Broader Problem

To review the broader problem, I analyzed and synthesized the previous research conducted by researchers in recent studies that focused on reading instruction, instructional design, technology utilization in reading instruction, ELLs, and technology infusion.

Reading Instruction

Reading instruction in classrooms has steadily increased in rigor, and emphasis continues to be placed on students' ability to enhance their literacy skills (Snow & O'Conner, 2016; Welsch et al., 2019). This focus on reading improvement has been examined in the numerous research studies that have contributed to the knowledge of literacy. Johnson (2017) conducted a case study of four elementary reading teachers and their instructional practices utilizing text discussions, a reading practice that connects

students and teachers cognitively to make meaning of the reading content. The practice involved more student-centered dialogue about the text under study while the teacher took on a joint role in the flow of the meaning and comprehension of the text (Johnson, 2017). The researcher confirmed that this method of reading instruction benefited all students, especially ELLs, because it provided a means for the teacher to engage in authentic conversations with the students. Johnson reaffirmed that developing trust during instruction is essential because it provides both the teacher and student the opportunity to talk openly to one another while making meaning of the content being learned. However, in as much as Johnson could see the benefits of this reading method, the researcher concluded there were different challenges that limited teachers from implementing it with fidelity. Educational leaders needed to implement more meaningful professional development and increase the time allocated for teachers to master the comprehensive system of text discussions (Johnson, 2017).

Likewise, Johnson (2017) and researchers, such as Connor et al. (2019) and Muijselaar et al. (2018), reached the same conclusion about the importance of implementing an instructional strategy and to what extent it must be developed for significant gains to occur in reading. Johnson determined that teachers could not implement the reading method with fidelity until adequate training occurred on all aspects of it. Similarly, Muijelaar et al. (2018), in their controlled study of the strategy intervention Nieuwsbegrip, a Dutch daily news reading comprehension technique, noted the effects of teachers utilizing the specific reading program over the course of 18 weeks resulted in students making notable increases in reading. Teachers in the study modeled reading strategies and used those strategies when interacting with texts. Students in the control group who used the program with fidelity and received teacher modeled strategies made gains in their knowledge of reading strategies but revealed only minor increases to their reading comprehension scores.

In a causal-comparative study of third graders, Smith (2018) focused on teachers applying guided reading and whole group reading instruction to gauge student improvements in reading achievement scores. The teachers in the study worked with students in either whole group reading instruction, which focused mostly on teaching explicit context, or used guided reading instruction, which focused instruction using leveled reading texts. During the guided reading instruction, teachers worked with students on reading skills, including comprehension, vocabulary, phonics, and fluency. Smith found that increased improvements in reading proficiency were noted in students in the controlled guided reading groups because of the schools adopting the guided reading instruction.

There are two crucial aspects of success in teaching reading. One is teacher fidelity in executing each component of the reading program in its entirety, and the other is proper training to ensure the desired outcomes are achieved (Sanden et al., 2022). Reading instruction is multifaceted because it requires the teacher to consider the various aspects required to fully engage a student in the reading process (Dorsey, 2015; Smith, 2018). The importance of implementing an instructional strategy extensively should not be disregarded (Droop et al., 2016; Muijselaar et al., 2018) because it is beneficial to students learning to read (Pretorius & Spaull, 2016; Spaull & Pretorius, 2019). Teachers of reading must wholly understand the method of reading instruction they have chosen to use (Johnson, 2017) because students typically require varying methods of instruction to understand the content being delivered (Mannon, 2021; Young et al., 2015). In the reviewed studies above on reading instruction, an emphasis on proper training for program use and fidelity to meaningful implementation of reading programs was a common element in the findings.

Other studies, such as those of Bakhshandeh, and Jafari (2018) and Chaochang (2016) have stressed that reading skills are a vital component of academic success and that the influence of teaching reading cannot be underestimated. In making this comment, the researchers noted that a student's inability to master reading during primary education spirals into an increased deficit in reading beyond the elementary school setting, where more complex reading skills are required for comprehension.

A multitude of studies have been conducted to examine reading instruction. In a mixed-method study of secondary school teachers' viewpoints on implementing reading instruction, Jafari et al. (2015) provided insight into teachers' concerns with the amount of time used for reading instruction. The researchers highlighted teachers' approaches toward reading instruction and problems they encounter while citing excessive administrative directives deviating from the instructional teaching and learning processes. Subsequently, school mandates reduced the amount of time teachers devoted to reading instruction. As an example, participants cited the examination process as an unrelated component to instruction that is overemphasized. The time allocated for examinations could be used to provide additional reading instruction to students needing more practice

with reading strategies. In making this comment, Jafari et al. substantiated that teachers' lack of instructional autonomy during reading often creates hindrances in addressing reading challenges as they arise. While specific instruction serves to address many components of reading, the researchers pointed out that teachers needed more time to teach specific reading skills; however, mandated directives often impeded additional or even allotted instructional time. As such, reading instructional strategies that could richly develop the comprehension of all students, particularly ELLs, through relatable connections by bridging language barriers are occasionally abandoned, thereby interrupting potential improvements in reading (Jafari et al., 2015).

Tavakoli et al.'s (2015) study of teachers' views concerning their reading instruction revealed that participant teachers were more successful when the levels of instructional autonomy were higher, but outcomes were more successful when students collaborated on reading skills. Multiple researchers (i.e., De Oliveira, 2016; Karatas & Arpaci, 2021; Ngoc & Iwashita, 2012; Tavakoli et al.; 2015) have provided similar information validating the need to address the reading instruction of students through various techniques by incorporating new strategies to nurture the academic needs of students. Furthermore, researchers have agreed that 21st-century students are in a continuous cycle of collaborating both in and beyond the classroom setting to connect their understanding of phenomena relevant to them (Vasileiadou & Makrina, 2017; Xu et al., 2020). All students, especially ELLs, acquire reading skills more consistently when language teachers allow them an opportunity to collaborate with each other, fostering the connection students have with mediums they utilize daily for communication (De Oliveira, 2016; De Oliveira & Westerlund, 2021). The emphasis on reading instruction in the reviewed studies supports a critical point: Student success in reading is not just dependent on successful teaching but also requires meaningful student collaboration (De Oliveira, 2016; De Oliveira & Westerlund, 2021; Ngoc & Iwashita, 2012).

In a mixed-methods study, Eustic (2018) examined the benefits of ELL student self-selected versus teacher-selected books for fluency and reading comprehension and found differing results. The teachers in the study taught third-grade students through whole group instruction, small group instruction, or students were engaged in independent reading activities. The findings from the study supported teachers' use of best practices during reading instruction and indicated students' reading fluency increased with independent reading activities; contrastingly, their fluency was not their best during cooperative, small group, teacher-selected reading activities. The researcher concluded that when best practices were used, intermediate-grade students were better able to self-monitor their reading for understanding (Eustic, 2018).

Whereas Eustic (2018) provided ample evidence that third-grade students showed greater reading fluency through independent reading, the research of De Oliveira, (2016), De Oliveira and Westerlund (2021), and Ngoc and Iwashita (2012) showing the importance of meaningful student collaboration spanned multiple years and was supported by numerous researchers. The findings of the latter researchers, like many other researchers, indicated that student collaboration during reading was valuable for all students.

Other researchers have investigated programs directly linked to reading instruction. Penland (2019) found that reading skills improved through the implementation of Scientifically Based Reading programs, including but not limited to Daily 5. The author indicated that many components of reading, such as listening to reading, reading to someone, working on writing, grammar assignments, and teacher-led small groups, are comprehensively addressed through the structured instructional components of the program (Penland, 2019). In a like manner, Rasinski et al. (2017) conducted a quantitative study of Fluency Development Lessons to assess increases in the reading performances of 37 third graders. According to the results, based on posttests, the lessons led to increases in the reading scores of all but one of the students. Both studies indicated that the targeted reading programs consisted of different components that, when implemented with fidelity, were shown to increase the desired results. Namely, fluency as a component of reading is linked with substantial gains when students are provided instruction to address gaps associated with this segment of reading (Penland, 2019). Rasinski et al. explained that Fluency Development Lessons provided instructors with a viable research-based program and, when used with fidelity, increased reading fluency in the elementary and middle school grades. Moreover, teachers' use of knowledge and desire to incorporate a comprehensive reading strategy should be considered when addressing the fluency needs of subgroups such as ELLs. Penland and Rasinski et al. provided similar information about educators who implemented reading programs with fidelity and found that students' comprehension increased, fluency rates improved, and overall communication advanced upon prolonged exposure to the program.

These research studies indicated that as the language learning paradigm shifts to include more nontraditional modalities, educators must be cognizant that the concepts involving language learning and reading programs are no longer mutually exclusive. The research review indicated that effective reading across all grade-bands was a result of explicit instruction, the fidelity with reading programs, instructional autonomy, and often-times collaborative, student-centered learning.

IDT Use in Reading Instruction

IDT is a process in which the use of educational technology is analyzed, designed, implemented, and assessed for the benefit of the learner (Bodily et al., 2019). As such, IDT serves as an essential catalyst during reading instruction. When IDT is implemented during reading instruction in conjunction with instructional best practices, reading tasks can be created and viewed along a spectrum of complexity (Falloon, 2020). The SAMR model's spectrum could afford teachers opportunities to create and assess reading tasks at the current instructional level of the learner.

The use of instructional technology in the classroom is suggested to have a positive influence on ELLs of all ages and grade levels (Al-Seghayer, 2015; Dwaik et al., 2016; Jones, 2020). The extent of this influence has been researched in various capacities, including studies of technology perception and ability among high schoolers (DeBacco, 2020; Owens-Hartman, 2015), mobile technology in the K–12 classrooms (Boyd, 2020; Liu et al., 2014; Parenti & Chen, 2015), and technology proficiency through professional development in rural classrooms (Dieker et al., 2018). However, these studies represent only a fraction of the extensive research done on technology integration and ELLs.

More frequently, researchers have examined different facets of technology integration in the learning context. In their study, Walker (2021) examined teachers' perceptions of integrating technology in an elementary setting. The researchers investigated the conditions teachers felt improved the learning dynamic within their classrooms through technology use. These conditions included student engagement, some preexisting technology knowledge, and integration within instruction when the technology worked as planned (Walker, 2021). The research findings also revealed the factors that jeopardized the integration of instructional practices through technology. In terms of educating 21st-century students, the research sites prioritized instructional technology use across all content areas to assist teachers in undertaking the vast challenges associated with teaching in a technological age. Walker found that inexperience with technology, lack of school commitment to integrating technology, ineffective implementation of technology, and insufficient, proper professional development could lead to poor classroom learning conditions (Walker, 2021).

Like Walker (2021), Luo et al. (2017) found that teachers revealed that technology use was beneficial; however, the amount of training they received was inadequate to utilize the technology thoroughly. Through a mixed-method research design, the researchers investigated if IStation, an adaptive reading program, improved student's reading scores. The researchers employed surveys and conducted interviews aimed at collecting teachers' feelings, both positive and negative, toward instructional technology integration. The feelings noted in the study included concerns with the amount of training they received and the accuracy of the program's adaptive features (Luo et al., 2018). In the study, teachers used the reading intervention lessons provided by the program as well as supplemental resources to individualize student reading instruction further. Teachers were found to have a positive outlook on technology integration when using certain components of the program. However, the researchers found that due to the duration required for the intervention lessons, teachers were less likely to implement these lessons into their 15-minute reading block. The researchers of the study found that the amount of instructional technology used directly influenced the major feelings teachers reported.

Comparatively, the study district, through mandatory teacher development of instructional technology use for students, continued to address the concerns teachers described related to effectively utilizing instructional technology within content areas for student academic growth and achievement. Subsequently, the study district explored all aspects of instructional technology use within the schools to create a comprehensive plan aimed at presenting teachers with concrete programs, lessons, and procedures embedded in content areas. Correspondingly, at the research sites, instructional technology was deemed a necessary resource inclusive in instructional plans. In both Luo et al. (2017) and Walker's (2021) studies, the researchers indicated that teachers showed the importance of instructional technology use, but also the downsides associated with their lack of training.

Moreover, Lamb and Weiner (2018), in an examination on teacher's technology use in the classroom, focused on the specific impacts of integration and found various themes that permeate this topic in the literature. The researchers analyzed how intuitional expectations impacted 1:1 technology use within school classroom settings. The researchers' findings highlighted the following themes: the effects of school interaction with the environment, understanding the values of individuals using the technology, and the institute's system of design. Similarly, Wesely and Plummer's (2017) study on technology use, specifically for language learning, highlighted critical components of successful implementation of technology. Their qualitative study of four rural schools' use of Computer-Assisted Language Learning (CALL) in classrooms and teacher experience with technology highlighted two implications. The first was that learning opportunities for teachers to use the CALL system were limited and insufficient, forcing teachers to familiarize themselves with the technology independently. As a result, teacher implementation did not occur with fidelity. The second implication that Wesely and Plummer found was closely associated with the latter point in that professional development was not structured to provide the appropriate in-service training for teachers to learn the CALL system effectively (Wesely & Plummer, 2017).

Furthermore, the researchers found that with new instructional technologies, staff development needed to shift from more traditional formats to be more inclusive of modern tools, study-specific course work, and utilization of instructors with familiarity regarding the content (Wesely & Plummer, 2017). Lamb and Weiner and Wesely and Plummer argued the same point concerning the role of professional development in teachers' effective use of instructional technology (Lamb & Weiner, 2018; Wesley & Plummer, 2017). Perhaps more importantly, the research sites identified a need to ground instructional technology as part of the curriculum to address the gaps in practice
occurring with ELLs. Equally important, the study district includes professional development as part of the initiative within the curriculum, which is aimed at addressing gaps in practice. Sharpton (2021) confirmed that school-wide technology use has become commonplace practice for institutions that aim to enhance learning through pervasive incorporation. The studies reviewed regarding instructional technology use in the classroom highlight the necessity for teachers to incorporate technology into their instruction and, more importantly, to avoid underuse of these technologies.

Reading, ELLs, and Technology Infusion

Researchers continue to explore the convergence of reading instruction with instructional technology and the influence this has on the achievement of ELLs. Specifically, researchers have found varying levels of interconnectedness between instructional technology, reading instruction, and ELLs. For instance, Vasileiadou and Makrina's (2017) action research case study explored how ELLs performed in reading in the absence of technology and when technology was incorporated into the learning environment. Thirty-three fourth grade students participated in the study which consisted of one experimental group utilizing technology enhanced game style vocabulary lessons, and one control group receiving the standard course book instruction. The results of the study showed that experimental group of ELL students reported a higher level of motivation to read when instructional technology was implemented in their learning as well as an increase in vocabulary scores. The researchers concluded that technology use was a valuable tool for the reading instruction of ELLs and the measures of efficacy in the study supported improvement of ELL reading proficiency.

To respond to the challenge of improving reading among ELLs through the utilization of instructional technology, education researchers have considered different dynamics that could identify the practices necessary to achieve improvement in reading (Park & Kim, 2017). Current research suggests that instructional technology is not implemented as expected (Evmenova et al., 2020) and with the rise of the ELL population, an emphasis on technology use in reading classes has continued to expand (Vasileiadou & Makrina, 2017). In this growing research on technology use for ELLs, researchers have focused on instructional practices and their influence on reading performance. Researchers have explored reading and technology use for ELLs across primary and secondary grade level bands and have reported similar findings.

Most recently, Shaban (2018) explored the use of technology tools in an English language classroom at the university level. The researcher examined how 14 international students' perception of technology and reading skills improved using a student response system that was integrated alongside active learning tasks. In the study, students were given problem-solving tasks based on cultural contextualization and were allowed to submit assignments anonymously which led to instant feedback from teacher. The results of the study included data supporting reading practices that increased student engagement, the students' utilization of critical thinking and encouraging student collaboration. While the researcher did not specifically investigate reading achievement, the findings support other researchers' work investigating achievement in reading with technology use. Similarly, Ghorbani and Golparvar (2020) and Huang and Hong (2016) confirmed that the findings of Shaban in that reading instruction delivered through technology have a measurable influence on student academic performance. Huang and Hong descriptive methods study of fifth-grade students, the researchers used the Educational Performance Test to determine the motivation of students (Huang & Hong, 2016). The researchers used e-learning instructional method in the experiment group while the control group received conventional instructional delivery. The researchers found that students who used e-learning instruction exhibited better academic motivation and achievement than students who received conventional education. In short, the conclusions from the researchers supported and added weight for the use of instructional technology for positive academic gains during instruction.

Likewise, studies have been conducted at the elementary level for a similar scope. One such study is the mixed-method case study of Darling-Aduana and Heinrich (2018), where the researchers examined how elementary teachers used 1:1 instructional technology with Grades 3-5 ELLs to gauge the increases of students' academic achievement. The study consisted of ELL students assigned to classrooms of either bilingual or English only instruction. Some of the reading instructional strategies consisted of utilizing interactive sites, electronic reading materials, and audio-visual interfacing. The researchers observed how the use of instructional technology during reading for students resulted in increases in both the bilingual and traditional instruction classrooms. Specifically, when the students receiving bilingual instruction increased the duration and frequency of technology use during the week to more than 40 minutes, their scores continued to increase whereas the students receiving traditional instruction reached a plateau with continued use. The researchers concluded that blended learning with the inclusion of technology contributed to the creation of new learning pathways for this group, and they observed measurable growth. The researchers suggested that the use of 1:1 technology use with blended best practices is desirable for ELLs to meet language goals (Darling-Aduana & Heinrich, 2018). I agree with the researcher in that technology use in reading instruction for ELLs yields positive gains and argue that further studies should explore different settings and technologies.

Similarly, the findings of Darling-Aduana and Heinrich (2018), and Vasileiadou and Makrina (2017) suggest that technology use in reading instruction for ELLs encourages students, enhances learning, utilizes authentic context, and promotes student collaboration. In a mixed-method study conducted by Huang et al. (2017), the researchers investigated 42 students' use of iPads during collaborative storytelling lessons. The students were assigned a partner based on language proficiency and collaboratively worked together throughout 17 months. The pairs were provided with exemplars to reference which included the use of e-books with oral components after which, the pairs shared their stories both online and in front of the class. The researchers analyzed and triangulated data collected from surveys, interviews, and student work samples. Regarding creating a multimedia story, the researchers found that low and mid-proficient students flow perceptions (i.e., control, attention, curiosity, and intrinsic interest) increased while high-proficient students flow perceptions decreased because of being the peer leader. Like Vasileiadou and Makrina, Huang et al. concluded technology as a curriculum supplement leads to improvements in the reading processes (Vasileiadou & Makrina, 2017; Huang et al., 2017). A common finding of the studies above is that technology has a positive influence on the reading performance of ELLs.

Likewise, Lange (2019) conducted a pretest, intervention, posttest design study with 98 third-grade students in 6 elementary classrooms that included various demographic characteristics, achievement levels, and learning abilities. The study contained two groups, of which one was experimental groups receiving instruction using Fluency Tutor, MobyMax, and Readingeggs in addition to the teacher's traditional method of delivering reading content. The other groups received only the teacher's formal instruction; both included teacher-led, small group instruction. The researchers examined reading instructional practices through three different delivery systems. The researchers' findings supported the positive benefits of using Fluency Tutor, MobyMax, and Readingeggs as reading instructional practices benefiting students in the experimental groups. Students in these groups were given supports in audible modeling of texts, word recognition, pace and emphasis placed on words, comprehending the text being read, and individualized teacher support to address issues surrounding student voice recordings of text. The outcomes from the study provided significant increases in scores on post reading assessments. In other words, like the findings of Huang et al. (2017), Lange affirmed teachers' use of instructional technology during reading instruction as a beneficial practice for students (Lange, 2019).

Equally important, when best practices and effective plans are used to guide reading instruction, technology becomes a necessary component Petersen (2018) to support the diverse academic demands of students. Yamaç et al. (2020) study on writing instruction with tablets for fourth-grade students was supported by similar studies conducted by Boeglin-Quintana and Donovan (2013) and DeBacco (2020). The 2013 researchers conducted a mixed-method study in an elementary school setting with a predominantly ELL population to investigate the connection between technology and reading instruction of ELLs. The researchers used a control group and an experimental group with iPods to assist in their language learning. The purpose of the study was to discover whether adding technology influenced student achievement. The findings of the study showed that there was no significant improvement among the groups. However, the findings from the study indicted student engagement increased with the introduction of technology during reading time. Additionally, the researchers found that more time was necessary to analyze the data correctly, but that potential existed in employing instructional technology for ELLs.

Still, other research on instructional technology utilization in the classroom has found different revelations. In the qualitative exploratory multi-case study of Prince (2018), teachers' perceptions exposed the significance of the level of technology implementation but indicated that it is dependent on optimum school culture conditions. The researcher examined teachers' digital pedagogy using a 1:1 iPad initiative and how different aspects constructed a learning environment in which instructional technology was a vital component to learning. In the study, participants of revealed supportive factors such as the students' ability to utilize apps, interactive language features, and numerous online platforms used during reading instruction that influenced the successful application of technology integration for ELLs. The researchers found that the conditions required for successful technology use included collaborative models for students, teacher commitment to technology use, systematic introduction of technology integration, functional school infrastructure, leadership with the integration of technology, and teacher collaboration on pedagogical practices involving technology (Prince, 2018).

Furthermore, the researcher found that the two principal inhibiting factors were teacher background about to technology use and inadequate professional development regarding available technologies. Prince's (2018) research points out that instructional technology, although a necessary component of instruction, must have parameters and supports in place for productive use to occur. As an example, at the proposed research site, administrators agree and have stressed the importance of instructional technology use for all learners, especially ELLs, as a necessary reading component to instruction as a viable means to accomplish the school's Comprehensive School Improvement Plan. They have acknowledged that utilizing instructional technology serves as a vital part of the district's curriculum for increasing academic achievement.

Researchers, like Boeglin-Quintana and Donovan (2013), Prince (2018), and Sessions et al. (2016) found that varying effective strategies are required to support the language instructional practices of students and how those practices influenced language learners of various performance levels. Outcomes from the current researched studies related to ELLs include components that linked experience and professional development, effective best practice strategies, implementation of programs with fidelity, and differentiation of instruction to increased reading achievement; all of which must be planned and conducted with intentionality (Kelly, 2015).

Implications

As the need for effective reading practices continues to rise, research that focuses on those practices through teachers' perceptions will be paramount (Mayfield, 2016). The possible implications that resulted from the proposed project provided stakeholders with research to better understand how teachers' instructional technology use during reading instruction for ELLs could have supported an improvement in reading achievement for these learners. In essence, a professional development approach could have helped reading teachers of ELL students utilize instructional technologies at higher levels and begin addressing the reading performance of these students. The potential changes to professional development could have ensured that schools are incorporating instructional technologies into their instruction, and teachers could have begun to receive continuous support to develop their strategies within the SAMR model, leading to enhanced reading instruction and transformative instructional practices. One result of this shift in professional development could have been an increase in the reading achievement of the ELL population.

Summary

In this section, I provided a thorough review of research about to the elements of the problem. While education reformers have continued to offer a myriad of recommendations on how to improve the reading achievement of ELLs, results vary and are dependent on other factors (Pretorius & Spaull, 2016). Some recently published studies on ELLs and reading have suggested that the utilization of instructional technology can be beneficial in aiding in the desired learning outcomes for this population of learners (Herraiz-Martinez, 2018 & Prince, 2018). Four main points emerged in the analysis of the literature review. The first was that teacher instruction, and the use of instructional practices in different classroom populations led to gaps that included students' performance in reading being influenced by the method of instructional delivery, and the level of student-centered learning altering reading performance among subgroups within various classrooms. Second, instructional technologies served as an integral component of the teaching of reading for students. Third, ELLs' diverse reading needs were adequately addressed when instructional technologies were combined with opportunities for collaboration. Fourth, technologyinfused reading instruction for ELLs had long-term effects on their instructional performance in modern classrooms.

The literature review presented important findings that reflect how the researcher will address the purpose and questions of this study. These four findings supported the purpose of this study because of gaps in practice, such as some teachers' reading instructional practices for ELLs, conflict with what we know about the value of integrated technologies for teaching reading in ELL populations. The findings within the literature review highlighted four points that aligned with the proposed research project. These pertained to (a) the influence of instructional practices on the achievement of subgroups, (b) the importance of instructional technology within reading, (c) the comprehensive learning needs of ELLs, and (d) the reading instructional best practices for ELLs in contemporary reading classrooms. Also, teachers may have benefitted from professional development related to the diverse needs of ELL learners to improve their reading proficiencies. Exploring teacher's perceptions and their experiences of technology use during reading instruction for ELLs provided insight into teachers' perceptions of instructional technology use while working with this diverse population.

The purpose of this project study was to explore teachers' perceptions of and experiences using instructional technology during reading instruction of Grades 3-5 ELLs. By addressing the first research question about teachers' description of instructional technology use in reading for ELLs, parallels were drawn with the first three findings of the literature review. Mostly, the literature review findings supported the notion that instructional practices influenced achievement in reading when instructional technology was applied to the learning needs of ELLs. Likewise, the second research question, which pertained to how teachers utilized instructional technology in the reading classroom for ELLs, mirrors the fourth finding in the literature review, which indicated that performance and development were observable when instructional technology was embedded in instructional practices. The findings from the reviewed studies supported the idea that in teaching of reading, instructional technology use and fidelity of instructional technology use could hinder or improve overall instruction of ELLs.

In the subsequent section, I will provide a description of the design and approach to be applied in the project study. Section 2 will include a description of participant selection and sampling procedures, the data collection steps, an overview of instruments, a preview of the data analysis, and limitations associated with the project study. In Section 2, the connection between the project and the research questions will be made to offer a new dynamic on how instructional technologies in reading instruction could potentially advance the achievement of ELLs in reading.

Section 2: The Methodology

Research Design and Approach

In this study, I employed a qualitative, multisite case study design (see Creswell, 2012). A case study is a research strategy that is used to look at contextual conditions through data collection and analysis (Yin, 2014). Merriam and Tisdell (2016) specified that "qualitative case studies can be characterized as being particularistic, descriptive, and heuristic" (p. 43). The case study is heuristic in the sense that new meanings and understandings about the phenomenon under study cause the reader to discover new discoveries about the phenomenon (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Distinctly, the current study was particularistic because I sought to explore the phenomenon of instructional technology used during reading instruction with a specific student population. The case study was descriptive in that the results provided a rich description of a phenomenon (i.e., instructional technology use) not quantifiable with numerical data. This case study was heuristic in that the understanding of instructional technology used during reading instruction for ELLs could change or expand further with the development and subsequent incorporation of new technologies. Hancock and Algozzine (2013) described the qualitative, exploratory, case study design as an approach used when a researcher sought to determine how events and outcomes influence each other.

Use of a case study approach in the current study allowed for meaningful information to expand into a comprehensive description that encompassed the full understanding of teachers' perceptions of instructional technology use in the context of reading instruction with ELL students (Mayer, 2015). I did not use a mixed-methods

approach for this study because I did not collect quantitative data; instead, the qualitative data were used to understand how teachers used technology during reading instruction of ELLs.

I selected a qualitative case study as the research design for this study based on the context of the problem and the nature of the research questions. Specifically, I sought to explore teachers' perceptions to find meaning about instructional technology as well as the depth and extent of its use. These latter points reflected the comprehensive nature of qualitative research. Yin (2003) indicated that case studies should be used to explore "how," "what," and "why" research questions when the behavior cannot be altered among the participants and the context of the condition is related to the phenomenon to be explored. In this project study, I explored how teachers were using technology in their instructional best practices for teaching and learning in their classroom while seeking to understand teachers' perceptions and experiences of using technology during reading instruction of ELLs. The research questions were the following:

RQ1: What are elementary teachers' perceptions about their use of technology to teach reading to ELL students?

RQ2: What are elementary teachers' experiences using instructional technology to differentiate reading for ELLs?

RQ3: What are elementary teacher experiences using instructional technology to teach reading for ELLs in ways that exemplify the SAMR model?

Teachers were not being asked to learn a new method of teaching using the framework to be researched, as the role of instructional technology use being researched in reading instruction was complementary to the daily classroom reading instruction.

Setting and Sample Participants

Setting of the Study

I selected the participants for this study from three elementary schools within the MSDSUS with ELL populations over 50%. The participants consisted of upper elementary teachers of Grades 3–5, and most ELL students received English for speakers of other languages (ESOL) services as either a pull-out program or within the regular education classroom with the classroom teacher, classroom and ESOL teacher, or an ESOL teacher. School districts in the metro area of the southeastern state where MSDSUS is located have high student populations of ELLs. The selected county had a total student enrollment of 98,511, of whom 16,747 are ELLs. The demographics of MSDSUS were as follows: 11% European American, 63% African American, 17% Hispanic, 7% Asian, and 2% Multiracial.

Furthermore, the MSDSUS comprised 137 schools and centers and was sectioned into five regions. Of these, I targeted Region 1 in this study for its high number of schools with ELL students. Each prospective study site in this region had 42%, 46%, and 82% of the total student population as ELL students, respectively, and Region 1 was one of the first regions within the district that received technology upgrades. Additionally, the schools in this region received the SIOP training because the districts were early adopters. Due to these characteristics, the district was appropriate for this research project.

Participants for the Study

In this study, I adhered to Yin's (2014) recommendations for purposeful sampling and participant selection in qualitative case studies. The purposeful sample was selected from the MSDSUS, and 30 participants were solicited for participation, with 12 targeted participants sought for the study. A low number of participants was critical to the study because this allowed for a more in-depth understanding of the phenomenon/topic to be captured in the analysis (see Creswell, 2012). I used purposeful sampling as the sampling strategy because its principles allowed me to recruit both general education and ELL participants familiar with instructional technology, reading instruction, and working with ELLs. According to Creswell and Plano Clark (2011), purposeful sampling is vital in selecting participants who are particularly knowledgeable about a phenomenon. This approach to selecting participants was critical in this case study because it allowed me to collect data centered on addressing the study's problem and research questions.

Criteria for Participant Selection

To ensure that the selected participants yielded comprehensive data, potential participants had to meet the following qualifying parameters: (a) be an upper elementary (defined as Grades 3–5) teacher, (b) provide a majority of reading instruction to ELLs(defined as receiving 50% of reading instruction from teacher during the reading instruction block), (c) have a majority of ELLs in reading block (defined as 50.1% of ELLs students), (d) use some form of instructional technology during reading instruction

for ELLs (defined as hardware, software, online internet programs, laptops, iPads, or Chromebooks), and (e) have a class constructed of at least 50.1% of students identified as ELLs by the World-Class Instructional Design and Assessment (WIDA).

Access to Participants

To solicit potential participants, I initially communicated with the gatekeeper, the district coordinator for research, assessments, and grants. I filled out the official online application the district required and submitted it to the coordinator of research, assessments, and grants indicating my intent to conduct research. Once I received a letter of cooperation, I emailed the principal of each study site a copy of the Approved Letter of Cooperation from MSDSUS granting me permission to conduct the study. I also provided the principals with an email that contained the Invitation to Participate in Study with Consent Parameters to forward to potential participants. This email included a note to the principal and the actual teacher invitation, an attachment with the formal invitation to participate that detailed the study parameters, details of consent, and a link to a prescreening survey to qualified participants. The principal forwarded the contents of the email, as directed, to potential study participants (i.e., third-, fourth-, and fifth-grade teachers) in the school. Upon receipt, interested teachers responded to the prescreening survey, which included instructions that informed them that submitting the survey was providing their consent to participate if selected.

After receiving and examining the prescreening surveys, I emailed each qualified participant a request to schedule an interview and submit documents to me, which included instructions for scheduling an observation and interview time as well as for submitting lesson plans at least 1 week prior to the observation. For example, I personally hand collected participants' lesson plans or they emailed me digital copies—whichever was most convenient for the participant. Although the invitation to participate included instructions to print a copy of the invitation/consent form if desired, I brought a paper copy of the consent form to each qualified participant when picking up their lesson plans in case they wanted a copy provided for their records.

As requested in the email to participants to schedule an interview and submit documents, I received each participant's lesson plans at least 1 week or earlier than their scheduled observation. I analyzed each of the participant's lesson plans within the same week I received them. This gave me a preview of the expected lesson to be taught.

Next, I conducted the observation of each participant's instructional reading block. I used the observational protocol document (see Appendix B) to record my observations of teacher and student activity during the reading block. Descriptive words were used to record the work area of the teacher and students, the type of technology I observed being used, and the actions of the teacher during the reading block.

Finally, after the commencement of their observation, I conducted a 45–60minute semistructured interview (see Appendix C) with each participant during the agreed upon time. In the interviews, I asked questions to gain an understanding of the teacher's background with reading and instructional technology use as well as their perspectives of instructional technology use with their ELLs during reading instruction.

Researcher–Participant Working Relationship

To gather the comprehensive data found through qualitative research, it is essential to establish a functional relationship with the participants to ensure that the risk or threat of vulnerability is reduced (Watkinson & Gallo-Fox, 2015). During each of the face-to-face interviews, I explained to the participants that all data gathered would be kept confidential and secured and would not be used in any aspect of a professional evaluation.

Protecting Participant Rights

In the informed consent form, IRB number 11-13-19-0071506₂ I outlined the nature and benefits of the study as well as provided information regarding how participants' identities would remain confidential. Specifically, confidentiality, participant rights, and protection from harm were ensured through the following steps: (a) I explained to participants in detail how data would be electronically collected on a digital recording device and my personal, password-protected computer, then stored in my password-protected computer in my home office; (b) data would not be identifiable to any one participant; (c) using a color-coded system, pseudonyms would be used instead of the participants' actual names; (d) participants were informed that the project was entirely voluntary and that they could opt out at any time with any data they provided being destroyed; and (e) participants also had the option to stop at any time and discontinue if they felt uncomfortable or if their well-being was compromised. If a participant chose to drop out of the study, I solicited participation from another teacher meeting the required criteria for the study. I will store all data on my password-protected

computer for 5 years after the conclusion of the study and that data will be destroyed after that period expired by deleting all data from the computer and destroying all paper documents by putting them through a document shredder.

Data Collection

In this qualitative multisite case study, I collected data through lesson plans, observations, and semistructured interviews to explore teachers' perspectives and experiences of their technology use during reading instruction for ELLs. Creswell (2014) asserted that by using various data collection approaches, the study results would hold more credibility. I collected data in February and March 2020. At the time of data collection, the teachers at the study sites had been actively using instructional technology during their reading blocks with their ELLs students for at least 6 months of the school year.

Procedures to Assure Accuracy, Credibility, and Evidence of Quality

I followed a data collection plan to ensure the accuracy and credibility of the information gathered. First, all participants emailed their lesson plans to my secure email address before the observations and interviews took place. I conducted observations in as nonintrusive a manner as possible. Interviews took place during noninstructional hours in a private, locked room that was previously agreed upon as a meeting place by the participant. I audio recorded the interviews on two devices, thereby offering a layer of protection to the research by ensuring I had an unbiased and credible account of the interview from the participant's perspective. I emailed each participant their corresponding transcript for member checking to confirm credibility and trustworthiness

(see Creswell, 2012). This practice demonstrated that the findings of this study are honest and appropriate.

Effective data collection, as noted by Creswell (2014), emphasizes the importance of selecting a good place to study and establishing good rapport with the participants so they will provide good data. I anticipated that collecting quality data through interviewing would be possible in the study. After receiving approval from the study site and all participants, I began the face-to-face data collection process. The series of face-toface interviews began with the participants and were focused on their use of instructional technology for ELLs during the reading block. The interviews took place at the participant's respective school and lasted approximately 45 minutes. I told participants the interview would take no longer than 1 hour, and all interviews were completed in 35-45 minutes. The interviews included open-ended questions about the use of instructional technology and provided time for participants to reflect on their responses. Yin (2014) noted the jobs of the researcher during the interview were: "(a) to follow your own line of inquiry, as reflected by your case study protocol, and (b) to ask your actual (conversational) questions in an unbiased manner that also serves the needs of your line of inquiry" (p. 110). The open-ended interview questions also allowed for teachers to discuss any additional thoughts that came to mind as the interview progressed.

Interview Process

The participant interview responses provided specific insights about their use of instructional technology for teaching ELLs during their reading block. Throughout the study, I respected the opinions and concerns of the participants through active listening.

During the interviews, I made every effort to create a safe and comfortable environment for the participants; this was accomplished by using a predetermined location for the interview as requested by the participant. All interviews took place in a locked room with no other individuals present to increase confidentiality. Remaining professional, friendly, and respective of each participant's time was of highest importance to me throughout the process. I asked the interview questions in a conversational manner and gave the participants ample time to consider the question before responding. Use of this strategy allowed for participants to answer and reflect on the questions to provide data-rich responses.

At the beginning of the interview, I asked warm-up questions and provided other related information to help make the participants feel relaxed and calm. Warm-up questions and conversation starters are also listed with the interview questions in Appendix C. All interviews were recorded on my voice recorder and my cell phone as a backup device, so I could focus on the conversation during the interview and not take detailed, handwritten notes. I followed Yin's (2014) interview protocol and asked conversational questions in an unbiased manner. I ensured I had a printed copy of the questions to reference throughout the interview. At the end of each interview, participants were asked if they would like to make any additional comments or statements. Each interview concluded with me reassuring the participants of their confidentiality and thanking them for taking time to participate in my study (Creswell, 2012).

Lesson Plans

Yin (2014) asserted that rich data offers an in-depth examination of the central phenomenon and adds validity to the overall study. Teacher participants sent 1 week reading lesson plans covering 1 week's reading block and assignments to me via email. The lesson plans revealed how each teacher participant plans their reading block, which instructional technology software was being used, and which instructional technology activities students were engaging. This information was pivotal during the analysis phase when comparing the data collected from the other two sources. Each teacher emailed their selected sample of lesson plans to me. The lesson plans were reviewed, and these data sources were used for triangulation.

The teacher participants shared 5 days of lesson plans for the upcoming week. The teachers were instructed to send their lesson plans without making any modifications to them based on my upcoming observation. There were few consistencies in lesson plan templates, and the format varied for some of the teacher participants. Some of the teachers used the lesson plan template provided by the study district which included a section for instructional technology use. Other teachers used lesson plan templates created by themselves with simple rows that labeled student groups and columns that labeled student assignments for reading centers and student group rotations. The lesson plans I received varied in the depth of details for each teachers English language arts reading block. Some lesson plans outlined the daily literacy routine, the technology used for the day, the student groups, and any other literacy activities. Some of the lesson plans were detailed and contained specific information about reading activities and how the teacher would use different mentor texts or passages to differentiate and scaffold instruction.

The teachers who used the lesson plans provided by the study district provided a three-part plan. The mini lesson section of the plan included a review of the standard to be taught for the day and the text or passage used. The next section of the lesson plan had the specific text or passage to be used with each group and the skill the teacher would teach the students in each group. Independent student practice assignments were included in this section which included the technology to be used for the day. The type of instructional software used from group to group varied from teacher to teacher but provided an activity each group should complete for the day. The last section of this lesson plan included a closing for the class. The lesson plans with less detail did not yield as much data to support the interview transcripts. Of the lesson plans I collected, six were detailed enough for me to analyze.

Observations

Through observing my participants, I gathered firsthand data of the participants authentic teaching in the research site. I completed one observation for each of the study participants. Each event was approximately 90 minutes and occurred in each participants' classroom. I used my planned observational protocol to record the observational data and my thoughts regarding the observations. Furthermore, I reviewed the observational field notes within 24 hours to ensure the accuracy of the content.

Summary

Interviews, lesson plans, and observations were appropriate instruments in gathering data to answer RQs 1-3. The interviews provided study participants the opportunity to expand upon their perspectives on the instructional technology practices taking place in their classroom. The data collected from this study provided me with an in-depth understanding of the use of instructional technology used during reading instruction for ELLs in the selected classrooms within the study district.

Role of the Researcher

My role was an instructional support specialist within the study district. In previous years, I served as a kindergarten paraprofessional and a third-grade classroom teacher in a different school within the same district. I did not have a professional working relationship with any of the potential participants in the schools. I never supervised colleagues nor had the authority to evaluate teachers in any of the potential study schools. My professional role and relationships did not affect how the potential study participants instructed their students, so data collection was not affected. Participants were assured that their identity was fully concealed and protected by pseudonyms for each school and participant. I also reminded them that only aggregated data of the study findings would be shared and reported.

I have taught all third-grade content areas; however, I have exclusively taught mathematics and science for the past 9 years. Given my use of technology in the classroom for mathematics and science, my biases included my perspectives on best practices of technology use for ELLs. I also received the same SIOP training as many of the participants in the study. My biases included my knowledge of best practices from the SIOP training (Creswell, 2012). I addressed my biases by using the SAMR model framework for observations and member checks for the accuracy of their data in the findings.

Data Analysis

I gathered qualitative data for this multisite case study from teacher lesson plans, observations, and semistructured interviews. I began data analysis after all data were collected. Yin (2014) affirmed the importance of case study databases as a method of organization and documentation of the data collected. In addition to organizing the collected data, I took notes throughout the data collection and analysis processed in a researcher's journal. This journal was organized by each study participants' pseudonym which allowed me to add notes quickly and efficiently throughout the process. Taking notes throughout the data collection and analysis process created a roadmap for organizing and understanding my thoughts as I analyzed the data. The data analysis included a thematic analysis, using a priori, open, and axial coding procedures to develop themes. In this section, I provide the systematic process and summary of the coding, categorizing, and development of themes from the findings. I used the analysis to better understand elementary teachers' use of instructional technology for ELLs during the reading instruction block.

Preparing the Data for Analysis

To prepare the data for analysis, I transcribed audio recordings from the individual interviews. I labeled individual transcriptions with the pseudonym assigned to

each participant and saved them in a Word document. These steps were helpful for me to easily retrieve the data when necessary. The next step was to ensure accuracy of each transcript, which I compared to the original recordings. Additionally, I removed filler words, such *as*, *uh*, *um* and repetitions, such as repeated consecutive words or phrases. I recorded observation and lesson plan data on the observation and lesson plan protocols. These were scanned and saved to Word documents for the respective participants.

Once these data sets were saved and stored, I read all the documents for each participant to establish an overall sense of the data and potential themes for each person. I then reorganized the data sets by type—interview, observation, or lesson plan data—to establish an overview of the data and potential themes embedded in each data type. During each of these steps, I made margin notes on transcripts and protocols to remind me of concepts to consider during analysis. These notes were beneficial as I returned to the raw data multiple times in the final analysis.

A Priori Coding

I began the coding process using a priori coding based on this study's framework and the following terms: substitution, augmentation, modification, redefinition, enhancement, and transformative. I searched all interview data for evidence of these elements, and I highlighted word/phrases/sentences that contained descriptions specific to each term. This same process was repeated for the observation and lesson plan data were evident. In a separate Word document, I created a table like Table 2 when reviewing the coded data, data sources, participant, and data excerpts. Table 2 contains examples of each code, participant, and excerpts from the three data sources. Where no a priori code had corresponding data, I omitted codes from the table. For example, there was no evidence of redefinition in any of the data sets. Any omitted codes are important to the findings and will be part of the project.

Table 2

Enhancement						
A priori code	Source	Participant	Excerpt			
Substitution	Ι	Mr. Brown	I feel ReadWorks allows students to work on more individualized assignments.			
Substitution	Ο	Ms. Blue	The teacher projected images on the Promethean board to connect the reading vocabulary to the class lesson			
Substitution	LP	Ms. Teal	The teacher listed ReadWorks, LightSailed, and Chromebooks as technology in the weekly reading lesson plans			
Augmentation	Ι	Ms. Teal	I feel that some of these reading technology programs like IReady are so individualized and so specific for each student.			
Augmentation	0	Mr. Gray	The teacher assigned a ReadWorks passage to students with the audible feature turned on. I observed students using headphones to listen to the passages being read to them through the software program.			
Augmentation	LP	Ms. Violet	The teacher listed promethean board, Epic, Pebble Go, and Starfall as technology in the weekly reading lesson plans			
		-	Transformative			
A priori code	Source	Participant	Excerpt			
Modification	I	Ms. Magneta	I feel the benefits of students using the software Imagine Learning it "kind of put things together when they're reading" and that "they'll see something in the reading passage, and it's explained to them, or when they are reading they're given words to incorporate into language."			
Modification	0	Mr. Brown	The teacher participant projected an example on the board and modeled during her reading mini-lesson how the students should access and use some of the audible features of Imagine Learning Reading such as text speech and showing students how to access word meanings in the passage once they were in independent reading centers.			

No evidence

The teacher listed Imagine Learning and Google docs as

technology in the weekly reading lesson plans

A Priori Codes (SAMR Model) by Data Source With Examples

Note. I = interview, O = observation, LP = lesson plan.

Ms. Blue

Modification

Redefinition

LP

I, O, LP

Open Coding

The a priori coding process resulted in numerous codes, which I reduced by applying open coding to the a priori codes. I also returned to the raw data from each data source to ensure I had not missed any repetitions. I searched these data for similarities and labeled groups of words with a term that gave meaning to word group. For example, I labeled one group as student engagement because teachers sometimes selected technology for students based on how it captured the students' engagement during the lesson. I labeled another group as Assessing Comprehension and Communication in English State-to-State for ELLs (ACCESS) tiers because teachers mostly assigned technology based on student's language levels. Another group was labeled as years of teaching because some teachers—digital natives—tended use technology more frequently than other teachers--digital immigrants (Kesharwani, 2020). Open coding resulted in a total of 35 codes. Table 3 contains examples of open codes and participant excerpts from the three data sources.

Table 3

Open codes	Source	Participant	Excerpt
Student engagement	Ι	Mr. Gold	If they are not really engaged in the software for reading, they just click to be done.
Audible	0	Mr. Brown	I observed students using headphones to hear the reading passages or reading lessons being read to them during the reading block.
Achievement	LP	Mr. Gray	ReadWorks and Imagine Learning Reading were listed in the lesson plans which had audible features for students to access when using the technology to assist in their reading achievement.

Open Codes by Source With Examples

Note. I = interview, O = observation, LP = lesson plan

Axial Coding

During the last coding stage—axial coding, I searched the open codes and corresponding excerpts from interviews, observations, and lesson plans to identify the relationships among the open codes. I grouped similar open codes and assigned a code to each category. For example, I grouped the codes student engagement, student behavior, audible, personalized, instant feedback, adaptability, and achievement (success) to form the category technology features for students for enhancement (i.e., substitution or augmentation) or for transformation (i.e., modification or redefinition). I also grouped years of teaching, veteran teacher, novice teacher, teacher knowledge of technology, teacher expectations, frequency, and technology savvy to form the category using technology was created when I grouped the codes technology-driven lessons, teacher beliefs, and

teacher understanding of technology. Table 4 contains 3 examples of the axial codes from the 9 categories.

Table 4

Axial Codes

Open codes	Source	Participant	Excerpt
Lack of support at- home	Ι	Mr. Gray	It's hard for parents to help the students with reading when they cannot speak English themselves.
Technology features for students	0	Ms. Magenta	I observed students using the audible and word meaning features on the reading software.
Using technology	LP	Ms. Teal	ReadWorks, Light Sailed, and Chromebook were listed as reading technology in the lesson plans.

Note. I = interview, O = observation, LP = lesson plan

To create themes, I resumed searching among the categories and raw data for additional patterns These patterns were the key concepts I used to explain the analyzed data. Three themes emerged from my search for patterns across categories:

Theme 1: Elementary teachers believed that using technology to differentiate instruction helped them teach reading to ELL students.

Theme 2: Elementary teachers understood that knowledge of software programs, types of technology, and their use for instruction and learning depend on current and ongoing training.

Theme 3: Elementary teachers identified ELL student proficiency in English and parental support at home as barriers to technology integration.

Discrepant Cases

No discrepant cases emerged from the data. Had these emerged, I would have examined the data sources for evidence of conflicting data and conducted further analysis. Since none emerged, further analysis was not required.

Trustworthiness

In qualitative research, trustworthiness counters quantitative validity (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Although I proposed triangulation and member checks, only member checking was feasible based on the data. For this study, I also employed rich, thick description of the problem, participants, and the research site. This type of description (transferability) is achieved when the researcher describes the sample, situation, and site in detail so readers can determine whether the findings apply to their settings (Creswell, 2012; Yin, 2014).

Transcript review is the first step of the two-step process of member checking (Creswell, 2012). I sent participants a copy of their interview transcripts to confirm accuracy of their statements. As recommended by Creswell (2012), each participant was given the opportunity to check the accuracy and ask additional questions relating to the transcription of their interview to establish credibility and validity.

Additionally, during the second step, I provided participants with a summary of the aggregated findings of the study. The purpose of this check was to determine if participants agreed with the accuracy of the aggregated findings. I was available to meet with any participant virtually, by phone, or by email within 48 hours. Affording opportunity to communicate with me was a best practice to confirm the findings of the study.

I provided 2 days for participants to respond by email with any questions, changes, or concerns. According to Merriam (2009), providing participants with adequate time to respond to the email is important to avoid any possibly of misinterpretation of participants' perspectives. The teacher perspectives needed to be a true reflection of each participant without any misrepresentation. All but one interviewee responded to my email and follow-up phone call. As I completed data collection and analysis during the COVID-19 pandemic, many educators were abnormally stressed with the demands of teaching virtually. To respect their time, I did not send additional reminders for follow-up. None of the responding participants requested any changes be made to their transcripts or to the aggregated findings.

Data Analysis Results

The purpose of this project study was to explore teachers' perceptions of and experiences using instructional technology during reading instruction of Grades 3-5 ELLs.

In the following discussion, I narrate how the theme statements for the findings address each of the RQs in this study. Additionally, I provide evidence by data source to support my conclusions. Table 5 shows the alignment of the RQs to the themes from the data analysis.

Table 5

	Theme				
RQ		1	2	3	
Item	Teacher data on using technology to teach reading	Differentiation	Training	Barriers	Source
1	Perceptions about teaching reading	Х	Х	Х	Ι
2	Experiences for differentiating learning	Х	Х	Х	I, O, LP
3	Experiences that exemplify the SAMR model	Х	Х		I, O, LP

Alignment of RQ Content to Theme and Data Source

Note. I = interview, O = observation, LP = lesson plan

RQ1

Based upon the data analysis, RQ1 was addressed and aligned with Themes 1, 2, and 3. The interview data informed this RQ as only participant discourse could provide perceptions—teacher beliefs and attitudes about their use of technology to teach reading to ELL students.

Theme 1: Differentiation

Based upon the data analysis, elementary teachers believed that using technology to differentiate instruction helped them teach reading to ELL students. Of the nine participants, nine made remarks in the interviews about differentiating with technology. All teacher responses indicated that they felt instructional technology could be used to differentiate instruction for students. Four categories—technology features for teachers, technology features for students, options to create and level student reading groups lessons/assignments, and data analysis to inform instructional decisions—were used to support Theme 1.

Technology Features for Students and Teachers. Teachers felt the various features embedded in the technology differentiated the ways students gained accessed to their reading assignments. All participants expressed that some form of reading technology was needed to teach reading and differentiate that instruction; but for ELLs who often struggled with language barriers or proficiency levels, teachers indicated that technology with an audible feature was most effective for differentiating. They felt the audible features helped differentiate the students' access to understanding the directions and content of the reading assignment when used during instruction. Ms. Green mentioned that technology features differentiated how students accessed what they needed during instruction. The audible feature gave students access to hearing the reading assignment being read to them. This feature helped them to understand what they should be doing with the software so that they would not "just click and go forward and wouldn't even read the explanation" needed to be successful.

Adaptability Features. Teachers also believed that the technology's adaptability features, such as providing increasingly complex reading material and reteaching student lessons, were an important way to differentiate student reading assignments. The teachers expressed how much they valued teaching reading using instructional technology for their ELLs; however, only six teachers referenced using Imagine Learning software to

teach reading in their classrooms. According to the SAMR model, Imagine Learning software had the aspects of modification due to the adaptative features of the program. For example, Mr. Brown described Imagine Learning as an adaptative audible software program used "specifically for ELLs" to support their reading and language acquisition. Similarly, Ms. Magenta expressed that when teaching ELL students in the reading classroom, she liked the audible and adaptative benefits of the Imagine Learning software to "kind of put things together when they're reading" in independent groups and that "they'll see something, and it's explained to them, or they're given words to incorporate into language" to better understand what they are reading.

Further, teachers expressed the importance of reading instructional technology to differentiate and provide students with individualized support during reading. Mr. Gold felt IReady was an adaptative reading program that differentiated his student's reading data, did not require much time to use, and monitored student reading progress for him to use for classroom instruction. He felt that he could use the program to differentiate how he accessed and used student data for student lessons. He believed:

I can go on there to see what they've worked on; I can look at their lesson score, I can reassign that if I think that they did not do their best, I can actually look at the different videos that they got in the reading assignment that they received and reassign that to them. I can assign them reading lessons based on what they are learning in class and see how they are doing with that.

Many teachers felt they could quickly assign differentiated student assignments due to the instant reading feedback provided through the technology. Ms. Teal expressed
that she felt technology use during reading for the students was a great asset for them. She shared that "some of these reading technology programs are so individualized and so specific for each student." The adaptative features were an essential component of the technology chosen and used for instruction. These components allowed for more differentiation of student's assignments during the reading block. Specifically, many teachers liked ReadWorks because they felt they could use the software to differentiate students' work during their teacher center; and students could work on differentiated ReadWorks assignments during independent centers. They felt the adaptative features of the program would provide students in real-time with assignments to assist them in their reading growth. Mr. Brown shared that he enjoyed ReadWorks because he could differentiate and individualize student's reading assignments based on his students' individual growth.

Using Visuals. All participants spoke of the importance of having access to and using technology to access visuals during reading lessons to differentiate reading instruction. They expressed that the reading software programs needed to be engaging for students. Mr. Maroon communicated the beneficial use of technology for vocabulary during reading and that "it also provides games for the students with the vocabulary cards" to reinforce the reading lesson or skill.

Creating/Leveling Reading Lessons. Finally, teachers believed technology should be selected and used to create and differentiate student reading lessons and assignments. Some teachers believed technology options could be used to create and level student reading groups, lessons, or reading assignments based on student's

performance. They felt the selection should be based on a student's language proficiency in their second language and their ACCESS tier. Teachers felt that they should differentiate the type of technology used during reading based on a student's language proficiency and ACCESS tier to further reading achievement. Some teachers felt that to differentiate reading levels and instructional supports provided for newcomers, students with less than a year of residence in the United States, they should spend more time on programs like Imagine Learning than they spend on Google docs. They believed Google Docs was not good to use for their ELLs in Tier A and B because it required student reading skills to access, share, and edit the Google Doc.

Summary. The findings from the interviews confirmed that teachers used instructional technology to differentiate instruction during reading for their ELLs. Teachers stated that student reading levels were the building blocks for the types of instructional technology used to differentiate ELLs reading instruction. Some teachers shared that they used specific software, Imagine Learning and ReadWorks, for their ELLs, whereas others used various software programs to differentiate reading and meet the instructional needs of their ELLs. Teachers shared that reading instructional technology that did not provide differentiation features such as audible options or listening features were not usually selected for most ELLs to use.

Theme 2: Training

Through the data analysis, elementary teachers understood that teaching reading to ELLs with technology was dependent upon current and ongoing training on using software and different types of technology designed to teach reading. All teacher participants reported using various types of reading instructional technology with their students during the past 5 years. The teachers spoke of how they felt using EPIC, Freckle, Starfall, Google, Learning A-Z, PebbleGo, PowerPoint, Promethean board, Sway, Imagine Learning, Step Reading, Easy CBM, IReady, IStation, ReadWorks, Light Sailed, BrainPop, Learning Farm, Chromebook, Teach A Monster to Read, YouTube videos, Turtle Diary, Class Dojo, Illustrator, AR, KidPix, and Britannica Kids for reading instruction.

Using Technology. All participants indicated a desire for reading technology training specific to instructing ELL students. Three categories emerged that informed Theme 2. The first category, years spent teaching with technology—indicated two groups of technology-users: the digital native who has always taught with technology compared to the digital immigrant, a teacher adapting to technology at some point in the teaching career. The second category was about how a digital native or immigrant used technology during instruction or classroom procedures, and the third category—technology training, a category developed from teacher data indicating the type and format of instructional training they needed to support ELL readers.

Years of Experience Using Tech. Of the nine participants, three were digital natives, and six were digital immigrants. Throughout the interview data, it was clear that there were different needs and expectations for training based on years of experience and comfort using technology. The digital natives had been taught using instructional technology and were more inclined to use various types of technology during for reading instruction. They were accustomed to using technology both inside and outside of the school setting which helped them to quickly understand and use various types of technology. They were also willing to self-train themselves on instructional technology to understand how to better use it during the reading block. Digital immigrants tended to use instructional software during the reading block to have students simply complete an assignment. These teachers used the basics of software programs because they did not have time or the desire to learn the components of the technology outside of work hours. The data indicated that is important to assess the teacher experience using technology when supporting ELL readers with instructional technology.

Teacher Use. Each participant stated they were provided Chromebooks by the study district to use with their students during instruction. Every participant revealed they felt comfortable using some of the instructional technology programs with students such as Google and PowerPoint to teach reading lessons. Ms. Violet shared, "We actually just got Chromebooks this year to as a part of delivering reading instruction." She stated she not only used the devices with her students for reading but also for other instructional purposes like Response to Intervention.

Teachers listed various reading software programs in their lesson plans to be used during a given reading block. Ms. Maroon's use of reading instructional technology such as Imagine Learning and ReadWorks was listed in her reading lesson plans. The lesson plans included multiple opportunities for students to work with various reading programs throughout the week. All participants' lesson plans showed that reading instructional technology should be used with the students each day. Ms. Teal was a relatively new teacher. She shared that her beliefs of technology use and frequency of use stemmed from the expectations she received during college. She explained that:

I mean I graduated in 2017, so in college, it was heavily pushed that this was the world we were moving into so kids had to be able to do that. It was never presented to me that I would be working in a classroom with no technology. It was always presented to me that there would be some sort of technology in the classroom for students to use and if there wasn't, then you needed to get it. Whether that was trying to fund raise to get iPads for the classroom or tablets or have a couple of computers, but ever since undergrad school I was told that's what the expectation was and then coming here and starting, the principal always said it's expected that you use technology in the reading classroom. So, I've never known anything different.

Teacher Technology Training. All teacher participants shared their need for additional training with reading instructional technology. Most participants expressed a desire to have more professional development that often extended beyond what was offered by the school or study district.

Mr. Maroon, a digital native, expressed that he was motivated to self-training outside of work hours to stay updated on with reading instructional technology. He stated that, "I am constantly learning outside of school hours about new technology that I can use in my reading classroom to help my students." He preferred training to be provided during work hours. Similarly, Mr. Gold indicated that because he had more time to research and practice better ways to use technology outside of his work hours, he was more comfortable using it. His self-training of the reading technology helped him to feel more comfortable with his students creating PowerPoints.

In contrast, when asked about technology proficiency, Ms. Violet referenced the need for training because she did not use technology much outside of school. She felt when she needed help with a reading software or program that she "would often need someone to help me" with instructional technology. Mr. Gold said that he would benefit from more training on new reading software purchased by the school's leadership team and the district. He indicated that the training would save time on trying to figure the program out on his own. Similarly, Ms. Blue shared her feelings with the expectations of using reading instructional technology were different when she started teaching. She commented: "I feel like there are so many technologies to use and they change from year to year so fast that I'm always playing catch up." All teachers expressed the importance of instructional technology use during the reading block but felt that training was required and necessary for successful use during reading instruction.

The findings confirmed that teachers desired time for training with software programs without spending additional time self-training outside of school hours. Some teachers voiced that while in their teacher program, the expectation was to use instructional technology daily with students and were trained to use it in college, and others mentioned they had to figure out programs on their own. A few teacher participants shared that they did not use instructional technology much outside the classroom. All teachers reported they felt comfortable using specific aspects of instructional technology but expressed concern with the number of programs available to them and would like more consistent training on technology software. The participants acknowledged instructional technology was essential for ELLs but that it took time to figure out which ones were best for students at different language levels.

Theme 3: Barriers

Based upon the data analysis, elementary teachers identified ELL student proficiency in English and parental support at home as barriers to technology integration. Of the nine participants, all made remarks in the interviews about English proficiency and parental support as barriers with technology integration. All teacher responses indicated that they felt instructional technology could be used to support reading instruction for students. Two categories, student proficiency and lack of support at home, were used to support Theme 3.

Parents. Elementary teachers identified ELL student proficiency in English and parental support at home as barriers to technology integration. Teachers believed that students' proficiency in English was a barrier to technology integration because students at different language levels struggled with understanding and using the reading instructional technology independently when guidance was not available. Teachers also believed parental support at home was a barrier to students having access to and using the reading instructional technology. One teacher commented that she saw a big difference and her students were able to catch on more quickly with reading if "the children have had school or reading in their native language." Similarly, Ms. Blue conveyed her concern with students using instructional technology outside of the classroom. She stated, "Not all of our kids have access to it at home and so we're presuming that kids have this technology at home, and they don't always." Some teachers felt that parents did not understand how to help with using the instructional technology because they were not native English speakers and did not speak English in the home. The lack of student instructional technology outside of school and parents' native language presented a barrier to teachers assigning instructional technology for home reading practice.

Language Proficiency. Each study participant shared that their ELLs accessed technology according to their proficiency with the English language. These language proficiencies were often barriers to students using instructional technology for reading instruction. One participant felt that students new to the country with no English language would not be benefit from reading software like ReadWorks that required reading and responding by typing. Another participant felt that her students in higher ACCESS language levels would be able to use reading instructional technology like Google docs because they could understand and navigate the software when given audible options to have the lesson read to them. When asked about using instructional technology for reading assignments with the students, Mr. Gold believed that one lesson did not go well with students because of different student language proficiencies. He felt that reading lesson did not allow all students to succeed, considering "my higher students took the lead instead, and I wanted all the students to use it." Not all students were able to access, understand, and participate in the lesson because their lack of English created a barrier.

68

Technology Features for Language Barriers. Every teacher participant felt concerned about using instructional technology without audible features during the reading block with their ELLs. They felt that barriers were present for students if the software or programs did not include an audible option for the students to use during the independent work center. Mr. Maroon felt that he could support his student's language proficiency by demonstrating how the audible option could be used for reading during his mini-lesson instruction before expecting his students to use it independently. He stressed the need for reading software to include an audible option for the students on reading vocabulary because "they have access to click any word and it allows them direct access to the meaning." One teacher participant had ELL students working independently on instructional technology but had to stop her teacher reading center instruction to help the students navigate the software. She later shared that she felt the reading technology was a barrier because many of the students in that group were new to the country and some "did not even know letters" so it was very difficult for them to use it without her. Mr. Brown emphasized the significance of students having the option to have the reading passages read to them to support their language proficiency. He shared that not only could students hear the passages read to them but also, they could "listen to footnotes and captions." Ms. Green supported the audible option to support reading instruction and address student language barriers. She shared that if the option was unavailable, there was no way to know if "they fully understand or if they pronounced the word correctly" while reading independently.

Every participant preferred instructional technology that would allow the students to use an audible feature to hear reading of the lessons. Participants mentioned that to address students' language proficiencies, the audible option was essential because many ELLs were still developing their vocabulary, which directly influenced their reading fluency. The audible feature helped to partially remove the barrier created by the students' language proficiencies.

Summary

The findings from the interviews validated that instructional technology that included audible options was an essential feature for ELLs language barriers. Student barriers were more obvious if they did not have the type of support needed for individualized independent reading instruction or if the audible options were unavailable to them. All teacher participants recognized the need for instructional technology to include an audible option, especially for students still learning English. All teacher participants also used some form of instructional technology with an audible option for some of their ELLs during each reading block. Additionally, each participant referenced the different language levels of their ELLs when choosing which technology to use. Further, the findings from the interview data also validated that parents and students home language was a barrier to students using instructional technology for reading outside of school.

RQ2

Based upon the data analysis, RQ2 was addressed and aligned with Themes 1, 2, and 3. The interview data, observations, and lesson plan analysis informed this RQ to provide experiences—teacher experiences about their use of technology to differentiate reading for ELL students.

Theme 1: Differentiation

Based upon the data analysis, elementary teachers' experiences using technology to differentiate instruction helped them teach reading to ELL students. All participants remarked that they included multiple types of technology in their lesson plans or used technology to differentiate reading for ELLs reading. Teacher responses indicated that they had used instructional technology to differentiate instruction for students by giving students access to audible features, images for vocabulary words, and reteach lessons. These statements were supported by lesson plan data as the documents included instructional reading technology such as Imagine Learning, IStation, IReady, ReadWorks, Epic, and Google docs. Theme 1 was informed by four categories technology features for teachers, technology features for students, options to create and level student reading groups lessons/assignments, and data analysis to inform instructional decisions.

Teacher and Student Use. All teacher participants demonstrated use of instructional technology during their reading blocks with their ELLs to differentiate their instruction and expressed their expectation of student technology use each day. There were 27 types of technology used between all nine teachers. Teachers reflected on using various software programs during a given reading block to help differentiate reading lessons.

One teacher participant used multiple types of software during small group reading instruction. A small group of students worked with the teacher using ReadWorks on their Chromebooks, while other student groups worked on either IStation, Google assignments, or LightSailed. Most teachers used the programs provided by the school, Imagine Learning, IStation, IReady, and LightSailed, while a few used software reading programs the school did not purchase. All participants shared that instructional technology was used with the students each day. Mr. Gold reported that students used the iReady program purchased by the school each morning and he used the Promethean board with the students during the reading instructional block.

One teacher participant's reading classroom consisted of the teacher working with a group of six students. The teacher had the students log-in to ReadWorks to access the differentiated reading passages assigned to them. The teacher accessed the group's passage from her computer and followed along with the students as they worked. Some students in the group read the passage without the audible support while others listened as the words were highlighted as the passage was read to them. Ms. Magenta felt that the audio component of the reading software helped differentiated the students' assignments to help them better understand the lesson. Similarly, Mr. Gray modeled a whole group reading lesson on his Promethean board with the students. He highlighted several features in the software, then had a student come to the board to practice to practice turning the audible feature off and on. Mr. Gray liked using Imagine Learning because it gave students access to the audible options and provided him with student progress data. Leveling Student Lessons. All teacher participants reported using instructional technology with their students during the week for teacher led reading instruction and for student independent reading practice. Instructional technology such as PowerPoint, Promethean Board, and Sway were used to display teacher's lessons or to project an activity on the board. Teachers modeled how students could use Google, Britannica Kids and YouTube videos to conduct research during a reading activity. They showed videos pertaining to the reading lesson and modeled how students could access images through Google images. Teachers used Turtle Diary, Illustrator, and KidPik to engage students in differentiated written responses based on the reading lesson. Each participant stated they were provided Chromebooks by the study district to use with their students during reading instruction. The Chromebook was used by students during reading to gain access to the different types of instructional technology assigned by the teacher. Every participant revealed they felt comfortable using at least one instructional technology program, such as ReadWorks, Epic, or PebbleGo.

One teacher used her Promethean board to display the group assignments for the day, while another teacher modeled her teacher center lesson on it. Mr. Gold, who used instructional technology for a reading mini-lesson showed videos on the Promethean board and modeled how students could use different aspects of the software during independent small groups. He shared that his students worked on IReady assignments at the start of class and he expected students to be able to "type and show their responses and send them to me." Mr. Brown shared that he modeled the previous day how students should use a new feature in ReadWorks. The finished assignment was to be shared

electrically with him once the students completed the work. Ms. Green shared that "technology is also a teacher to them." Ms. Green indicated that the software could model proper pronunciation and provide independent instruction even when she was with another group. Ms. Blue, however, expressed her concerns when students were working independently. She shared she did not like using technology for more than having students conduct research or she liked to "use it as a visual aid, but I wanna see more of what they're actually doing."

Using Data to Differentiate Instruction. Although all participants indicated experiences using data to differentiate instruction to support ELL readers, the methods of data collection and application differed. The reading instruction block varied from teacher-to-teacher classroom. Some teachers used instructional technology for independent small group assignments, while others used it for data collection. Ms. Violet shared, "We actually just got Chromebooks this year." She stated she not only used the devices for her students' assignments but also for collecting Response to Intervention data that informed her of student needs and progress on specific reading content and objectives.

In my observation, Ms. Green modeled using ReadWorks with a small group. In a similar way to Ms. Violet's students, Ms. Green's students used their Chromebooks to log-into their accounts and pull up the reading passage assigned to them. Later, Ms. Green shared the value of ReadWorks in that "it's reading passages online and that's beneficial because it's going to help them with our end of year assessments ... which is the state mandated test." She used the data from the program to monitor her students'

proficiency in the reading content. Mr. Maroon's use of instructional technology use reflected his value of choosing instructional technology that would "monitor comprehension, fluency, and vocabulary without overwhelming the students." He adjusted student work and quickly reassigned reading work based on student performance data.

Additionally, Mr. Maroon shared during his interview that he used instructional technology to collaborate with his coteacher, gifted teacher, and ESOL teacher to create reading lessons for student groups and review student data. He shared the importance of this collaboration to "ensure the technology I will be using during reading will provide the additional support to my students need." The team of teachers collaborated by using student reading data to create assignments that would be used during independent, small, and whole instruction. He felt collaboration was important because it gave the teachers an opportunity to discuss student data and decide what type and how students would use instructional technology for reading instruction.

Summary. The findings from the interviews, observations, and lesson plans confirmed that teachers used instructional technology to differentiate instruction during reading for their ELLs. Some teachers used specific software, IStation and IReady, for their ELLs, whereas others used various software programs to differentiate reading and meet the instructional needs of their ELLs. Teachers used reading instructional technology that provided differentiation features such as audible options or listening features to support their ELLs reading instruction.

Theme 2: Training

Through the data analysis, I found that elementary teachers understood that their teaching reading to ELLs with technology was dependent upon current and ongoing training on using software and different types of technology designed to teach reading. All teacher participants shared their need for additional professional development with instructional technology. Most participants expressed a desire to have more professional development that often extended beyond what was offered by the school or study district.

Although some teachers communicated more confidence with using instructional technology than others because they self-trained outside of school hours, these same teachers indicated a need for more professional development that was provided and during work hours. Mr. Maroon shared the need to stay up to date with instructional technology to use with the students during the reading block. He stated that, "I am constantly having to learn outside of school hours about new technology that I can use in my classroom to help my students." Similarly, Mr. Gold shared that because he learned about better ways to use technology outside of his work hours, he was more comfortable using it. His self-training of the technology helped him to feel more comfortable with his students creating PowerPoints. On the other hand, when asked about technology proficiency, Ms. Violet referenced the need for training because she did not use technology much outside of school. She shared that she "would often need someone to help me" with instructional technology. All teachers stated they were required to use instructional technology during their reading block. Mr. Brown shared that during a staff meeting, teachers were asked to look at data, then assign students work on IStation. He

felt the program was good for students but would have liked follow up training on the program. Teachers expressed they used the instructional technology more if they understood it. Ms. Magenta shared that "we use it more because we know how to navigate some of the issues students may have." Only 3 of the 9 participants—all digital natives—expressed their confidence in using the technology for reading. Six of the 9 felt they would benefit from more frequent training.

Theme 3: Barriers

Based upon the data analysis, elementary teachers identified ELL student proficiency in English and parental support at home as barriers to technology integration. All teacher participants made remarks in the interviews about English proficiency and parental support as barriers with technology integration. All teacher responses indicated that they felt instructional technology could be used to support reading instruction for students. Two categories, student proficiency and lack of support at home, were used to support Theme 3.

Ms. Violet's students worked in small groups of five or six students. While her students were working to complete a part of the assignment, she moved from her small group to one student to helped him find the book she wanted him to read in Epic. She later shared during her interview that the student was new to the country and "did not know how to use the program because he did not have it in his old country." Student language proficiency was a barrier many teachers addressed by choosing technology with features that would read the passage to students, highlight the words as the passages were read, and permit the students to listen to the passage multiple times. Most teachers had students use only one type of technology for reading the entire week. They shared that students who were new to the country or one of their students reading below grade level were mostly on Imagine Learning because they did not understand English. Other teachers had students use multiple types of reading technology based on their reading levels and English proficiency. Teachers indicated that students would quickly click through reading technology assignments if they could not read and understand the passage.

Summary

In summary, the findings support that all teachers are using instructional technology in various ways to enhance or transform ELLs reading. All teachers demonstrated their use of instructional technology to differentiate reading for their ELLs by including technology in their lesson plans, modeling lessons during whole group instruction, and using an array of technology for mini-lessons, small group teacher and independent student instruction. Further, some teachers used technology to monitor the progress of their students and their levels of growth. Teachers had different experiences using instructional technology during reading for their ELLs. Despite their experiences with technology, they spoke of the necessity for professional development with technology specific for ELLs reading instruction.

RQ3

Based upon the data analysis, RQ3 was addressed and aligned with Themes 1 and 2. The interview data, observations, and lesson plans informed this RQ to provide

experiences—teacher experiences about their use of technology to teach reading to ELL students.

All the instructional technology discussed by the teachers was for reading instruction. The teachers felt software like EPIC, Light Sailed, Teach a Monster to Read, Step Reading, PebbleGo, Starfall, Learning A-Z, ReadWorks, Learning Farm, AR, and Freckle were beneficial for students to read passages, listen to ebooks or to have online reading passages read to them during reading instruction. Instructional technology such as PowerPoint, Promethean Board, and Sway were used to display teacher's reading lessons or to project a reading activity on the board. Google, Britannica Kids and YouTube videos were used to conduct research during a reading activity or show videos pertaining to the reading lesson. Teachers used Turtle Diary, Illustrator, and KidPik to engage students in written responses based on the reading lesson. The Chromebook was used by students to gain access to the different types of reading instructional technology assigned by the teacher or the teacher used it create or assign student reading lessons or to review student reading data.

RQ3 was addressed and aligned with Themes 1 and 2. Interview, observation, and lesson plan data were used to inform the findings. All teacher participants had various experiences using instructional technology during their reading blocks with their ELLs. Across all grade levels, each teacher's experiences with technology use changed based on the needs of the students as a whole and student levels. The types and uses of instructional technology either exemplified the augmentation of instruction or replaced traditional classroom tools with no major changes to assignments, exemplified the modification of instruction or replaced traditional tools with significant redesign of the project or lesson or task, or exemplified redefinition of the SAMR model to create new assignments not thought of with the use of traditional classroom tools.

Substitution

Relative to Theme 1, using technology to differentiate instruction to support ELL readers, all teacher participants used instructional technology in ways that exemplified the substitution of the SAMR model. Substitution includes simply trading a nondigital classroom activity or experience and choosing a digital one instead. An example would be using a Google document instead of notebook paper. However, none of these teachers discussed or indicated a need for training to substitute technology during instructional situations. The native and immigrant teachers demonstrated competency through observation and communicated efficacy in substituting technology. Therefore, only Theme 1 was demonstrated in this element of the SAMR model.

Most teachers used Google docs to have students simply type responses electronically instead of using pencil and paper. Students were not required to submit the document to the teacher electronically once completed. One teacher participant used LightSailed was in a way that exemplified substitution by having the students read an ebook without the audible features turned on. Once the students finished reading the book, they did not take an online comprehension test nor use the instant feedback feature provided through the software.

Augmentation

All the teacher participants modeled using instructional technology in ways that exemplified augmentation of the SAMR model. Evidence of augmentation includes any instance that teachers used a digital tool to share images, inform instruction, or submit assignments. Teacher interview and observation data did not indicate a need for additional training in augmenting technological instruction. Therefore, only Theme 1 was evidenced in the augmentation part of the SAMR model.

Three of the teacher participants used their Promethean boards to show lessons, have students watch videos, show images, or engage students in whole group instruction. Some teachers used Google docs instructional technology during small group instruction to have students type answers to questions in assignments. Several teachers had student groups use ReadWorks to type answers to comprehension questions after students finished reading passages.

All nine teachers included instructional technology to be used for student reading in their lesson plans. Teacher participants listed various types of instructional technology in their plans such as PowerPoint, Easy CBM, and ReadWorks which exemplified the augmentation of the SAMR model.

Modification

The three digital natives and one of the digital immigrants modeled using instructional technology in ways that exemplified modification of the SAMR model. Modification includes replacing traditional classroom tools with digital tools to offer audible options, chat features, or online collaborative feedback. There was evidence of modification for differentiating instruction for ELL readers in lesson plan and observation data. Participants also discussed modification in the interviews thus providing evidence for Theme 1. However, only interview data indicated a need for additional training on modifying technology for supporting ELL readers—the lesson plans and observation data did not inform Theme 2 on this construct. Therefore, Theme 1 and 2 were evidenced in the modification part of the SAMR model.

Most teachers use of instructional technology showed modification of the SAMR model. Teachers assigned technology use for students based on their reading levels by selecting software with audible features to support student understanding during the reading block. Often, the technology used during instruction for ELLs offered access to audible features to have the passage or assignment read to the student or students had access to features that revealed definitions of unknown words. Technology programs such as Epic, Freckle, IReady, IStation, and ReadWorks were used to support ELLs at different reading levels. IReady, Imagine Learning, and IStation were included as exemplifying modification of the SAMR model because of the adaptative features of the technology such as the audible features and the program selecting reading passages based on the student's performance.

How teachers used instructional technology for student groups also depicted the inclusion into modification of the SAMR model. Some teachers had students use Google docs to type and complete assignments, then email the assignments to the teachers The assignment required one student to save and share (via email) their document to a peer. The peer then opened the email, read the students work, and provided feedback by

inserting comments to parts of the shared document. Mr. Brown used Google Docs daily because he felt comfortable navigating it for reading instruction and could easily teach it to the students. Google documents, as used during the lesson, was considered as Modification on the SAMR model given that the students were reading, typing answers, and sharing the document with the teacher for feedback.

The more teachers understood about using a specific type of technology, they would use it more often for their ELLs during reading instruction. Other technology, such as Epic, offered audible features and students had the autonomy to choose from hundreds of electronic books. The program also offered teachers the opportunity to select and assign books for students to read instead of teachers and students losing instruction time to visit the media center to check out new books during the week. Students' instruction was modified when they used audible features to have the books read to them.

Although teacher participants referenced multiple types of instructional technology used during reading, specific technology was desired for their ELLs. Teachers assigned technology programs to students based on performance or reading levels, technology that included audible features that are not available in bond books or hard copies of documents and teachers used it to assist them in monitoring student progress in real time exemplified as Modification, significant redesign of the project or task in the lesson, of the SAMR model.

Redefinition

None of the teacher participants showed exemplification of the SAMR model when using technology with their ELLs. Although the interview, observation, and lesson plan data provided evidence of substitution, augmentation, and modification, the transcriptions and instructional plans showed no evidence that these participants knew how to redefine instruction with technology to support ELL readers. The observations of classroom instruction showed many technological uses; however, redefinition was not observed. This lack of evidence indicates a gap in practice.

For example, there was a total of 27 types of technology used amongst the teacher participants; however, none of the teachers' demonstrated ways in which the technology was used to create new tasks that would have been impossible by the omission of the technology. Some teachers used Google docs to have students share completed assignments or provide feedback to peers, but student use of technology is different from redefining lessons with technology. Teacher data did not demonstrate that lessons were redefined using technology by having students create a task or product that were inconceivable and could not have been achieved using non-digital classroom tools. Although the data indicated regular use of technology, the lack of redefinition may indicate a concern for creating instruction that was dependent upon technology.

Redefinition assignments and activities provides ELLs with opportunities to engage in authentic, real life learning experiences using technology, and are provided with language and reading support (Jones et al., 2022). Teachers can expose students to experiences such as virtual pen pals or inviting an author to class through Zoom or Teams to support reading instruction. ELLs receive and make powerful connections when they can experience real-time virtual trips instead of simply watching a video. These forms of activities provide ELL students with engagement opportunities unachievable without the technology (Siefert et al., 2019). However, the data indicated that no teachers were redefining their lessons with technology.

Summary

The findings support that teachers used instructional technology in ways that exemplified the substitution, augmentation, or modification of the SAMR model; however, they did not use it to exemplify the redefinition of the model. Many teachers chose and used technology for their ELLs based on student reading levels as well as the features provided through the technology. Teachers referenced an array of technology to use during reading for ELLs, yet none of the ways the technology was used exemplified the redefinition of the SAMR model.

Project Deliverable as an Outcome of Results

I studied the data from participants' interviews, observations, and lesson plans. Three themes emerged to answer the three research questions:

Theme 1: Elementary teachers believed that using technology to differentiate instruction helped them teach reading to ELL students.

Theme 2: Elementary teachers understood that knowledge of software programs, types of technology, and their use for instruction and learning depend on current and ongoing training.

Theme 3: Elementary teachers identified ELL student proficiency in English and parental support at home as barriers to technology integration.

The teachers said that using technology to differentiate instruction helped them teach reading to ELL students. Based on their beliefs, teachers used programs/software

such as Imagine Learning, Google docs, Light Sailed to differentiate instruction for students by using replay options, the audible and definitions features embedded in the programs, the student's autonomy to select books presented through the program or ones assigned by the teacher. This was to enhance literacy and language skills, adapt or modify reading assignments, personalizing student learning, and/or accommodate students' language proficiency levels (Ding et al., 2019).

Teachers' knowledge of software programs, types of technology, and their use for instruction and learning were critical to their reading instruction (Ding et al., 2019). Technology was useful for working with small and large groups of students. Teachers modeled how to use different programs and technologies so students could demonstrate what they had learned and teach their peers, plus teachers created assignments that compelled them to provide oral and written feedback to students about their work (Gonzalez, 2020). Regardless of their expertise with the technology and software programs they currently used, they did express a desire to learn more about new technologies and programs that could extend the students' reading performance.

Elementary teachers were concerned with ELL students' proficiency in English and parental support at home. In many instances, teachers were unsure what school experiences their ELL students had as well as their level of English competence. When ELL students have not attended formal education in previous years or communities, they may not understand school expectations and/or school routines. Minimal school experiences coupled with poor reading comprehension are hurdles teachers must overcome, which technology use may not overcome (Abdullah et al. 2021). Classroom teachers are expected to prepare students with on grade level instruction for reading and across the curriculum and to prepare them for the following grades. This expectation is added responsibility for teachers as well as ELL students who are learning to read and reading to learn (Kalinowski et al., 2020). Selecting appropriate the technologies and software programs to assist the teaching and learning processes is essential (Bower, 2019).

Support at home is the second barrier teachers identified. They realized that parents of ELLs often did not speak, read, or write English, and did not support English spoken in the home. This was compounded by no incentive to use a secondary language or the necessity to have or use technology or the internet. These restrictions decrease student progress in reading, because without opportunities to practice reading skills in the home, ELL students reading experiences are confined to the school classroom (Luo et al., 2021).

Despite the various types of technology used during reading for ELLs, such as Google docs, Istation, IReady, Epic, Imagine Learning, and PowerPoint, they did exemplify augmentation and modification of the SAMR model in the classroom. However, redefinition was not evident. Teachers of ELLs need to know how to use instructional technology for students' specific language levels to enhance (substitution or augmentation) or transform (modification or redefinition) students' reading according to the SAMR model (Li, 2020). The findings showed that ELL teachers need professional development on instructional technology use, specifically for (a) reading differentiation, (b) training on instructional technology for reading, and (c) overcoming barriers to using instructional technology. As such, I propose a series of professional development sessions for ELL teachers on using the SAMR model to move their use of instructional technology along the spectrum of enhancement-substitution and augmentation towards the spectrum of transformative-modification and redefinition of the SAMR model.

Summary

A qualitative multisite case study was used as the methodology for this project study. A purposeful sample of 3-5 Grade elementary school reading and ESOL teachers were selected from multiple schools in the local district to be participants in the study. The data collected from observations, lesson plans, and semistructured interviews revealed teacher participants used various types of instructional technology during reading for their ELLs. All participants shared how they chose instructional technology to use for their ELLs depending on the student's reading level and English language proficiency. Participants placed an emphasis on knowing which technology to use for students' specific language and reading levels; oftentimes they mentioned instructional technology with features that included audible options, animation, and were easy to use for both students and teachers. Participants also revealed how students' primary language influenced their use of instructional technology for reading at home.

The data did not show one exclusive type of instructional technology to use for students at specific reading levels, but there were various types of instructional technology used during reading instruction for their ELLs. Teachers reported being overwhelmed with the amount of available instructional technology but would often select instructional technology with audible features or visuals. They also voiced frustration with the amount of time it took to learn some of the instructional technology that could be better suited for their students use during reading instruction. They also voiced concerns with the using off-contract work hours to self-train on using instructional technology. During the reading block observations, teachers used different types of instructional technology for student reading instruction; however, they did not select technology that required students to transform or move beyond the assigned lesson. Teachers need support in knowing which the better researched instructional technology is to use for ELLs specific language and reading levels to further enhance and transform student reading instruction.

In the subsequent section, I will provide a description of the professional development project. Section 4 encompasses reflections and conclusions of the project's strengths and limitations, recommendations for alternative approaches, scholarship, project development and evaluation, and leadership and change, reflection on importance of the work, implications, applications, and directions for future research, and the conclusion.

Section 3: The Project

Introduction

In this multisite qualitative case study, I explored teachers' perceptions of their use of instructional technology and their demonstration of it during reading instruction of ELLs in Grades 3–5. Based on the findings of the study, I designed a project to offer support for Grade 3–5 ELL teachers who use instructional technology during reading instruction for students at various language and reading levels. The findings showed that ELL teachers need professional development on instructional technology use, specifically for (a) reading differentiation, (b) implementing appropriate instructional technology, and (c) overcoming barriers to implementing instructional technology. These themes indicate that teachers need professional development in using instructional technology with gamelike, audible features based on ELL student's reading levels; selecting instructional technology with adaptative features; and using/organizing instructional technology for reading instruction that parents can implement at home to assist students.

Rationale

The most appropriate project study deliverable was a set of professional development sessions involving the best practices for instructional technology use for ELLs' reading growth based on their ACCESS language tiers, reading levels, and the SAMR model. I selected professional development as the project based on the themes found in the study. The professional development sessions will allow for the progressive implementation of "deeper thinking and learning, authentic work, student agency and personalization, and technology infusion" based on teacher and student needs (McLeod &

Graber, 2019, pp. 12-13). The sessions also will provide teachers with continuous, appropriate support throughout the school year. Numerous studies have been conducted in support of professional development; however, for professional development to be effective, it must be content focused, have participant collaborative engagement, allow for active learning, allow for opportunities of modeling, include feedback and participant reflection, and be sustainable over a period (Codding et al., 2021).

I considered a self-paced virtual workshop as the format for the professional development sessions. Although some teachers would benefit from the format, I did not choose this format because teachers must show competency in computer technologies, including software programs, and be self-motivated to engage in learning virtually to successfully navigate online learning independently (Karatas & Arpaci, 2021). A self-paced virtual workshop could provide teachers with knowledge while removing the presence of live human collaboration, infallible shared experiences, and dialogue found in face-to-face professional development.

Review of the Literature

Elementary school ELLs within the same grade level have varying reading levels, and this diversity could stem from a myriad of reasons, such as a student's lack of proficiency in their native spoken language, language spoken at home, or a combination of both (Codding et al., 2021). These reading levels directly impact student learning, reading comprehension, and scholastic success. Teachers must have a strong foundation of content knowledge to successfully support student achievement and be provided with effective professional development (Codding et al., 2021). Therefore, providing teachers with opportunities and supports to build knowledge of using appropriate technology during instructional delivery, methods to address technology integration barriers, and differentiating student instruction technology can be addressed through professional development.

Conducting the Search

To complete this review of literature on how to address teacher concerns with using technology in the classroom to support ELL students, I used the following databases and search engines: Academic Search Complete, Dissertations & Theses (a) Walden University, Education Research Starters, Education Source, ERIC, Google Scholar, LearnTechLib—The Learning and Technology Library, ProQuest Central, ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global, Sage Journals, ScholarWorks, Taylor and Francis Online, Teacher Reference Center, and Thoreau Multi-Database Search. I used a combination of search terms and phrases to conduct the literature review on the project genre, including differentiation, instructional technology, technology in the classroom, technology in education, instructional technology use, elementary, elementary schools, elementary students, primary students, elementary English Language Learners, ESOL, ELLs, English as a Second Language, reading, reading instruction, reading comprehension, instructional software, adaptative, adaptative instructional technology, instructional technology in the classroom, instructional technology for differentiation, student engagement, student instructional technology engagement, student reading levels, student reading abilities, barriers, barriers using instructional technology, parent concerns with technology, instructional technology and homework, home-language,

parent communication barriers and homework, student home language, professional development, professional development and instructional technology, professional development for teachers, and professional development for teachers and instructional technology. The resulting sources were verified as peer reviewed using Ulrichweb via the Walden University Library.

Saturation of the Literature

This literature review includes 28 peer-reviewed articles that were published in 2018 or later. These articles include studies of reading, instructional technology, barriers of implementing instruction technology, and teacher professional development for instructional technology. I also reviewed articles identifying the most appropriate instructional technology for student instruction and using instructional technology to address the barriers of implementation for instruction.

Professional Development for Identifying and Using Instructional Technology

Student reading levels influence the type of instructional technology they can independently use with success. The most impactful styles of instructional technology to address student reading levels and comprehension include those with speech-to-text, digital-game-based learning, multimedia learning and socialization, text-to-speech recognition, and those with mobile technology learning (Zhang & Zou, 2022). Researchers have found that gaming formats had an overall positive influence on student learning, knowledge, and engagement with technology-assisted language knowledge (Zhang & Hou, 2022). Digital platforms, multimedia, and interactive software can enhance and support student reading achievement.

Instructional Technology Differentiation

Teachers who have received varying degrees of instructional technology professional development may have contributed to increases in student achievement. Most teachers have found engaging in professional development programs necessary to counter their lack of knowledge with websites and applications (Taghizadeh & Yourdshasi, 2020). Kolobe and Mihai (2021) found that the reading development of ELLs was supported when teachers use instructional technology with students during instruction. Teachers need professional development on selecting the most beneficial instructional technology for student use and how to use it for classroom instruction (Alghasab et al., 2020). Teachers were successful with addressing student's various reading levels when exciting and interactive instructional technology, such as YouTube, videos, games, simulations, digital story-reading, and Smart Boards, were used for student engagement during reading instruction (Kolobe & Mihai, 2021). These types of instructional technology include engaging multimedia images and audio for students at various reading levels. Likewise, researchers such as Mudra (2020) have agreed that instructional technology is beneficial when used during reading for students. Since ELLs can often enter a grade level reading several grades below proficiency, instructional technology with interactive, adaptative, animated, or game-like features have proved to be of value (Kolobe & Mihai, 2021). Hou (2019) found that students' reading comprehension improved when using interactive response systems, explaining that students enjoyed using technology systems, such as Kahoot and Socrative, because of the appealing game-like features embedded in the systems. Furthermore, despite their reading levels, students showed improvement in their reading comprehension when they engaged in group discussions and student group collaboration using instructional technology (Hou, 2019).

Professional development on the specific unfamiliar aspects of instructional technology build more teacher confidence when implementing it during instruction (Ottenbreit-Leftwich et al., 2018). Furthermore, when provided with intentional professional development, teachers are better able to select the appropriate technology to impact students' learning (Liman & Karadeniz, 2021). Professional development is important because it may contribute to the student's academic success or their failure of content mastery when using the technology selected by the teacher. Teachers are better able to implement instructional technology and support students when they are provided with professional development.

Teachers have voiced concerns when placing their ELLs on instructional technology to complete assignments that require them to read independently (Ahmadi, 2018). Joswik and Mustian (2020) reported that both teachers and students need consistent support to ensure instructional technology is being used effectively. They found that when the teachers were provided with professional development both before and throughout the study, they reported they were motivated to continue using the instructional technology. In sum, teacher confidence with using the technology was supported by the professional development provided to them.

Teachers that have been provided with professional development on using mobile application rubrics were able to identify students' strengths and areas of growth when using instructional technology (Mize et al., 2020). The researchers indicated that supporting students in successfully using instructional technology based on their reading levels involves teachers identifying the reader's independent strengths and their needs. Mize et al. (2020) stated that teacher knowledge and the interactive technology's multifaceted features supported students' Lexile levels, progress, and achievement.

Taylor et al. (2020) explained that teachers should consider student's specific reading deficiencies when selecting and assigning apps. Teachers can fully utilize most aspects of instructional technology for student instruction when they are provided with adequate professional development. Technology programs should be chosen that can address individual skills, such as letter patterns, and offer visuals for students during instructional use (Mize et al., 2020). In other words, the authors suggested that teachers receive explicit professional development on these types of features when selecting technology for reading instruction.

Teachers that used instructional technology during reading helped increase student achievement and engagement during reading lessons. Mudra (2019) found that young ELLs showed improvement when using digital technology during reading. Students' instructional technology knowledge banks often extend far beyond the instructor because they understand the value and implied importance of instructional technology use (Meirovitz & Aran, 2020). Mudra determined that students were more motivated to be engaged in the reading assignments when technology was used for instruction (Mudra, 2019). Teachers need professional development to extend their pedagogical and technological knowledge because school-aged children are digital
natives who are comfortable using various types of technology (Liman & Karadeniz, 2021). Mudra also found that students showed more interest, eagerness, and willingness to participate in the assignment when it was animated, exciting, and had interactive texts. Moreover, it has been found that students should have access to technology with visuals that are engaging and motivate them to participate in the reading lessons being taught (Conn et al., 2019). Conn et al. (2019) suggested that students' reading levels are supported when technology features integrate the use of visuals and helping students understand the meaning of words. For teachers to introduce and implement engaging, interactive instructional technology in the classroom, they must be afforded professional development opportunities to venture beyond traditional use.

Choosing and Implementing Instructional Technology

Professional development aids teachers in understanding the nuances of implementing instructional technology in the classroom (Kolobe & Mihai, 2021). In a study of primary school ESL students, Teng (2019) found that students' reading comprehension improved when the use of captioned and audible videos were included in the reading lessons. The combination of pictures and words, audible stimuli, and readable captions appeared to help ESL primary students reading levels by helping students develop and understand the connections between spoken and printed words. Furthermore, the use of captions impacted student comprehension by connecting background knowledge and previous comprehension strategies taught (Teng, 2019). Despite the technology selected and used to support student reading levels, teachers should first determine whether children have English skills to ensure they are successful to comprehend Language 2 video input (Teng, 2019). Teng emphasized that teachers' participation in technology professional development and student English proficiency should be some of the main factors when selecting student instructional technology.

Rombot et al. (2019) discovered that through blended learning, more students demonstrated greater improvement in reading levels when they could read and hear the reading texts presented over and over. Their findings showed that blended learning gives them more time to review, interpret, and comprehend sentences that are more challenging to understand in print. Student accessibility to appealing, eye-catching, and interactive digital comic reading texts can also increase student reading levels and promote their interest in reading (Rombot et al., 2019). These authors illustrated how the inclusion of questioning strategies and features in programs, such as Kahoot! and Socrative, can be a pedagogical activity in English First other Language reading courses and how it enhanced students' learning, which could contribute to increases in students' reading levels. The researchers found that students were excited and looked forward to game-like lessons like Kahoot! Moreover, students were deeply engaged when the system was used and found the game-like system to be particularly appealing. As a result of the interaction with the program, students displayed better mastery of the material being taught (Hou, 2019). In other words, teacher instructional technology professional development on the uses of interactive engagement with their students appeared to improve student comprehension of the lesson content.

Samat and Aziz (2020) found that the school community should embrace a culture of incorporating multimedia, visuals, and auditory features in their lessons. They

discovered that this practice might help students understand visually what is difficult to understand abstractly. Teachers should also deliberately prepare lesson materials that have interactive features and include appealing multimedia videos (Samat & Aziz, 2020).

Considering teachers' beliefs on using instructional technology in the classroom, professional development creates opportunities for teachers to become innovators with technology or cause teachers to defy change while viewing it as a waste of time (McGinn & Song, 2018). As with any classroom, teachers will need to choose technology that is as student individualized as possible, offer student-specific adaptations for student reading levels, and address the skills where students need more support to see growth (Van Allen & Zygouris-Coe, 2019). Instructional technology can be used to differentiate reading lessons to address each student's reading level and increase their overall reading achievement.

Professional Development to Address Implementation Barriers

Technology use does not come without perceived challenges from the users. Teachers are constantly being presented with new initiatives and requirements to address student learning, and there are no exclusions when using instructional technology in the classroom (Van Allen & Zygouris-Coe, 2019). Teachers have expressed frustration using instructional technology within the time constraints allotted in a school day (Hamutoglu & Basarmak, 2020). School districts' expectation of schoolteachers is that the full curriculum provided be taught during the instructional day, which often includes using instructional technology in the content area. Teachers have cited multiple barriers that often prevent them from wholly using instructional technology while also adhering to the curriculum (Van Allen & Zygouris-Coe, 2019). Some teachers have acknowledged that their competency in using instructional technology has hindered them from using instructional technology as much as they would like. Teachers who engage in technology professional development increase their competence for using technological tools to support student academic growth and achievement (Taghizadeh & Yourdshahi, 2020).

Alsuhaibani (2019) discovered that teachers need training in how to switch from using instructional technology that is teacher-centered to using instructional technology that is more student-centered. Younger teachers were more inclined to use instructional technology in their classroom than teachers with more years of experience (Kolobe & Mihai, 2021). They were more willing to use instructional technology in innovative ways that allowed students more creative freedom using instructional technology (McGinn & Song, 2018). Offering professional development that encourages teachers to use opportunities to collaborate with colleagues increased dialogue, which in turn increased teachers' willingness to use instructional technology during instruction (Alghasab et al., 2020; Ottenbreit-Leftwich et al., 2018).

Teachers have also cited a barrier as the additional time it takes to effectively research instructional technology to use during instruction. Teachers have expressed their resistance to spend time learning new software and technology programs unless they see how it might directly impact their students (Alghasab et al., 2020). They have stated that they want options when professional development is concerned with technology. Some teachers have voiced they would like to have professional development that allows them to work collaboratively with colleagues, offer self-paced modules, or offer some hybrid model. Professional development pertaining to instructional technology use should be engaging, offer choice, and stress the importance of the unified belief in the potential of technology use during instruction (Chen et al., 2020; Codding et al., 2021). To put it another way, teachers' participation in professional development that is supportive in using instructional technology can see the benefits of using it more in their classroom.

Instructional technology use outside the school and classroom has been shown to benefit scholars. Yet, teachers sometimes opt against having students use instructional technology outside of school. Teachers have stated various reasons against mandating the use of instructional technology outside of the classroom. Levinson (2018) stated that inequitable internet availability, student access to appropriate devices, spoken home language, and cultural practices were barriers inhibiting families from using instructional technology outside the school. Schools that provide professional development for teachers can support parents' use of instructional technology engagement with their child to assist in their child's achievement growth (Duraku & Hoxha, 2020; Kryeziu et al., 2021). Parents can support their child academically by using curated technology devices, provided with digital resource options in the parents spoken language, and increasing parents' knowledge of student eBooks available (Levinson, 2018). Providing teachers with professional development to navigate the obstacles that arise with instructional technology use outside school helps to convey to parents the importance of student engagement in digital learning activities (Ozturk & Ohi, 2018).

Project Description

The professional development series was designed to provide teachers with strategies for best practices for selecting appropriate instructional technology for students based on their reading levels. The need for professional development was discovered through the participants' perceptions and uses of instructional technology for their ELLs. This professional development will use the word participant to refer to teacher participants within the K-5 grade band located in the southeastern region of the United States. The intent of the project was to provide support for ELL teachers who use instructional technology during reading for students at various language and reading levels. The goal of this professional development is to provide teachers with exposure to techniques, experiences, and increased instructional technology knowledge to support the educational success of ELL students. The project study's success will be measured by problem-solving unanticipated obstacles, accessing, and using resources, and the teachers' completion of the 3-day professional development.

Resources, Existing Supports, Potential Barriers, and Solutions

There are various resources that will be needed to guarantee the success of the professional development. One resource will be the time teachers need to participate in the 3-day training during the summer months at the end of the school year. A potential barrier could be teachers' unwillingness to commit to using 3 days of summer break to attend and participate in the professional development. A solution to this barrier may be to provide participants with a stipend for attendance. Another potential barrier could be participant's employment as summer school instructors when the professional

development is offered. A solution to this barrier may be offering a survey with multiple dates to gauge the most promising days to conduct professional development for most participants.

Another resource required for the success of the professional development is funding. It will be necessary for the local school district to purchase anchor text for each participant for this professional development as it is a crucial part for success. A potential barrier to the success of the professional development series could be minimal to no funding available. Funds would be needed to compensate the presenters as well as the participants. One solution to the funding barrier could be to offer the training to schools chosen as pilot schools for implementation, target schools that receive federal title one funds for professional development or submit a proposal to the local school's Parent Teacher Organization or the Parent Teacher Association for funding participants within the school.

Lastly, a location for meeting will be necessary. This project study is written for face-to-face meetings. A potential barrier could be lack of space for a group of participants as participants will need a location that has amble space for the resources needed such as their computer, mentor text, notepads and to have collaborative, group discussions. A solution to this barrier could be contacting personnel in the district office to inquire about free spaces available to accommodate the group or reaching out directly to the school to ensure adequate space is available.

Implementation and Timeline

The goal of the professional development series is to provide teachers with content and best practices for implementation of specific instructional technology to use with their ELLs during reading. Teachers will be active learners as they work collaboratively to discuss instructional technology programs to use during reading instruction to support ELLs at given ACCESS tiers. The timeline will be a 3-day professional development during the summer school months. Teachers will be provided with bi-monthly, hourly coaching sessions, and supports. Phase 1 of the professional development will be held 3 days during the month of June while teachers are off contractual hours. Phase 2 will begin the first month teachers return for the new school year and end with their last monthly meeting of the academic school year.

Participants

Participants for this professional development series will include all kindergarten through fifth-grade content area teachers, instructional and academic coach leaders, teacher leaders, and English support teachers who sign up for the professional development. Instructional coaches, academic coaches or teacher leaders will serve as supports for teachers to answer questions or address concerns during the weeks teachers do not have a professional development support session. The professional development will be offered to all K-5 grade teachers within the school district with the school district serving as the final decision maker of expectations of teacher participation. Social change will be more likely if all K-5 teachers participate in the professional development.

Phase 1: PreImplementation Sessions

The professional development will occur in two phases. The goal of the first phase is to provide teachers will instructional technology strategies using software or websites to support ELLs ACCESS and reading levels. The sessions are based on sample student data from the school district, the mentor text, SAMR model, and various forms of instructional technology. The instructional coach, academic coach, or teacher leaders will serve as facilitators for the collaborative sessions. Each session will follow a daily agenda (see Appendix A, Day one, two, & three Agenda) during the 3 days of collaborative work. Participants will be expected to bring a computer, the mentor text, and have access to a way of saving collaborative work from each session.

First, participants will be provided with background information on WIDA, ACCESS, student ACCESS scores, and student ACCESS band movement, proficiency standards. Participants will be provided with sample students' ACCESS data to analyze and discuss collaboratively with participants in the group. Participants will be provided with student grade-level reading standards based on the sample student data. The participants will identify types of instructional technology they would use to support specific student scores, then respond to question prompt on Padlet. Professional development for Day 2 will have participants gain knowledge about the SAMR model and the use of the Padagogy Wheel. Participants will then read and collaboratively discuss mentor text Chapters 1 and 2. Participants will take notes and journal their learning electronically using the platform of their chose. Participants groups will respond to question prompts based on Chapters 1 and 2 on Padlet. Participants will practice using various platforms and software discussed in their collaborative groups. Participants will review the components of the SAMR model and Padagogy Wheel, read Chapters 3 and 5 of the mentor text, and engage in collaborative discourse with the group. Participants will select the instructional technology of their choice to create a reading assignment for the sample student, then use the information found in the mentor text to support the substitution, augmentation, modification, or redefinition the SAMR model. Participants will post completed collaborative group work on Padlet. Participants will complete a formative exit ticket at the conclusion of each daily session. The assessments will be used as an assessment of participant learning at the conclusion of all sessions.

Phase 2: Coaching and Feedback Sessions

The goal of Phase 2 of the professional development series is to support implementation and best practices. Once participants have had an opportunity to participate in collaborative work sessions with peers, they will use the new knowledge gained to implement the strategies learned. The second phase of the professional development will offer bimonthly virtual or face-to-face coaching sessions based on the availability of meeting spaces. Participants will only need to attend one of the two sessions offered. The sessions will provide participants with opportunities to share the strategies they have used, share evidence of implementation, and discuss challenges. The instructional coach, academic coach, or teacher leader will facilitate and provide feedback and support for participants. Prescheduled, focused observations will be conducted during classroom instruction to provide participants with real time coaching if desired. The professional development coaching begins with more facilitator support with a gradual release to complete participant control. Participants will present instructional technology student work samples and discuss the technology infusion questions from the mentor text. Participants will then use the mentor text to redesign the lesson based on collaborative group feedback, then present the redesign during the next coaching session. The professional development will actively engage participants over an academic school year which provides participants with opportunities to collaborate with peers, apply new strategies and discuss how the implementation learned have impacted students' learning.

Roles and Responsibilities

K-5 grade teachers are integral in the project study. The role of teachers is to serve as an instructor for students, communicate effectively with parents, and teach the curriculum provided by the district. Instructional coaches, academic coaches, and teacher leaders are often the liaisons that redeliver the training from the school district. One of their responsibilities is to support K-5 teachers in implementation of district driven trainings, provide feedback, and support teachers through modeling best practices.

The professional development project sessions may contribute to social change by providing teachers with best practices to support ELLs technology use during reading. The implementation of best practices described in the professional development sessions help teachers develop greater instructional technology competency for classroom instruction, thereby contributing to an increase student's academic achievement. District and school leaders may adopt and implement this professional development to ensure K-5 teachers have knowledge in best practices of instructional technology use to increase ELLs reading growth and academic success.

Project Evaluation Plan

Evaluation is vital to ensure that participants are gaining new knowledge, the project maximizes time and efficiency, and the objectives are achieved. Effective evaluations should determine participants' overall satisfaction with the process and information delivered during the project study. The evaluations will be used to modify the current professional development sessions and provide feedback for future professional development sessions. The value of the project is confirmed when teachers, administrators, and district leaders can see improved effective changes to instruction and student achievement.

Goals of Evaluation

The goal of the professional development sessions will be to encourage more intentional use of instructional technology in the classroom to ensure best practices are used for ELLs to have equitable access to instruction. The effectiveness of the professional development series will be assessed through both formative and summative evaluations; The evaluations will occur throughout the professional development sessions to gage the project study's effectiveness.

Formative Assessments

A preassessment (see Appendix A) will be administered to each participant on the first day of the 3-day professional development sessions. The purpose of the assessment will be to assess participant's prior knowledge of ACCESS data and the SAMR model.

Additionally, teachers will complete formative assessment exit tickets at the conclusion of each daily session. The formative assessments will provide a snapshot into each participant's knowledge of the day's sessions. The question posed on the exit tickets will be reflective of the daily session objective. Teachers will complete the daily formative assessments by responding to a written prompt in Padlet. Padlet provides a format for responses to be viewed and saved after each session. The formative assessments will also capture if the daily objectives are being met.

Summative Evaluation

A summative evaluation will occur once during the project study to gather feedback from the participants. The first summative evaluation (see Appendix A) will be administered at the culmination of the Day 3. The post assessment will mirror the preassessment given at the beginning of 3-day sessions. The final evaluation will be completed by the participants, instructional coach, academic coach, and teacher leader at the end of the school year. Open-ended questions included in the summative assessment will help to determine new strategies learned by the participants, the comprehensive effectiveness of the professional development, and recommendations for refinement. The open-ended questions will allow for participants to expand their responses and pose questions for future professional development sessions. K-5 grade participants, teacher leaders, instructional coaches, and academic coaches' completion of the summative evaluation will inform and guide future professional development and serve to aid in the improvement of current sessions to maximize student's instructional equity.

Project Implications

The professional development sessions provide participants with knowledge and researched best practices for using instructional technology during reading for ELLs. The participants' perspectives of their use of instructional technology during reading for ELLs suggested the need for professional development with selection and use to increase teacher instructional technology competency, specifically for ELLS. The observation data collected could indicate that teachers were not using the most appropriate instructional technology during reading for ELLs. These observations suggested the need for professional development. The goal of the professional development sessions is to contribute to ELL students' reading achievement and success by providing participants with strategies and resources to better serve their students. Monitoring and responsive support will provide participants with critical feedback and support that leads to improved instructional practices and student learning.

For Social Change

This project has multiple implications for social change. The contribution to positive social change may occur through the professional development sessions by enhancing participant's competency with instructional technology use for ELLs. The best practices delivered in the professional development sessions will potentially increase participants instructional delivery to meet the academic needs of K-5 grade ELL students. Districts may be provided with additional knowledge to expand their awareness of best practices of instructional technology use for ELLs during reading for academic growth. Second, the local schools and school district adhere to the mandates given by the state to provide access and equity for all students. The professional development sessions will provide teacher leaders, instructional and academic coaches with a strong foundation for leading and conducting sessions to ensure equity for all students. Lastly, district leaders and administrators may see the professional development sessions to ensure all K-5 teachers have access to understanding and implementing the sessions to improve student success.

For Stakeholders

The potential for positive social change of all stakeholders is understanding the guiding principles and institutional practices that school districts implement to enhance student learning. Social change for stakeholders suggests the importance of including stakeholder's ownership to help the community participate in these initiatives. Teachers' implementation of best practices from the professional development sessions may contribute to stakeholders' involvement with addressing the community needs and issues when collaborating with school districts. The involvement of all stakeholders is crucial for building community support, developing and maintaining good relationships, and demonstrating the value of stakeholder's input towards initiatives that may affect student's academic success.

Summary

In Section 3, the specific parts of the project deliverable were described and discussed. The professional development series is a 3-day collaborative learning experience grounded in the WIDA language standards and a book study about implementing instructional technology strategies to support the SAMR model framework

with ELLs. I included a rationale that justified the need for teachers to develop effective professional development and understand how to use instructional technology with more intentionality during and for instruction. I also included a literature review from the most recent 5 years, through which I examined professional development for reading instruction and overcoming barriers to implementing instructional technology. Section 3 also includes a summary of potential challenges and solutions that may arise, the plans for implementation, the method of assessment for effectiveness, and the implication for social change. In the next section, I will provide the limitations and strengths of my project and my reflections on the practical and scholarly aspects of this study.

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

In this section, I summarize the strengths and limitations of the project and discuss my recommendations for alternative approaches to the problem. Additionally, a reflective analysis of my personal journey and growth throughout the doctoral program is provided in which I reflect on what I have learned as a scholar, practitioner, and program developer and describe the new knowledge I acquired from conducting this study and the emphasis on positive social change in relation to my work. The section also includes a discussion of the implications, applications, and directions for future research before a conclusion for the study is provided.

Project Strengths

I created the professional development sessions to provide teachers with the knowledge and best practices for implementing instructional technology during reading instruction for ELLs. One of the project's strengths is that it could provide districts with professional development sessions to improve teachers' use of instructional technology as they design instruction for student learning to improve achievement. The intent of the project is to provide support for ELL teachers who use instructional technology during reading for students at various language and reading levels. Another strength of the project study is the continuous access to support. The implementation of the professional development is streamlined and practical for the school districts and local schools to allow for consistent support throughout the school year to implement the best practices from each session.

Project Limitations

In this project, I identified limitations in addressing the problem. The first limitation was the research study was based on specifically using the SAMR model as the framework and the mentor text, the 4-Shifts Protocol, to support how the framework could be used during content instruction.

Another limitation of planning the 3-day professional development was maintaining teacher commitment and engagement. Teacher participants will need to volunteer their personal time during the summer months to attend the professional development sessions. The results from the project study's findings suggested teachers need professional development to understand how the SAMR model framework could assist teachers in (a) reading differentiation, (b) implementing appropriate instructional technology, and (c) overcoming barriers to implementing instructional technology for ELLs during reading. These themes indicated that teachers often selected, valued, and used instructional technology with game-like features, audible features, and adaptative features for student's reading levels. These themes further indicated that language and parental support were barriers to using technology for reading assignments outside of school. The professional development would potentially increase participants instructional delivery to meet the academic needs of K-5 grade ELL students and provide districts with additional knowledge of best instructional technology reading practices for K-5 ELL students.

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches

One alternative approach for implementing this project to address the problem would be offering each professional development session during the school year. The coaching and feedback could be offered throughout the school year during weekly school and district collaborative planning meetings. Conducting the professional development sessions during the day and during the school year would allow for maximum teacher participation within MSDSUS. The local school and district vision of instructional technology use would be strengthened with the increase in teacher participants.

Another alternative approach for the project of this study would be to write a white paper. The white paper report would contain an explanation of the specific local problem and provide research-based recommendations for implementation. The white paper would also provide a detailed summary of the case studies and offer next steps for the study district.

An alternative definition of the problem could have been that it is unknown how local elementary school building leaders expect instructional technology to be used during reading for ELLs. A solution to this alternative definition of the local problem would be to provide the local school district's ELL department leaders with an opportunity to engage in collaborative discussions about using instructional technology in alignment with ELLs' ACCESS scores and the SAMR model. School building leaders would engage in collaborative discussions about best practices to look for in the classroom. It would be beneficial for the school district if school level leaders were part of the collaborative process because these leaders could then provide teachers with guidance on how to integrate best practices into the classroom and into the local school's curriculum.

Reflective Self-Analysis

Scholarship

My journey as a scholar was one that required perseverance, desire, and commitment. The process of research is arduous and based on a system of detailed checkpoints to address one problem. I found it difficult to identify one research focus to address the local problem. There were so many microproblems that drew my attention away from the one main research question that could address the local problem. I was frustrated with the setbacks I encountered, but my desire to contribute to teacher knowledge and student achievement helped me see the bigger picture. My convictions towards promoting student achievement helped me to tenaciously continue the path to accomplishing my goals. I have learned much from this process and have increased my competency to become an expert in this education discipline. The path towards earning my doctoral degree has been one that has pushed me beyond the limits I thought possible. It was an emotional roller coaster that helped me to value and have greater respect for the pursuit and completion of a doctoral degree.

Growth as a Practitioner

The amount of growth I have achieved is a direct reflection of knowledge I have gained throughout this process. My desire to constantly refine my thoughts and clarify my ideas makes me an expert scholar. I have a greater understanding of American Psychological Association style. I have also enhanced my knowledge of the doctoral research process regarding data analysis, frameworks, and data collection methods. I have learned to ask important questions pertaining to data and research and am now able to identify peer-reviewed studies and primary and secondary sources. Through gaining knowledge of the current qualitative literature and how it is relevant to addressing the local problem I have grown as an educator, scholar, and leader in my field.

Project Development

Growth as a Project Developer

I learned that the process of project development is based on data provided from the study. This process caused me to realize that the findings from the study would drive my decision to choose professional development as a project. Before I began my project study, I did not have a deep understanding of the research project and all it would entail. There were several parts of the project to consider when I was in the beginning stages. As the developer, I used the data collection processes to substantiate the problem of the local school district. I used the SAMR model framework to help develop of the project to address the local problem. The SAMR model framework had not been used as frequently in the field of elementary school research but was appropriate for my study. I had to consider and manage the amount of time needed to complete each activity. From there, I created the agenda, PowerPoint presentation, and speaker notes as well as gathered the resources needed for the daily sessions. Through data analysis, I concluded that professional development would address the needs identified by the themes discussed.

I am proud of the professional development sessions I created that will allow teachers the opportunity to improve their pedagogical understanding of instructional technology use for ELLs. My research has helped me to continue learning and developing as a scholar and share my practices with school leaders, teachers, parents, and students. Leadership and Change

I have learned that effective leaders are agents of change. I am a passionate educator and have convictions of being a lifelong learner and leader in my field. As an instructional leader, I am charged to serve as an educational support for our leadership team, teachers, parents, and students. As a mother of a child facing the challenges of learning disabilities, I am invested in helping students become the best versions of themselves throughout their elementary school education. My desire to bring positive social change at the local school district gave me the desire to complete this project study.

I have had many leadership roles in my career. From grade team teacher leader to academic support coach, being a leader has presented me with opportunities for growth in my career. My leadership role as a classroom teacher was limited to the teachers, parents, and students on my team. Once my position changed and I moved beyond the classroom, I witnessed the influence I could have on sharing, modeling, and supporting best practices with every teacher, parent, student, and member of the school's administrative leadership team.

I try to lead by example each day I enter the school building. A good leader always starts with questioning why things are being done. As a leader, I try to inspire and help others grow as educators, challenge them to reach each student, and embrace the leaders within themselves. I am an agent for change, and as such, I have learned how to examine a problem, conduct quality research directly related to the problem, collect data, analyze and interpret data, and allow the data to guide the direction for change. These skills have strengthened me as an agent for change and allowed me to contribute to change in education.

Reflection on Importance of the Work

It is rewarding to know that my work could affect student success, teachers' depth of knowledge, and my profession. In the professional development project, I provided the recommendations of the classroom teachers based on the needs identified from the themes. The professional development sessions can support and enhance the instruction provided in the local elementary ELL classrooms. This project is significant in ensuring that effective professional development is provided to support the needs of the teachers and diverse students at the local school and local school district. I learned that the importance of this study is in the positive social change it may provide the teachers and ELLs as new expectations and practices are used for instruction in the classrooms.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research Social Change

This project has the potential to result in positive social change for the organizations, schools, and the classroom level for the ELLs within the MSDSUS. The study findings indicated a need for instructional support for implementing instructional technology in the classroom for ELLs. Sharing the best practices for using instructional technology for ELLs is the aim of the professional development project. This project could influence the district's ELL department by directly addressing the specific use of

instructional technology for ELLs in alignment to their ACCESS scores and the WIDA standards during classroom instruction.

Implications and Applications

The results of this project study can result in teachers' effective use of instructional technology during reading instruction for their ELL students. I created this project study to improve teacher practice and knowledge of instructional technology use for ELLs in the classroom through professional development. In the professional development sessions, teachers are taught to select and use instructional technology best suited for ELLs' language and reading levels. Teachers, students, and schools will benefit from the knowledge acquired from the professional development project. This addresses the problem under study to better align how teachers might use instructional technology during reading instruction for ELLs. A result of this shift in professional development could be an increase in the reading achievement of the ELL population. The potential changes that result from this professional development could ensure that schools incorporate instructional technologies into their instruction and teachers receive continuous support to develop their strategies within the SAMR model, leading to enhanced reading instruction and transformative instructional practices.

The recommendations in the project were based on the boundaries of this study. The first recommendation was ongoing professional development training for K–5 teachers regarding the best practices for implementing instructional technology during ELLs' classroom reading instruction. The implementation and continued use of the best practices gained from the professional development sessions would allow teachers to incorporate the most beneficial instructional technology into their lesson plans. Their instructional technology selection will be based on ELLs' ACCESS data and WIDA standards for small group and independent student reading instruction. My second recommendation was that teachers be provided with timely and consistent coaching and feedback to reinforce the practices taught in the professional development sessions.

Direction for Future Research

The directions for future research are multifaceted. Future research may be conducted to determine the effects of professional development on the SAMR model's concept of redefinition. This project was limited to the responses of K–5 ELL teachers; however, valuable data may be gained by replicating this study for middle and high school teachers. Future studies may also be conducted to gain teachers' perspectives and understandings of instructional technology use in content areas other than reading.

Conclusion

This study shed light on the instructional technology use taking place during instruction for Grades 3–5 ELLs. The findings of this study could be used to positively impact change within the MSDSUS to improve instructional technology use for the reading instruction of ELLs in the classroom. I created a project with the goal of enhancing teachers' instructional technology use competency for reading through data analysis and collaborative practice. Education practitioners who employ the best practices from the professional development sessions and make efforts to continuously refine their use of instructional technology in the classroom may find some fulfillment in the growth and achievement their ELLs. Education practitioners who have strong knowledge and understanding of reading instructional technology may find it possible to better close students' reading gaps. If K–5 teachers would effectively adopt and implement instructional technology in their classrooms, then they could assign lessons more specific to the needs of each student and see more student reading growth, more English language development, and more overall student reading content mastery. If Grade K–5 students demonstrate content mastery and show reading growth, then the school will have more students proficient at their grade-level reading. As a result, the more reading proficient students there are in Grade K–5 schools, the better students are prepared for reading content mastery in middle and high school.

- Abdullah Kamal, S., Abdul Rahman, W., & Ghani, F. A. (2021). Challenges to parental involvement in children's ESL learning. *International Journal of Early Childhood Special Education*, *13*(2), 184–190. <u>https://doi.org/10.9756/int-</u> jecse/v13i2.211053
- Alenezi, A. (2017). Obstacles for teachers to integrate technology with instruction. *Education and Information Technologies*, 22(4), 1797-1816. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-016-9518-5</u>
- Alghasab, M. B., Alfadley, A., & Aladwani, A. M. (2020). Factors affecting technology integration in EFL classrooms: The case of Kuwaiti government primary schools. *Journal of Education and Learning*, *9*(4), 10-27.

https://doi.org/10.5539/jel.v9n4p10

- Alhejoj, K. (2020). A multiple case study of college mathematics instructors' technological pedagogical content knowledge (TPACK) and its relationship to the integration of information and communications technology (ICT) in their teaching Practices and students' learning (Publication No. 242445248) [Doctoral dissertation, Illinois Institute of Technology]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Al-Seghayer, K. (2016). ESL/EFL instructors' perceptions of the importance of computer-assisted reading in L2 reading instruction. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 6(9), 1753–1761. <u>https://doi.org/10.17507/tpls.0609.05</u>

Alsuhaibani, Z. (2019). The relationship between female EFL students' use of reading

strategies and their reading self-efficacy. *International Journal of Arabic-English Studies*, *19*(2), 373-394. <u>https://doi.org/10.33806/ijaes2000.19.2.8</u>

Archer, K., Savage, R., Sanghera-Sidhu, S., Wood, E., Gottardo, A., & Chen, V. (2014). Examining the effectiveness of technology use in classrooms: A tertiary metaanalysis. *Computers & Education*, 78, 140–149.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2014.06.001

- Bakhshandeh, S., & Jafari, K. (2018). The effects of input enhancement and explicit instruction on developing Iranian lower-intermediate EFL learners' explicit knowledge of passive voice. *Asian-Pacific Journal of Second and Foreign Language Education*, 3(1), 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40862-018-0060-4</u>
- Bober, M. (2016). Beyond Moodle and PowerPoint: Mobile and technology-enhanced learning in the humanities, languages and social sciences. *Learning and Teaching in Action*, 12(1), 35-50.
- Boeglin-Quintana, B., & Donovan, L. (2013). Storytime using iPods: Using technology to reach all learners. *TechTrends*, 6(57), 49–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-013-0701-x</u>
- Bower, M. (2019). Technology-mediated learning theory. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 50(3), 1035–1048. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12771</u>
- Busetto, L., Wick, W., & Gumbinger, C. (2020). How to use and assess qualitative research methods. *Neurological Research and practice*, 2(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42466-020-00059-z
- Cassidy, J., Ortlieb, E., & Grote-Garcia, S. (2016). Beyond the Common Core:

Examining 20 years of literacy priorities and their impact on struggling readers. *Literacy Research and Instruction*, *55*(2), 91–104. https://doi.org/10.1080/19388071.2015.1136011

- Chaochang, W. (2016). How teachers' beliefs are in accordance with major SLA notions. *Chinese Journal of Applied Linguistics*, *39*(3), 354–373. https://doi.org/10.1515/cjal-2016-0023
- Chauhan, S. (2017). A meta-analysis of the impact of technology on learning effectiveness of elementary students. *Computers & Education*, 105, 14-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2016.11.005</u>
- Chen, X., Zou, D., Cheng, G., & Xie, H. (2020). Detecting latent topics and trends in educational technologies over four decades using structural topic modeling: A retrospective of all volumes of Computers & Education. *Computers & Education*, 151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2020.103855</u>
- Codding, D., Alkhateeb, B., Mouza, C., & Pollock, L. (2021). From professional development to pedagogy: Examining how computer science teachers conceptualize and apply culturally responsive pedagogy. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education, 29*(4), 497-532.

https://learntechlib.org/primary/p/219931/

 Conn, C., Sujo-Montes, L., & Sealander, K. (2019). Using iBook features to support English language learners and struggling readers. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 35(5), 496–507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2019.1579128</u>

Creswell, J. W. (2012). Research design. SAGE.

- Creswell, J. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches.* SAGE.
- Creswell, J., & Plano Clark, V. (2011). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research* (2nd ed.). SAGE.

Darling-Aduana, J., & Heinrich, C. (2018). The role of teacher capacity and instructional practice in the integration of educational technology for emergent bilingual students. *Computers & Education*, *126*, 417–432.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2018.08.002

- Debacco, M. (2020). Teachers' and administrators' perspectives on the flipped classroom: A qualitative study in a high school setting (Publication No. 2369885551) [Doctoral dissertation, Ashford University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- De Oliveira, L. (2016). A language-based approach to content instruction (LACI) for English language learners: Examples from two elementary teachers. *International Multilingual Research Journal*, *10*(3), 217–231.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19313152.2016.1185911

- De Oliveira, L., & Westerlund, R. (2021). A functional approach to language development for dual language learners. *Journal of English Learner Education*, 12(1), 2.
- Dieker, L., Hynes, M., Hughes, C., Hardin, S., & Becht, K. (2015). TLE TeachLivE[™]: Using technology to provide quality professional development in rural schools. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, *34*(3), 11–16.

https://doi.org/10.1177/875687051503400303

- Ding, A., Ottenbreit-Leftwich, A., Lu, Y., & Glazewski, K. (2019). EFL teachers' pedagogical beliefs and practices with regard to using technology. *Journal of Digital Learning in Teacher Education*, 35(1), 20–39.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/21532974.2018.1537816
- Djiwandono, P. (2020). How SAMR-based vocabulary teaching shapes vocabulary learning strategies. *Teaching English with Technology*, 20(4), 41-58.
- Donmez, M., & Cagiltay, K. (2016). A review and categorization of instructional design models. In *E-Learn: World Conference on E-Learning in Corporate, Government, Healthcare, and Higher Education* (pp. 370-384). Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education.

https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/173964/

- Dorsey, W. (2015). Balanced reading basals and the impact on third-grade reading achievement. *Journal of Organizational & Educational Leadership*, *1*(2), 1. https://digitalcommons.gardner-webb.edu/joel/vol1/iss2/2
- Droop, M., van Elsäcker, W., Voeten, M., & Verhoeven, L. (2016). Long-term effects of strategic reading instruction in the intermediate elementary grades. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 9(1), 77-102.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2015.1065528

Duraku, Z. H., & Hoxha, L. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 on education and on the well-being of teachers, parents, and students: Challenges related to remote (online) learning and opportunities for advancing the quality of *education*. [Manuscript submitted for publication]. Department of Philosophy, University of Prishtina.

- Dwaik, R., Jweiless, A., & Shrouf, S. (2016). Using blended learning to enhance student learning in American literature courses. *TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 15(2), 126–137.
- Echevarria, J., Vogt, M., & Short, D. (2013). *Making content comprehensible for English learners: The SIOP model.* Pearson Education, Inc.
- Elliott, V. F. (2018). Thinking about the coding process in qualitative data analysis. *Qualitative Report*, 23(11).
- Eustic, J. (2018). Exploring repeated oral reading vs. silent sustained reading to improve fluency and comprehension of struggling readers in third grade (Publication No. 2013767661) [Doctoral dissertation, The William Paterson University of New Jersey]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Evmenova, A. S., Regan, K., Ahn, S. Y., & Good, K. (2020). Teacher implementation of a technology-based intervention for writing. *Learning Disabilities -- A Contemporary Journal*, 18(1), 27–46.
- Falloon, G. (2020). From digital literacy to digital competence: the teacher digital competency (TDC) framework. *Educational Technology Research & Development*, 68(5), 2449–2472. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-020-09767-4</u>
- Fogarty, M., Clemens, N., Simmons, D., Anderson, L., Davis, J., Smith, A., Wang, H., Kwok, O., Simmons, L., & Oslund, E. (2017). Impact of a technology-mediated reading intervention on adolescents' reading comprehension. *Journal of Research*

on Educational Effectiveness, 10(2), 326-353.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2016.1227412

- Gebre, E., Saroyan, A., & Aulls, M. (2015). Conceptions of effective teaching and perceived use of computer technologies in active learning classrooms. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 27(2), 204–220.
- Ghorbani, M., & Golparvar, S. (2020). Modeling the relationship between socioeconomic status, self-initiated, technology-enhanced language learning, and language outcome. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 33(5–6), 607–627.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2019.1585374
- González, M. (2020). Collaborative tasks for online language teaching. *Foreign Language Annals*, 53(2), 260–269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/flan.12466</u>
- Goodwyn, A. (2014). Reading is now "cool": A study of English teachers' perspectives on e-reading devices as a challenge and an opportunity. *Educational Review*, 66(3), 263-275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2013.768960</u>
- Hamilton, E., Rosenberg, J., & Akcaoglu, M. (2016). The substitution augmentation modification redefinition (SAMR) model: A critical review and suggestions for its use. *TechTrends*, 60(5), 433–441. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-016-0091-y</u>
- Hamutoglu, N. B., & Basarmak, U. (2020). External and internal barriers in technology integration: A structural regression analysis. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research*, 19, 17–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.28945/4497</u>

Hancock, D., & Algozzine, B. (2011). Doing case study research: A practical guide for

beginning researchers. Teachers College Press.

Handoko, A. G. (2020). The application of the SAMR model in the 12th-grade-English classroom of "S" senior high school. *Humanising Language Teaching*, *22*(4), 31.

Herraiz-Martínez, A. (2018). Technology and task-based language teaching (TBLT):
Exploring pragmatics. *International Journal of Education and Development* Using Information and Communication Technology, 14(2), 38–61.
https://www.learntechlib.org/p/184683/

- Hou, Y (2019). Thinking and educational technology in EFL classrooms: Effects on students' reading comprehension and engagement. *International Journal of Literacies*, 26(2), 19–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-0136/CGP/v26i02/19-34</u>
- Huang, Y., & Hong, Z. (2016). The effects of a flipped English classroom intervention on students' information and communication technology and English reading comprehension. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, *64*(2), 175-193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-015-9412-7</u>
- Hur, J. (2019). Mobile technology integration and English language learners: A case study. Early Childhood Development: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications (pp. 1049-1065). <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-7507-8.ch052</u>
- Jafari, S., Shokrpour, N., & Gutterman, T. (2015). A mixed methods study of teachers' perceptions of communicative language teaching in Iranian high schools. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies, 5*(4), 707–718.

https://doi.org/10.17507/tpls.0504.06

Johnson, E. (2017). Balancing comprehension and conversation: How elementary

teachers manage multiple purposes for text discussions. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 66, 325–337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.05.005</u>

- Jones, B. (2020). *The experiences of elementary teachers regarding technology integration in the classroom.* (Publication No. 2378873487) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Jones, L., Smith, S. L., & Durham, C. (2022). Teachers as digital composers: Designing digital jumpstarts to scaffold for emerging bilingual learners. *Computers & Education*, 189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2022.104592</u>
- Jozwik, S., & Mustian, A. (2020). Effects of technology-supported language experience approach for English learners with exceptional needs. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 36(5), 418–437. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2019.1655690</u>
- Kalinowski, E., Egert, F., Gronostaj, A., & Vock, M. (2020). Professional development on fostering students' academic language proficiency across the curriculum—A meta-analysis of its impact on teachers' cognition and teaching practices. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 88.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.102971

- Karatas, K., & Arpaci, I. (2021). The role of self-directed learning, metacognition, and
 21st century skills predicting the readiness for online learning. *Contemporary Educational Technology*, 13(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.30935/cedtech/10786</u>
- Karimi, M., & Dehghani, A. (2016). EFL teachers' beliefs/practices correspondence in reading instruction: Does language teacher education make a difference? *International Journal of Pedagogies and Learning*, 11(1), 35–48.

https://doi.org/10.1080/22040552.2016.1187648

- Karl, L. (2011). Elementary teachers' perceptions of technology proficiencies and motivation to integrate technology in school curriculi (Publication No. 915789260). [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Kelly, L. (2015). Language environment of dual language learners and the use of language support practices. New Waves-Educational Research and Development Journal, 18(2), 1-15.
- Kesharwani, A. (2020). Do (how) digital natives adopt a new technology differently than digital immigrants? A longitudinal study. *Information & Management*, 57(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2019.103170
- Kolobe, L., & Mihai, M. (2021). The integration of technology in supporting progressed learners in English first additional language comprehension. *Perspectives in Education*, 39(2), 303–323. <u>https://doi.org/10.18820/2519593X/pie.v39.i2.21</u>
- Koura, A. A., & Zahran, F. A. (2017). The impact of sheltered instruction observation protocol model on student teachers' teaching skills and self-efficacy. *Journal of Language Teaching & Research*, 8(4), 704–714.

https://doi.org/10.17507/jltr.0804.09

Kryeziu, S. A., Avdiu, T. A., & Avdiu, A. (2021). Examining the teachers, administrators and parents' view on drawbacks of technology use in education. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(2), 206–215. <u>https://doi.org/10.17051/ilkonline.2021.02.26</u>

Kumar, L., & Louise, S. (2018). Mobile computing devices in a secondary school in New
Zealand – Charting paths for the future in mobile learning. *International Journal* of Social Sciences & Educational Studies, 4(4), 1-9.

- Lamb, A. J., & Weiner, J. M. (2018). Extending the research on 1:1 technology integration in middle schools: A call for using institutional theory in educational technology research. *Middle Grades Review*, 4(1).
- Levinson, A., & Barrod, B. (2018). Latino immigrant families learning with digital media across settings and generations. *Digital Education Review*, 33, 150-169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1344/der.2018.33.150-169</u>
- Liman, A., & Karadeniz, S. (2021). Children's reading comprehension and motivation on screen versus on paper. SAGE Open, 11(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020988849
- Li, N. (2013). Seeking best practices and meeting the needs of the English language learners: Using second language theories and integrating technology in teaching. *Journal of International Education Research*, 9(3), 217.
- Li, S. (2020). Technology use and integration by six sheltered-instruction trained teachers (Publication No. 2440641966). [Doctoral dissertations, The University of Akron]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.
- Liu, M., Navarrete, C., & Wivagg, J. (2014). Potentials of mobile technology for K-12 education: An investigation of iPod touch use for English language learners in the United States. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, 17(2), 115–126.
- Liu, S., & Wang, J. (2015). Reading cooperatively or independently? Study on ELL student reading development. *Reading Matrix: An International Online*

Journal, 15(1), 102-120.

Lodico, M. G., Spaulding, D. T., & Voegtle, K. H. (2010). *Methods in educational research: From theory to practice*. Wiley & Sons.

Luo, R., Pace, A., Levine, D., Iglesias, A., de Villiers, J., Golinkoff, R. M., Wilson, M. S., & Hirsh-Pasek, K. (2021). Home literacy environment and existing knowledge mediate the link between socioeconomic status and language learning skills in dual language learners. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 55, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2020.10.007

- Luo, T., Lee, G.-L., & Molina, C. (2017). Incorporating IStation into early childhood classrooms to improve reading comprehension. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research*, 16, 247–266.
- Luo, Y.-F., & Yang, S. C. (2016). The effect of the interactive functions of whiteboards on elementary students' learning. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 54(5), 680–700. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633115628032</u>
- Lyddon, P. A. (2019). A reflective approach to digital technology implementation in language teaching: Expanding pedagogical capacity by rethinking substitution, augmentation, modification, and redefinition. *TESL Canada Journal*, *36*(3), 186– 200. <u>https://doi.org/10.18806/tesl.v36i3.1327</u>
- Maguire, M., & Delahunt, B. (2017). Doing a thematic analysis: A practical, step-by-step guide for learning and teaching scholars. AISHE-J: The All Ireland Journal of Teaching & Learning in Higher Education, 9(3), 3351–33514.

Mannon, C. (2021). An examination of traditional versus focused instruction on the

reading growth scores of elementary school students (Publication No.2524381484) [Doctoral dissertation, Union University]. ProQuest Dissertations

- Mayer, I. (2015). Qualitative research with a focus on qualitative data analysis. *International Journal of Sales, Retailing & Marketing*, 4(9), 53–67.
- Mayes, R., Natividad, G., & Spector, M. (2015). Challenges for educational technologists in the 21st century. *Education Sciences*, 5(3), 221–237.

https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci5030221

and Theses Global.

- Mayfield, H. M. (2016). Afterschool program effects on English learners' reading and teachers' reading curriculum perceptions. (Publication No. 1822180805)
 [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- McGinn, A., & Song, L. (2018). Teacher experiences with professional development for technology integration at a K-12 independent school: A multi-case study.
 In Society for Information Technology & Teacher Education International Conference (pp. 1098-1104).
- McLeod, S., & Graber, J. (2018). *Harnessing technology for deeper learning: Solutions* for creating the learning spaces students deserve. Solution Tree.
- Mei, B., Brown, G., & Teo, T. (2018). Toward an understanding of preservice English as a foreign language teachers' acceptance of computer-assisted language learning 2.0 in the people's republic of China. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 56(1), 74–104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633117700144</u>

- Meirovitz, T., & Aran, S. (2020). An investigation of digital thinking skills in EFL digital instruction. *Interdisciplinary Journal of E-Skills and Lifelong Learning*, 16, 19. <u>https://doi.org/10.28945/4610</u>
- Merriam, S. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. Jossey-Bass.
- Merriam, S., & Tisdell, E. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. Jossey-Bass.
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldaña, J. (2014). *Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook*. SAGE.
- Milhorn, A. (2021). Remote learning and third-grade reading performance in a 1:1
 district (Publication No. 2563500836) [Doctoral dissertation, East Tennessee
 State University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Mize, M., Park, Y., Schramm-Possinger, M., & Coleman, M. B. (2020). Developing a rubric for evaluating reading applications for learners with reading difficulties. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 55(3), 145-153. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451219842237
- Muijselaar, M., Swart, N., Steenbeek-Planting, E., Droop, M., Verhoeven, L., & de Jong,
 P. (2018). The effect of a strategy training on reading comprehension in fourthgrade students. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *111*(6), 690-703.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2017.1396439
- Newbold, W. L. (2013). Understanding current teaching practices used by mainstream teachers with English language learners (Publication No. 1462053634) [Doctoral

dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.

- Ngoc, K., & Iwashita, N. (2012). A comparison of learners' and teachers' attitudes toward communicative language teaching at two universities in Vietnam. University of Sydney Papers in TESOL, 7, 25–49.
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847</u>
- O'Connor, M., Geva, E., & Koh, P. W. (2019). Examining reading comprehension profiles of grade 5 monolinguals and English language learners through the lexical quality hypothesis lens. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *52*(3), 232–246. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219418815646
- Ottenbreit-Leftwich, A., Liao, J. Y.-C., Sadik, O., & Ertmer, P. (2018). Evolution of teachers' technology integration knowledge, beliefs, and practices: How can we support beginning teachers use of technology? *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 50(4), 283–305.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15391523.2018.1487350

- Owens-Hartman, A. R. (2015). A case study of technology choices by high school students [Doctoral dissertation, The University of Akron]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Ozturk, G., & Ohi, S. (2018). Understanding young children's attitudes towards reading in relation to their digital literacy activities at home. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, *16*(4), 393-406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1476718X18792684</u>

- Parenti, M., & Chen, X. (2015). Growing reading fluency: Engaging readers with technology and text. *Journal on School Educational Technology*, 10(4), 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.26634/jsch.10.4.3414</u>
- Park, H., & Kim, D. (2017). English language learners' strategies for reading online texts: Influential factors and patterns of use at home and in school. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 82, 63–74.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2017.01.002

- Pretorius, E., & Spaull, N. (2016). Exploring relationships between oral reading fluency and reading comprehension amongst English second language readers in South Africa. *Reading and Writing*, 29(7), 1449–1471. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-016-9645-9</u>
- Prince, J. (2018). Promising instructional practices for English language learners. Journal of Information Technology Education: Innovations in Practice, 17, 1–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.28945/3937</u>
- Quintana, M., & Zelaya, D. (2015). The TPACK model to prepare and evaluate lesson plans: An experience with pre-service teachers using social networks and digital resources. *Journal of Mobile Multimedia*, 11(1&2), 134-146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21532974.2014.891877</u>
- Rasinski, T., Paige, D., Rains, C., Stewart, F., Julovich, B., Prenkert, D., Rupley, W., & Nichols, W. (2017). Effects of intensive fluency instruction on the reading proficiency of third-grade struggling readers. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 33(6), 519-532 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2016.1250144</u>

Rombot, O., Boeriswati, E., & Suparman, M. (2020). Improving reading comprehension skills of international elementary school students through blended learning. *Al Ibtida: Jurnal Pendidikan Guru MI*, 7(1), 56–68.
https://doi.org/10.24235/al.ibtida.snj.v7i1.6045

Saldaña, J. (2016). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. Sage.

- Samat, S., & Aziz, A. (2020). The effectiveness of multimedia learning in enhancing reading comprehension among indigenous pupils. *Arab World English Journal*, 11(2), 290–302. <u>https://doi.org/10.24093/awej/vol11no2.20</u>
- Sanden, S., MacPhee, D., Hartle, L., Poggendorf, S., & Zuiderveen, C. (2022). The status of phonics instruction: Learning from the teachers. *Reading Horizons*, *61*(1), 69–92.
- Scherer, R., Siddiq, F., & Tondeur, J. (2020). All the same or different? Revisiting measures of teachers' technology acceptance. *Computers & Education*, 143, 103656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.103656
- Schildkamp, K. (2019). Data-based decision-making for school improvement: Research insights and gaps. *Educational Research*, 61(3), 257–273. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2019.1625716
- Seifert, T. (2016). Patterns of mobile technology use in teaching: The teacher perspective. *I-Manager's Journal of Educational Technology*, *13*(3), 1–17.
- Sessions, L., Kang, M. O., & Womack, S. (2016). The neglected "R": Improving writing instruction through iPad apps. *TechTrends: Linking Research and Practice to Improve Learning*, 60(3), 218–225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-016-0041-8</u>

Siefert, B., Kelly, K., Yearta, L., & Oliveira, T. (2019). Teacher perceptions and use of technology across content areas with linguistically diverse middle school students. *Journal of Digital Learning in Teacher Education*, 35(2), 107–121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21532974.2019.1568327</u>

Sweeney, T., West, D., Groessler, A., Haynie, A., Matheson Higgs, B., Macaulay, J., ... Yeo, M. (2017). Where's the transformation? Unlocking the potential of technology-enhanced assessment. *Teaching & Learning Inquiry: The ISSOTL Journal*, 5(1), 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.20343/5.1.5</u>

- Snow, C., & O'Connor, C. (2016). Close reading and far-reaching classroom discussion: Fostering a vital connection (A policy brief from the Literacy Research Panel of the International Reading Association). Newark, DE: International Reading Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/002205741619600102</u>
- Taghizadeh, M., & Yourdshahi, Z. (2020). Integrating technology into young learners' classes: Language teachers' perceptions. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 33(8), 982–1006. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2019.1618876</u>
- Taylor, D. B., Handler, L. K., FitzPatrick, E., & Whittingham, C. E. (2020). The device in the room: Technology's role in third grade literacy instruction. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 52(4), 515-533.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15391523.2020.1747577

Tavakoli, M., Zabihi, R., & Ghadiri, M. (2015). Adopting a mixed methods approach to assessing foreign language teachers' teaching/learning conceptions and their language teaching biases. *Current Psychology*, 34(4), 791–802. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-014-9291-9

Teng, F. (2019). The effects of context and word exposure frequency on incidental vocabulary acquisition and retention through reading. *Language Learning Journal*, 47(2), 145–158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09571736.2016.1244217</u>

Toste, J., & Ciullo, S. (2016). Reading and writing instruction in the upper elementary grades. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, *5*(52), 259–261 https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451216676835

Trainin, G., Hayden, H., Wilson, K., & Erickson, J. (2016). Examining the impact of QuickReads' technology and print formats on fluency, comprehension, and vocabulary development for elementary students. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 9(1), 93–116.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2016.1164778

- Union, C. D., Union, L. W., & Green, T. D. (2015). The use of eReaders in the classroom and at home to help third-grade students improve their reading and English/language arts standardized test scores. *TechTrends*, 59(5), 71–84.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-015-0893-3
- U.S. Department of Education. Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics. (2015). *Common core of data*.

https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/districtsearch/district_detail.asp?ID2=1302550

 U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics, National Assessment of Educational Progress (2015).
 "Various Years", 1992–2015 Reading Assessments. https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/reading_math_2015/#reading/acl?grade=4

- Van Allen, J., & Zygouris-Coe, V. (2019). Using guided reading to teach internet inquiry skills: A case study of one elementary school teacher's experience. *Reading Psychology*, 40(5), 425–464. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02702711.2019.1623961</u>
- Vasileiadou, I., & Makrina, Z. (2017). Using online computer games in the ELT classroom: A case study. *English Language Teaching*, 10(12), 134–150. <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v10n12p134</u>
- Warsen, G. & Vandermolen, R. (2020). When technology works: A case study using instructional rounds and the SAMR model. *Educational Leadership Review*, 21(1), 163-177.
- Watkinson, J. S., & Gallo-Fox, J. (2015). Supporting practice: Understanding how elementary school counselors use data. *Journal of Professional Counseling*, *Practice, Theory, & Research*, 42(1), 29.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15566382.2015.12033942

- Wesely, P., & Plummer, E. (2017). Situated learning for foreign language teachers in one-to-one computing initiatives. *CALICO Journal*, 34(2), 178–195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1558/cj.26907</u>
- Woodrich, M., & Fan, Y. (2017). Google docs as a tool for collaborative writing in the middle school classroom. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research*, 16, 391–410. <u>https://doi.org/10.28945/3870</u>
- Yamaç, A., Öztürk, E., & Mutlu, N. (2020). Effect of digital writing instruction with tablets on primary school students' writing performance and writing

knowledge. Computers & Education, 157.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2020.103981

Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods. SAGE.

- Young, C., Mohr, K., & Rasinski, T. (2015). Reading together: A successful reading fluency intervention. *Literacy Research and Instruction*, 54(1), 67–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19388071.2014.976678</u>
- Zhang, R., & Zou, D. (2022). Types, purposes, and effectiveness of state-of-the-art technologies for second and foreign language learning. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 35(4), 696–742.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2020.1744666

- Zheng, B., Yim, S., & Warschauer, M. (2018). Social media in the writing classroom and beyond. *The TESOL encyclopedia of English language teaching*, 1-5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118784235.eelt0555</u>
- Zientek, L., Skidmore, S., Saxon, D., & Edmonson, S. (2015). Technology priorities and preferences of developmental mathematics instructors. *The Community College Enterprise*, 21(1), 27.

Appendix A: The Project

The objective of this professional development project is to provide participants with opportunities to increase their instructional technology pedagogy. The participants will work collaboratively to create grade-level appropriate ELL reading lessons based on the knowledge acquired from ACCESS scores, WIDA Standards, the SAMR Model, the Padagogy Wheel, and the mentor text.

PD Day	Objectives	Findings Addressed
1	• understand ACCESS scores and WIDA standards	(a) reading differentiation
	• create grade level appropriate independent, partner, and small group student assignments	
2	• understand SAMR model and the big four shifts	(b) implementing appropriate instructional
	• revise or create grade level appropriate independent, partner, or small group student assignments using the SAMR model and mentor text	technology
3	• understand SAMR model and The Pedagogy Wheel	(c) overcoming barriers to implementing instructional
	• create a grade level appropriate lesson and independent student reading assignments using the SAMR model and The Pedagogy Wheel	technology

Alignment of Project Objectives to Research Findings

DAY 1

Day 1: Agenda

Session	ACCESS Scores and WIDA	Standard	ls for Classr	oom Technology
Title	Integration			9.00 4.00
Session	TBD		Session	8:00 a.m 4:00 p.m.
Date			Time	
Day 1	By the end of this session, partic	ipants will:	- t d d -	
Objective	understand ACCESS score create grade level appropriate	s and wiDA	lent partner ar	nd small group student
S	assignments	ate independ	ient, partner, ar	ia sinan group stadent
Findings	(a) reading differentiation			
addresse				
d				
Time:	Process:	Material	Facilitator:	Procedures/Strategies:
	As relevant, include guiding questions, activities, transitions, informal check for understanding, etc.	s:		What instructional strategies and procedures will be used and followed?
8:00-8:30	 Arrival, participant sign in, welcome, review of agenda/expectations/nor ms/ and the objective for the day Pre-assessment 	Sign in sheet	Instructiona l coach, Academic coach, or teacher leader	
8:30-8:35	Session 1: Video Introduction to WIDA	WIDA model YouTub e video	Instructiona l coach, Academic coach, or teacher leader	
8:35-9:35	ACCESS for ELLS Interpretive Guide for Score reports	PowerPo int presentat ion	Instructiona l coach, Academic coach, or teacher leader	 Introduce ACCESS score reports individual student scores Context Matters! Ways to Use Student Roster Reports
9:35-10:35	ACCESS for ELLS Interpretive Guide for Score reports	Activity Sort, tape, chart	Participants	1. Participants will work collaboratively to complete ACCESS

				146
		paper, markers		 proficiency level descriptor activity sort Participants will collaborate to correctly sort either kindergarten or 1-12 grade standards in order using chart paper to display their groups' work Each group will discuss with the whole group the decisions in selecting the order of standards
10:35-11:05	ACCESS for ELLS Interpretive Guide for Score reports	Sort, tape, laptop, internet access, chart paper, markers	Instructiona l coach, Academic coach, or teacher leader	1. The group will engage in discussion the correct order of the proficiency standards displayed on the facilitators' chart
11:05-11:20	Restroom Break		Participants	
11:20-12:00	Padlet Prompt	Padlet, compute r	Participants	 Participants will respond to Padlet prompt: What might be some obstacles to using a student's ACCESS scores for instruction? In what ways would you address those obstacles?
12:00-1:00	Lunch Break			
1:00-2:00	Teacher Work Period-Using WIDA standards and ACCESS scores for instruction	Sample student data, laptop, internet access, Microsof	Participants	1. Participants will work collaboratively to choose a grade-level reading standard based

					147
		t Word,			on the sample
		or			student's data
		Google		2.	Participants will
		Docs			create an
					independent
					student work
					partner work
					and small group
					nencil/naner
					reading
					assignments
					based on the
					sample
					students'
					ACCESS score
					and CAN Dos
2:00-2:15	Restroom Break		Participants		und Critt Dob.
2:15-3:15	Session 2: Teacher Work Period-		Participants		Continued
	Using WIDA standards and		1		
	ACCESS scores for instruction			1.	Participants will
					work
					collaboratively
					to choose a
					grade-level
					reading
					standard based
					on the sample
					student's data
				2.	Participants will
					create an
					independent
					student work,
					partner work,
					and small group
					pencil/paper
					reading
					assignments
					based on the
					sample
					students'
					ACCESS score
					and CAN Dos.
				3.	Each group will
					present
					completed
					assignment to
					whole group for
					feedback.

				148	
3:15-3:35	Show Your Learning	Blooket, laptop, internet access	Instructiona l coach, Academic coach, or teacher leader	1. Participants will use game-like technology, Blooket, to answer questions pertaining to ACCESS and WIDA	
3:35-4:00	Closing		Participants	Padlet Response 1. Participants will respond to the prompt posted: From your perspective, what is the one most important take away from today's session?	
Read anchor text chapters 1 and 2					
 Facilitator Prep: Check attendance roster Review participant responses on Padlet 					
Review next day's PowerPoint presentation					

Day 1: Materials

Time	Session	Materials	URLs
8:00-	Arrival	• Sign in sheet	
8:30			
8:30-	Session	YouTube video	https://youtu.be/IqXJbL
8:35	1		<u>NfAQ0</u>
8:35-	Session	• ACCESS for ELLS Interpretive	https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1 FAIpOLSd6apfR_fWSd6h9z5X85u
9:35	1	Guide for Score reports	Zv5jxJ-
		• Pre-assessment	<u>ftHCuRpTC_V7Dm1E6ENpA/viewf</u> orm?usp=sharing
9:35-	Session	ACCESS for ELLS Interpretive	
11:05	1	Guide for Score reports	
		• Laptop	
		Activity sort	
		• Tape, chart paper, markers	
11:20-	Session	Laptop	https://padlet.com/ingra
12:00	1	• Padlet	mpollack/e6shsl3g9mlc
			gpli
1:00-	Session	• Sample student data	
3:15	2	• laptop, internet access	
		 Microsoft Word, or Google Docs 	
3:15-	Session	• Blooket	https://play.blooket.com
3:35	2	• Laptop	/play
		Internet Access	
3:35-	Session	• Padlet	https://padlet.com/ingra
4:00	2		mpollack/e6shsl3g9mlc
			gpli

Day 1: Spe	aker Notes
Day 1	Key message
slide 1	In this presentation, we will cover more in-depth, how ACCESS scores are derived and used for ELLs in content areas, and how the WIDA standards can be used to guide instruction.
slide 2	 Review the agenda for the day and point of the scheduled break. Let participants know where they can locate restrooms in the building. Ensure that participants have access to WIFI
slide 3	Introduce the norms. Depending on size of the crowd, select a few participants to respond.
	Question- Which of these norms do you value the most and why?
slide 4	Review the learning objectives for the day.
slide 5	 Participants will need to access to WIFI to complete pre-assessment. Participants will complete a similar post assessment during the last session.
slide 6	Click link in image to play video.
slide 7	 Introduce the slide and pass out copies of guide to participants or participants can use the hyperlink to access the electronic interpretive guide. Read and lead a discussion over: Understanding Scores (pg. 2) Can Do Descriptors (pg. 2) WIDA English Language Development Standards (pg. 2)
slide 8	 Introduce the slide, read, and lead a discussion on: Student Score Reports (pg. 4) List of the Proficiency Level Descriptors (pg. 4) Participants should contribute heavily to the discussion.
slide 9	 Introduce the slide, read, and lead a discussion on: Context Matters! (5) Scale Scores (pg. 5) Participants should contribute heavily to the discussion.
slide 10	 Introduce the slide, read, and lead a discussion on Group Scores: Student Roster Reports (pg. 10) Uses for Roster Reports (pg. 10) Participants should contribute heavily to the discussion.
slide 11	 Prepare participants for group sort activity by passing out the mixed sorts to groups and having the participants engage in discussion as they correctly sort the proficiency level descriptors by levels. Encourage participants to use the verbs listed in the descriptors to help them correctly complete the sort

	171
	• Lead each group in a discussion of how and why they selected each standard to level (pg. 12-14)
slide 12	There is a timer embedded in each restroom break slide. Click the image to begin the timer.
slide 13	There is a hyperlink embedded in the Padlet image. Click on the image to review the question response the participants will complete. The participants can use their device to type in the Padlet web address to answer the question.
	Question- What might be some obstacles to using a student's ACCESS scores for instruction? In what ways would you address those obstacles?
slide 14	Dismiss the participants for lunch. Click the image to begin the timer that is embedded in the image.
slide 15	Introduce the slide and tell the participants they will work with a partner or in a small group of three to complete the activity. Participants will be provided with the current school year reading standards by grade level, CAN DO descriptors, and sample student's data to complete the activity. Facilitate during the work period and provide support as each group engages in completing the activity. Reserve time to allow for each group to present their completed activity to the whole group and receive feedback.
slide 16	Introduce the slide and tell the participants will need either a mobile device or their computer to access Blooket. Each participant will enter the code projected on the audience screen to gain access as a player. Begin the interactive game by explaining the directions for completion. The participant who answers the most questions pertaining to ACCESS and WIDA correctly first will have their virtual vehicle progress across the screen the fastest. The vehicle that makes it across the finish line first is the winner for the session.
slide 17	Introduce the slide and tell each participant they will provide a response in Padlet. The participants are dismissed for the day they have answered the question. Question- From your perspective, what is the one most important take away from today's session?

Day 1: Professional Development Materials and Resources

Day 1 Materials: PowerPoint





Slide 5	Pre-	Assessment
Instructional Te Language Learn Pre-Assessment Survey	echnology Use for English ners	What types of instructional technology do you use with your English Language * Learners?
& e20057428@dekalbschools * Required	sga.org (not shared) Switch account	Your answer
Name and position * Your answer		What new ideas do you hope to gain from these sessions? *
How familiar are you with the A	ACCESS scores and the WIDA standards? *	
no knowledge of them	2 3 4 5	What information will be of great value to you? * Your answer
How familiar are you with the S	SAMR model? *	Submit Clear form
1 no knowledge of them	2 3 4 5	





Slide 8

Individual Student Scores

Domain Scores

The Individual Student Report contains detailed information about a student's performance on each section of ACCESS for ELLs. It is primarily for students, parents or guardians, and teachers. It provides a snapshot of how well the student understands and can produce the language needed to access the academic content presented in an English-medium classroom. The Individual Student Report shows a proficiency level and a scale score for each of the four language domains.

Student Score Reports

		
Language Domain	Proficiency Level (Postble1.0-60) 1 2 3 4 5 6	Scale Score (Possible 100400) and Confidence Band See Interpretive Guide for Score Reports for definitions 100 200 300 400 500 600
Listening	4.0	368 Y
Speaking	2.2	320 [
Reading 🚺	5.5	530
Writing	1.5	100

Proficiency levels are interpretive scores. In other words, they are based on, but separate from, scale scores. The proficiency level score describes the student's performance in terms of the six WIDA English Language Proficiency Levels.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Level 5 Level 6	Entoring	Emorging	Developing	Expanding	Bridging	Desching
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5	Level 6

The proficiency level score is a whole number followed by a decimal. The whole number reflects the student's proficiency level, and the number after the decimal reflects how far the student has progressed within that level. For example, a student with a score of 3.7 is at proficiency level 3 and is over halfway toward achieving proficiency level 4. At the bottom of the individual Student Report, each proficiency level achieved by the student is explained in terms of what they can do using English. A <u>complete list of the proficiency level descriptors</u> is included in this document.

Take care when comparing proficiency level scores across grades. A second grader with a 4.0 in Listening and a 3.0 in Speaking is demonstrating more developed listening skills than speaking skills. However, proficiency levels are relevant to the context of a particular grade level. A second grader with a 4.0 in Listening and an eighth grader with a 4.0 in Listening are exposed to very different, grade-level appropriate content as they test. While their score reports reflect the same proficiency level, the eighth grader is demonstrating more skill by responding to more challenging content.

It's also important to consider grade-appropriate expectations when students in different grades take the same grade-level cluster test. For example, when a sixth grader and an eighth grader take the grades 6-8 test and both earn proficiency level scores of 4.0, this is the result of the eighth grader earning a higher scale score. The eighth grader must perform better than the sixth grader to earn the same proficiency level score because the proficiency level is grade specific.

Slide 9

Group Scores

Student Roster Report

The Student Roster Report contains information on a group of students within a single school and grade. Like the Individual Student Report, the Student Roster Report provides scale scores and proficiency levels for individual language domains and composite areas for each student, giving teachers, administrators, and program coordinators and directors an overview of their students' English language skills and a place to look for patterns in student performance.

Use the Student Roster Report...

- ... to identify patterns in student performance. Consult with colleagues about factors that might explain similarities and differences in how various groups of students perform.
- to verify that student scores reflect reasonable expectations. For example, you can expect that students new to an English medium school context or who have had limited or interrupted formal schooling will be at the lower end of the scale. For students with particularly high scores, consider whether their classroom engagement and schoolwork further indicate that they might be ready to exit language support programs.
- ... to group students for instructional planning or classroom support purposes.
- ... to develop school and district improvement plans or educator professional development opportunities that target the areas in which students are struggling.

ACCESS for ELLs Paper features two separate test forms for each grade-level cluster, an easier one (Tier A) and a more challenging one (Tier B/C).

ACCESS for ELLs Online features adaptive Listening and Reading tests, meaning students see easier or harder questions based on their performance. The tier shown on score reports reflects the average difficulty level of the questions the student answered.

The ACCESS for ELLs Speaking test is unique in offering a Pre-Tier A level. This test, intended specifically for newcomer students, doesn't allow students to earn a proficiency score above level 1. Torres, Carlos Birth Date: | Grade: 04

WIDA ACCESS for ELLS' English Language Proficient

Student Roster Report Reading ning Speaking Individual Student Rep Tier Cluster Prof Level Scale Score Prof Level Scale Prof Score Level 6.0 391 1.9 391 31 352 5.7 352 6.0 5.7 228 273 24 26

Student Roster Reports



Slide 11

Group Activity Sort

READING		LISTENING	
evel Students at this level generally can		Students at this level generally can	
derstand written language in English from all academic classes, for example: Evaluate written information from various sources of information Conduct research and synthesize information from multiple sources Distinguish various processes based on details in written texts Recognize different ideas, claims, and evidence about a variety of issues	6	understand oral language in English and participate in all academic classes, for example: Synthesize information from multiple speakers Recognize language that conveys information with precision and accuracy Create models or visuals to represent detailed information presented orally Identify strengths and limitations of different points of view	
derstand written language in English from all academic classes, for example: Summarize information on a variety of topics and for a variety of purposes Compare ideas and information across various texts Identify causes, effects, and consequences of events from written information Recognize claims and supporting evidence around specific issues or concepts	5	understand oral language in English and participate in all academic classes, for example: Expand on others' ideas Distinguish events, people, or situations from oral descriptions Recall key information and details about processes or concepts discussed orally Identify examples and reasons that support an opinion or viewpoint	
derstand written language related to specific topics in school, for example: Distinguish viewpoints and justifications described in editorials and other written texts Identify main ideas and details in informational and fictional texts Recognize biases and diverse perspectives in written text Connect claims, evidence, and examples in a variety of written sources	4	understand oral language in English related to specific topics in school and can participate in class discussions, for example: • Exchange information and ideas with others • Connect people and events based on oral information • Apply key information about processes or concepts presented orally • Identify positions or points of view on issues in oral discussions	
derstand written language related to common topics in school and can participate in s discussions, for example: Classify main ideas and examples in written information Identify main information that tells who, what, when, or where something happened Identify steps in written processes and procedures Recognize language related to claims and supporting evidence	3	understand oral language related to specific common topics in school and can participate in class discussions, for example: • Connect spoken ideas to own experiences • Find, select, and order information from oral descriptions • Identify the causes and effects of events or situations discussed orally • Classify pros and cons of issues in discussions	
derstand written language related to specific familiar topics in school and can ticipate in class discussions, for example: Identify main adeas in written information Identify main actors and events in stories and simple texts with pictures or graphs Sequence pictures, events, or steps in processes Distinguish between claim and evidence statements	2	understand oral language related to specific familiar topics in school and can participate in class discussions, for example: Identify main topics in discussions Categorize or sequence information presented orally using pictures or objects Follow short oral directions with the help of pictures Sort facts and opinions stated orally	
derstand written texts that include visuals and may contain a few words or phrases in lish, for example: Interpret information from graphs, charts, and other visual information Comprehend short text with illustrations and simple and familiar language Identify steps in processes presented in graphs or short texts with illustrations Identify words and phrases that express opinions and claims	1	understand oral messages that include visuals and gestures and may contain a few everyday words or phrases in English, for example: • Recognize familiar words and phrases in conversations • Match information from oral descriptions to objects, figures, or illustrations • Follow one-step oral directions • Show agreement or disagreement with oral statements	
	Intervention Inter	Interest at this level generally can Level derstand written language in English from all academic classes, for example: Evaluate written information from various sources of information Conduct research and synthesize information from multiple sources 6 Distinguish various processes based on details in written texts 6 Recognize different ideas, claims, and evidence about a variety of issues 5 Compare ideas and information across various texts 1 Identify causes, effects, and consequences of events from written information 4 Recognize claims and supporting evidence around specific issues or concepts 4 Identify causes, effects, and consequences of events from written information 4 Recognize claims and supporting evidence around specific issues or concepts 4 Identify main ideas and details in informational and fictional texts 4 Recognize biases and diverse perspectives in written text 5 Connect claims, evidence, and examples in a variety of written sources 3 Identify main information that tells who, what, when, or where something happened identify steps in written roces and processes and proceed sees and proceed sees and processes 2 Giscussions, for example: 1 1 Identify main information inform	



158







DAY 2

DAY 2: AGENDA

Session Title	Understanding the SAMR model for ELLs Classroom Technology Integration			
Session Date	TBD		Session Time	8:00 a.m
				4:00 p.m.
Day 2	By the end of this ses	sion, participants wi	11:	
Objectives	understand SAN	MR model and the bi	ig four shifts	
	• revise or create	grade level appropri	ate independent, p	artner, or small
Findings	(b) implementing approx	opriate instructions	al technology	
addressed	(a) impromotion g appro-	·p·····	ar totennorogj	
Time:	Process:	Materials:	Facilitator:	Procedures/Strat
	As relevant, include			egies:
	guiding questions,			**/1
	informal check for			wnat instructional
	understanding, etc.			strategies and
				procedures will
				followed?
8:00-8:30	Arrival, participant	Sign in sheet	Instructional	
	sign in, welcome,		coach,	
	review of		Academic	
	agenda/expectations/n		coach, or	
	objective for the day		leader	
8:30-9:30	Session 1:	SAMR model	Instructional	1. Participants
	Introduction	YouTube video,	coach,	will read
	to SAMR	article, PowerPoint	t Academic	article
	model article		coach, or	independen
	• How to Apply		leader	engage in
	the SAMR		Tettaer	group
	Model with			discourse to
	Ruben			answer
	Puentedura			question
	• From your			to the
	• From your			SAMR
	what parts of			model.
	the SAMR			
	model do you			
	use the most			
	in your practice with			
	ELLs and			
	why?			

0.20 10.20	Uamassina	montor tout to 1-	Instantional	1	Dontining
9:30-10:30	 Framessing Technology for Deeper Understanding Chapter 1 What positives and benefits do you see about technology in classrooms for ELLs? 	reacted lessons, PowerPoint presentation	Academic coach, or teacher leader	2.	will read and discuss in small groups chapter 1 from the mentor text Participants will join in the whole group discussion to answer the question presented from chapter 1.
10:30-10:45	Restroom Break				
10:45-11:45	 Harnessing Technology for Deeper Understanding Chapter 2 What do you like or dislike about each section? Why? Which sections or items seem to be going well in your school? Provide an example. 	mentor text, teacher created lessons PowerPoint presentation tape, laptop, internet access, chart paper, markers	Instructional coach, Academic coach, or teacher leader	1.	Participants will work in small groups to read and discuss chapter 2 of mentor text. Each group will be assigned 1 of the 4 Big Shifts to share out with the whole group. Each group will respond to the questions presented from chapter 2
11:45-12:00	Padlet Prompt	Padlet, computer	Participants	2.	Participants will
	• What might be some				respond to Padlet prompt

				164
12:00-1:00 1:00-2:30	obstacles to using the SAMR model to create instruction lessons for ELLs? In what ways would you address those obstacles? Lunch Break Teacher Work Period • Using student assignments created from day 1, apply the protocol from the text to analyze each student assignment	teacher created lesson, mentor text, laptop, internet access, Microsoft Word, or Google Docs	Instructional coach, Academic coach, or teacher leader	 3. Participants will work with a partner and will use one of the lessons created in the previous session to apply one of the 4 Big Shifts lookfors and think - abouts from the text 4. Participants will provide examples from the lesson to each question response
2:30-2:45	Restroom Break			•
2:45-3:30	Session 2: Presentations		Participants	1. Each group will present completed assignmen t to whole group for feedback

				165
3:30-3:45	Show Your Learning	Blooket, laptop, internet access	Instructional coach, Academic coach, or teacher leader	2. Participants will use game-like technology, Blooket, to answer questions pertaining to SAMR model and mentor text chapter 2.
3:45-4:00	Closing • What ideas from today's sessions were novel to you and your practice?		Participants	Padlet Response 1. Particip ants will respon d to the prompt posted
Next Session: • Read an Facilitator Prep • Check a • Review • Review	chor text chapters 3 and 5 : uttendance roster participant responses on P next day's PowerPoint pre	adlet		

Time	Session	Materials	URLs
8:00-	Arrival	• Sign in sheet	
8:30 8:30- 9:30 9:30- 10:30	Session 1 Session 1	 YouTube video SAMR Model article PowerPoint mentor text teacher created lesson 	https://youtu.be/ZQTx2UQQvbU
		 PowerPoint 	
10:45- 11:45	Session 1	• mentor text	
11:45- 12:00	Session 1	• Padlet	https://padlet.com/ingrampollack/e6shsl3g9mlcgp1i
1:00-2:30	Session 2	 teacher created lesson mentor text laptop internet access Microsoft Word, or Google Docs 	
3:30- 3:45	Session 2	 Blooket Laptop Internet Access 	https://play.blooket.com/play
3:45- 4:00	Session 2	• Padlet	https://padlet.com/ingrampollack/e6shsl3g9mlcgp1i

DAY 2: Materials & Resources

DAY 2: Spe	aker Notes
Day 2	Key message
slide 1	In this presentation, we will cover more in-depth, the SAMR model and the Big Four Shifts
slide 2	 Review the agenda for the day and point of the scheduled break. Let participants know where they can locate restrooms in the building. Ensure that participants have access to WIFI
slide 3	Introduce the norms. Depending on size of the crowd, select a few participants to respond. Question- Based on your session yesterday, which of these norms do you value the most and why?
slide 4	Review the learning objectives for the day.
slide 5	Participants will need to access to WIFI to use electronic versions of the articles. Prepare the participants by clicking the image to view the embedded video on the SAMR model. Follow up the video with a quick summary from the major points from the video.
slide 6-slide 8	 Pass out copies the article "How to Use SAMR Model in Designing Instruction" or participants can view the electronic version of the article by . Allow participants time to read through the article independently, then present the following questions and facilitate participants' group discussion. Ouestion: From your perspective, what parts of the SAMR model do you use the
	most in your practice with ELLs and why?
slide 9	 Pass out the mentor text "Harnessing Technology for Deeper Learning" to each participant. Participants will work in pairs or small groups to read chapter 1 of the book. Project the question below on the screen and ask participants to keep the question in mind as they read the chapter and engage in discourse. Facilitate and provide guidance and support as needed. Reserve time for participant groups to present their responses to the whole group. Question: What positives and benefits do you see about technology in classrooms for ELLs?
slide 10	There is a timer embedded in each restroom break slide. Click the image to begin the timer.
slide 11	Participants will work in pairs or small groups to read chapter 2 of the book. Project the questions below on the screen and ask participants to keep the questions in mind as they read the chapter and engage in discourse. Assign one of the 4 Big Shifts to each group to share out with the whole group. Facilitate and provide guidance and support as needed. Reserve time for participant groups to present their responses to the whole group.
	Questions: What do you like or dislike about each section? Why?; Which sections or items seem to be going well in your school? Provide an example.
slide 12	There is a hyperlink embedded in the Padlet image. Click on the image to review the question response the participants will complete. The participants can use their device to type in the Padlet web address to answer the question.
	Question - What might be some obstacles to using the SAMR model to create instruction lessons for ELLs? In what ways would you address those obstacles?

Dismiss the participants for lunch. Click the image to begin the timer that is
embedded in the midge.
Participants will work with a partner to complete the activity. The participants will use the student assignments created from day one to apply one of the 4 Big Shifts protocols from the text to analyze each student assignment. Reserve time to allow for each group to present their completed activity with examples to the whole group and receive feedback.
There is a timer embedded in each restroom break slide. Click the image to begin the timer.
Participants will need either a mobile device or their computer to access Blooket. Each participant will enter the code projected on the audience screen to gain access as a player. Begin the interactive game by explaining the directions for completion. The participant who answers the most questions pertaining to the SAMR and chapter 2 of the mentor text correctly first will have their virtual vehicle progress across the screen the fastest. The vehicle that makes it across the finish line first is the winner for the session.
Each participant will provide a response in Padlet. The participants are dismissed for the day they have answered the question. Ouestion- What ideas from today's sessions were novel to you and your practice?
_
Day 2 Materials: PowerPoint





Slide 4

Learning Objectives

By the end of this session, participants will:

- understand SAMR model and the big four shifts
- revise and create SAMR model and mentor text grade level appropriate independent, partner, or small group student assignments



g / 🖻 🛯 🕤 Đ

Slides 5-8

The SAMR Model (Click for electronic article)

CATION • SEP 26, 2022

How to Use SAMR Model in Designing Instruction (An EdTech Integration Guide)



by Imed Bouchrika, Phd Chief Data Scientist & Head of Content

y

At least 75% of educators perceive educational technology (EdTech) as an essential and helpful aspect of their pedagogical toolkits, according to a 2019 survey focusing on the 21st-century classroom (Vega and Robb, 2019). At its onset in eny 2020, COVID-19 blowed that schools cannot provide in person education at all times. While this health crists brought massive challenges to teachers, it also provided an opportunity to refine their craft when it comes to integrating technologies, such as USM in education. The SAMR model, a practical guide for EdTech integration that can amplify teaching and learning, is one of the tools used by educators

It has been established that interactive EdTech tools help drive student engagement. As a planning and reflection the SAMR model encourages educators to think of ways to promote student engagement. The various stages of the SAMR model allow each lesson to pass through a spectrum where learning and teaching are transformed while enhancing the teacher's knowledge and skills (Hamilton, Rosenberg & Akcaoglu, 2016).

This article will discuss the SAMR model as an EdTech integration tool. The utility of the SAMR model in EdTech, the framework's benefits and drawbacks, as well as SAMR model examples are included in the discussion.

The SAMR Model (Click for electronic article)

How to Use SAMR Model in Designing Ins

SAMR Model: A Practical Guide for EdTech Integration Table of Contents

What is the SAMR model? Why use the SAMR model for EdTech inte How to use SAMR in Designing Instruction SAMR Model Benefits and Drawbacks

12/11/22, 1:57 PM



How to Use SAMR in Designing Instruction

n/how-to-use-same-model-in-designing-in

Designing instruction requires a lot of reflection. In making lesson plans, teachers first define the specific learning outcomes, from which the design of instruction will be based. The concept of instructional core pools that change in learning will only occur if there are improvements in three critical, independent realism-belevel of content, the teacher's showledge and skill, and sudent engagement (C) yet al. 2011). The following SAMR lesson plan examples make use of the SAMR model template by using the guide questions as transition leaders.

Substitution

Start by asking the benefits of the technology to be adopted:

What will my students gain by replacing the older technology with the new technology?

Activity 1: Working in groups, students will be asked to analyze the character in a text. The students will be given the option to do the analysis on paper, or use StoryboardThat, an app for making storyboards. Activity 2: Students will be asked to write an essay on climate change. Students have the option to write the essay on paper or type it using the computer. Teachers may also ask students to submit tasks online rather than turn in a hard row.

These examples do not change the nature of teaching or learning. The use of technology, however, facilitated sifferentiated instruction by enabling students to perform tasks in their preferred method. The use of techno

What is the SAMR model?

57 PM

As defined by its proponent Dr. Reuben Puertedura (2014), the SAMR model is a tool that helps teachers think about how and why they use technology in teaching, and how technology can help them evolve pedagogically. The SAMR model stands for substitution (S3, augmentation (A), modification (M), and redefinition (R). The framework presents four ways in which technology can be integrated into teaching.

How to Use SAMR Model in Designing Instruction (An EdTech Integration Guide) | Research.com

With substitution, technology acts as a simple substitute to classroom tools delivering no functional change. With augmentation, technology is used to improve learning activities. With modification, the use of technology brings significant redesign to instruction, while with redefinition, the use of technology completely alters the traditional way of instruction.



Substitution and augmentation are grouped as 'enhancement' tools, while modification and redefinition are considered as 'transformation' tools. Puentedura's framework has substitution at the lowest level and redefinition at the highest level. For educators that are more familiar with Bloom's Transonomy, the substitution and augmentation methods are typically equated with the first three levels of Bloom's framework (knowledge, comprehension, and application), while modification and redefinition are perceived as on the same level as the upper three of Bloom's learning stages (analysis, synthesis, and revaluation).

With the SAMR model, Puentedura suggests that as teachers reflect on integrating technology with the lear experience, they often have questions on how they can effectively use technology. Again, Puentedura pictu questions in levels like that of the SAMR framework.

The question at each level is typically presented as follows:

Substitution: "What will I gain by replacing the task with technology?" Augmentation: "Does the technology add new features that improve the task?" Medification: "Does the task significantly change with the use of technology?" Redefinition: "Does the technology allow for the creation of a new task previously inconceivable?"

In asking these questions, the educator is able to determine how technology can enhance instructional design to increase student engagement in the teaching and learning process.

M/hurusa the CAMD model for EdTach integration?

157 PM How in Use SAMR Model in Dwigning Instruction (An Efficient Impaction Galdo) Research com mode & possible for studients to submit their tasks online, which also provided the teacher with a faster and more efficient way of providing timely feedback.

Augmentation

The following guide questions can be used to transition from substitution to augmer

Does this new technology add an improvement to the task process that could not have been accomplished with the idee technology at a basic lever? How does this feature contribute to the task goals/outcomes?

Activity 1: Students will be asked to illustrate a mind map of their lesson by capturing images that will represent their learnings. Applications such as Skitch or Seesaw can be used for the task. Using online tools, students will be asked to record, anotate, draw and caption anything that will represent the student's learning experience.

By giving the students a variety of ways to respond to a single question, the teacher is empowering the students and, at the same time, the teacher is also able to monitor the learning progress of each student to none platform. This method also gives the teacher an entrive) different picture of each student's tearning.

Activity 2: Students will be asked to submit exit tickets using Mentimeter or Kahoot. The teacher will ask a parting question, and Students turn in tickets theorie leaving the classroom. Instead of writing their answer on a piece of pa students can submit their exit tickets through the app.

In the Augmentation examples mentioned, technology improved the task by enabling the students to use different ty of media to document their learning. This enables the treather to assess the extent of learning, while at the same thanging the ability or people to each student and identify the particular areas that they are having difficulty in their student to the student and interpret the particular areas that they are having difficulty in these examples, technology offered functional improvement because the teacher is able to view learning in a different way through the use of approximation of the student and interpret the particular areas that they are used.



Modificatio

The following guide questions can be used to transition from augmentation to modification

How is the original task being modified? Is the technology essential to the modification of the task? How does this modification contribute to the task goals/outcomes?

n Sense Media

Activity 1: Using Geogle Workspace or Office 355, such proup of tradients will be asked to perform research on a particular topic during dass hours. The final output should include a research where up, a presentation using Power and other presentation tools, and an indegraphic. The dejection is facilitate real-time calaboration within the gro while at the same time making each member responsible for specific requirements.

Research.com



Slide 9 The SAMR Model

(Click for electronic article)

12/11/22, 1:57 PM How to Use SAMR Model in De

This task involves significant redesign because instead of working on tasks individually, students learn to collaborate real-time using technology. Without technology, the task would require more time. The technology significantly char the task by providing new features of creation.

Activity 2: Using Flipgrid, each group of students will be given topics for discussion. Students will be required to share their thoughts on the topic, and respond as well to the thoughts or ideas of their peers.

Since this age allows teachers to facilitate video discussion, facilitating this striktly can improve the discusses, taking of students, while at the same time tracking them to respond or give reactions in a patie and constructive manner. This practice also teachers include thinking as usuations relies of the tops can derive drive way on how to respond to points raised by their peers. In the activities presented, it would be difficult to achieve the learning objectives without the use of technology.

Redefinition

The following guide questions can be used to transition from modification to redefinition:

- What is the new task?
 What is the new task?
 Will any portion of the original task be retained?
 How is the new task uniquely made possible by the new technology?
 How does it contribute to the task goals/outcomes?

Activity 1: Using music production apps such as Bandlab and video creation tools like Quik, students will be asked to create a multimedia presentation or a short film about the lesson by integrating video and music. Activity 2: Using Skype, the class will have a virtual field trip to a museum in Egypt. The museum curator will give the students a tour of the museum as an enhancement of the current lesson on ancient Egypt. After the tour, the students will be required to share insights on the topic.

Both examples are learning experiences that can only happen with the integration of technology. Both activities are previously inconceivable in the confines of the classroom. In using different EdTech tools, students are empowered to apply concepts burned and creates something as a result of the learning experience.



SAMR Model Benefits and Drawbacks

earch.com/education/how-to-use-samr-model-in-designing-instruction

In designing instruction, it is important to carefully consider the affordances and limitations of various technologies. The SAMR model, a practical guide for EdTech integration, is both a planning tool and a reflection tool. It benefits

12/11/22, 1:57 PM How to Use SAMR Model in Designing Instruction (An EdTech Integra n Guide) | Re teachers by providing a framework from which they can assess how they are using technology in teaching, and how technology can enhance instruction.

The SAMR model also benefits students because technology drives engagement. In using technology, students are given control of their learning process while at the same time giving them the freedom to express their understanding of particular topics through creative channels. This empowement also benefits the teacher because an entirely different perspective of learning is often presented by students that teachers might not be able to discover had it not been for the use of technology.

On the other hand, scholars in the field of education have identified three challenges of the SAMR model—the absence of context, rigid structure, and the model's focus on product over process. Context includes social economics of the scholar or the community, the teacher's technological alcowedge, administrative support, as well as other factors that have a direct effect on technology integration in the classroom. The SAMR model is also perceived as rigid, as it does no reflect higher levels of learning outcomes as presented by Bloom's Taxonomy. Some educators also observed that the SAMR model is too focused on technological adoption.

Hamilton et al. (2016) in their work "The Substitution Augmentation Modification Redefinition (SAMR) Model: A Critical Review and Suggestions for its Use" provided a critical review of the SAMR model using theory and prior research. Published in Tech Trends, the authors concluded that "The SAMR model may underemphasize the multi-faceted and complex nature of teaching and learning with technology. Instead, it emphasizes the types of technology teachers should use to move themselves up the hierarchical continuum of SAMR, giving primacy to technology reteries teaching."



Design Effective Instruction Through EdTech Tools

The use of technology in teaching and learning has undoubtedly delivered many benefits, as with the case of the SAMR model. This framework helps teachers assess the usefulness of technology in different interactive learning contexts. As emphasized, Effects is used to enhance the process of instruction with the objective of promoting engagement and deeper learning.

The use of GTech, however, is not a one-size-fits-all solution. The concept of the instructional core remains, and the pedagogical skills of the teacher, as enhanced by further training on EdTech, remain the most crucial if learning is to become effective. EdTech tools, such as the SAMR model, are part of the teacher's toolbox. As every technology has affordances and limitations, it is the teacher who will decide how to use each tool to design the best learning experience.



5/8





Lunch Return promptly at 1:00 p.m.









Day 3 Day 3 Agenda

Session	Understanding the SAMR model and The Padagogy Wheel for			
Title	ELLs Classroom Technology Integration			
Session	TBD	5	Session	8:00 a.m 4:00
Date		r	Гіте	p.m.
Day 3	By the end of this session,	participants wil	1:	
Objectives	 understand SAMR n 	nodel and The P	adagogy Wheel	
Ū	• Create a grade level	appropriate less	on and independe	ent student reading
E . 1.	assignments using th	e SAMR model	and The Padago	gy Wheel
Findings	(c) overcoming barriers to 1	mplementing ii	istructional tech	nology
addressed	D	34		
Time:	Process: As relevant include guiding	Materials:	Facilitator:	Procedures/Strategies:
	questions, activities,			What instructional
	transitions, informal check			strategies and
	for understanding, etc.			procedures will be used
8.00-8.30	Arrival particinant sign in	Sign in sheet	Instructional	and followed:
0.00 0.50	welcome, review of	Sign in sheet	coach.	
	agenda/expectations/norms/		Academic	
	and the objective for the		coach, or	
	day		teacher	
9.20.0.20	Construction 1	T1 . D. 1	leader	1 Deutierente
8:30-9:30	Session 1:	The Padagogy	Instructional	1. Participants will read the
	Padagogy Wheel	YouTube	Academic	article and
	introduction video	video, article,	coach, or	engage on
		chart paper,	teacher	small group
	The Padagogy	markers, tape,	leader	discourse.
	Wheel article	PowerPoint		Each group
	F			their group's
	• From your			answers on
	are the advantages			chart paper to
	and disadvantages			answer
	of using The			question
	Padagogy Wheel?			prompt.
	why?			
9:30-10:30	Harnessing Technology for	Mentor text,	Instructional	1. Small group
	Chapter 3	created	A cademic	will read and
		lessons.	coach. or	engage in
	• What do you think	PowerPoint	teacher	discourse the
	of the authors	presentation	leader	assigned
	redesign?			section from
	• What are some			chapter 3 of
	other ways to			the mentor
	improve this			ICXI.
	other ways to improve this activity that might			the mentor text.

				18
	be different from what the authors chose? Are there other areas of the protocol that could be used to shift this activity in desired directions?			 Each group will write responses to the question prompts on chart paper to present to the group. Participants will join in the whole group discussion after each group presents.
10:30-10:45	Restroom Break			
10:45-11:45	 Harnessing Technology for Deeper Understanding Chapter 5 What did you think of the authors use of the protocol to design this elementary school lesson from scratch? Elaborate on your response. What ideas do these examples give you? What could you build that was new? 	Mentor text, PowerPoint presentation, laptop, internet access, chart paper, markers	Instructional coach, Academic coach, or teacher leader	 Participants will independently read Chapter 5 pages 41- 45. Each participant will respond on chart paper to one of the question prompts and discuss their responses with the group.
11:45-12:00	 Padlet Prompt What do you already do that aligns with the strategies introduced in this session? Give an example. 	Padlet, computer	Participants	1. Participants will respond to Padlet prompt.
12:00-1:00	Lunch Break			
1:00-2:30	I eacher Work Period	Teacher created lesson, pedagogy	Instructional coach, Academic	1. Participants use sample student data

					181
	Create an instructional technology reading lesson and instructional technology independent student reading activity based on student's sample data.	wheel, SAMR model, sample student ACCESS scores, WIDA standards, grade level reading standard mentor text, laptop, internet access, Microsoft Word, or Google Docs	coach, or teacher leader		and will work with a partner to create one teacher guided reading lesson and four independent student activities referencing the SAMR model, S-substitution A- augmentation M- modification R- redefinition, the Padagogy Wheel, and the mentor text.
2:30-2:45	Restroom Break				
2:45-3:30	Session 2:		Participants	1.	Each group will present completed assignment to whole group for feedback.

					182
3:30-3:45	Show Your Learning	Blooket, laptop, internet access	Instructional coach, Academic coach, or teacher leader	1.	Participants will use game-like technology, Blooket, to answer questions pertaining to WIDA standards, ACCESS scores, SAMR model and mentor text chapter 3 and 5.
3:45-4:00	Closing- Summative Assessment		Participants	Google	Form Participants will complete the summative assessment for the 3 day sessions.
Next Session:					
• Coachi	ng and feedback				

Facilitator Prep:

- Check attendance roster
- Review resources needed for coaching and feedback throughout the school year.
- Review participants' summative assessments

ay 0.1	TUICSSIC		
Time	Session	Materials	URLs
8:00-8:30	Arrival	sign in sheet	
8:30-8:35	Session 1	YouTube video	https://youtu.be/2vb5DUhu7hc
8:35-9:30	Session 1	article-It's Not About Apps, It's About	
		Pedagogy	
9:30-	Session 1	mentor text-Harnessing Technology for	
10:30		Deeper Understanding	
		tape, chart paper, markers	
		teacher created lesson	
		PowerPoint	
10:45-	Session 1	mentor text-Harnessing Technology for	
11:45		Deeper Understanding	
		tape, chart paper, markers	
		teacher created lesson	
		PowerPoint	
11:45-	Session 1	Padlet	https://padlet.com/ingrampollac
12:00		laptop, internet access	k/e6shsl3g9mlcgp1i
1:00-2:30	Session 2	 teacher created lesson 	
		Padagogy Wheel	
		SAMR model	
		• grade level reading standard	
		• mentor text	
		• laptop	
		• internet access	
		Microsoft Word or Google Docs	
2.45-3.30	Session 2	group created assignment	
3.30-3.45	Session 2	Blooket	https://play.blooket.com/play
5150 5115		lanton	indposit play to to one do one play
		internet access	
3:45-4:00	Session 2	summative assessment-Google form	https://docs.google.com/forms/
			d/e/1FAIpOLSeS53T4ITH0cL
			X70pTkipCOTUiWe-
			rmRQvcQY-
			717SJLnVrog/viewform?usp=sh
			aring

Day 3: Professional Development Materials and Resources

Dav 3	Kev message
slide 1	In this presentation, we will cover more in-depth, the SAMR model and The Padagogy Wheel.
slide 2	 Review the agenda for the day and point of the scheduled break. Let participants know where they can locate restrooms in the building. Ensure that participants have access to WIFI
slide 3	Introduce the norms. Depending on size of the crowd, select a few participants to respond.
	Question- Based on your sessions yesterday, which of these norms do you value the most and why?
slide 4	Review the learning objectives for the day.
slide 5	Participants will need to access to WIFI to use electronic versions of the articles. Prepare the participants by clicking the image to view the embedded video on The Padagogy Wheel. Follow up the video with a quick summary from the major points from the video.
slide 6-slide 8	Pass out copies the article "It's Not About the Apps, It's About Pedagogy" or participants can view the electronic version of the article by. Allow participants time to read through the article independently, then present the following questions and facilitate participants' group discussion. Explain to the whole group that each group (number the groups) will write their group's answers to the question on chart papers provided to answer question prompt. Reserve time for groups to write answers, then lead the whole group in discussion based on the responses.
	Question : From your perspective, what are the advantages and disadvantages of using The Padagogy Wheel? why?
slide 9	Participants will use the mentor text "Harnessing Technology for Deeper Learning" for the activity. Participants will work in small groups to read chapter 3 of the book. Project the questions below on the screen and ask participants to keep the questions in mind as they read the chapter and engage in discourse. Facilitate and provide guidance and support as needed. Reserve time for participant groups to write their responses on the chart paper then present their responses to the whole group.
	Questions : What did you think of the authors use of the protocol to design this elementary school lesson from scratch? Elaborate on your response; What ideas do these examples give you? What could you build that was new?
slide 10	There is a timer embedded in each restroom break slide. Click the image to begin the timer.
slide 11	Participants will work independently to read pages 41-45 of chapter 5 from the mentor text. Reserve time for each participant to write their response to one of the question prompts on the chart paper then discuss their response with the whole group.
	Questions: What did you think of the authors use of the protocol to design this elementary school lesson from scratch? Elaborate on your response; What ideas do these examples give you? What could you build that was new?

slide 12	There is a hyperlink embedded in the Padlet image. Click on the image to review the question response the participants will complete. The participants can use their device to type in the Padlet web address to answer the question.
	Question - What do you already do that aligns with the strategies introduced in this session? Give an example.
slide 13	Dismiss the participants for lunch. Click the image to begin the timer that is embedded in the image.
slide 14	Participants will work with a partner to complete the activity. Explain to the participants they will use the student assignments created from day 2 to create one guided reading teacher lesson and 4 independent student assignments while referencing the SAMR model, The Padagogy Wheel, and the mentor text as a guide. Facilitate and provide support as needed throughout the work period.
slide 15	There is a timer embedded in each restroom break slide. Click the image to begin the timer.
slide 16	Depending on group size, each group should be given an allotted amount of time to present the small group teacher lesson and two of the independent student activities the whole group and receive feedback. A handheld timing device (watch or phone) could be useful.
slide 17	Participants will need either a mobile device or their computer to access Blooket. Each participant will enter the code projected on the audience screen to gain access as a player. Begin the interactive game by explaining the directions for completion. The participant who answers the most questions pertaining to WIDA standards, ACCESS scores, the SAMR and chapters three and five of the mentor text correctly first will have their virtual vehicle progress across the screen the fastest. The vehicle that makes it across the finish line first is the winner for the session.
slide 18	Participants will need to access to WIFI to complete post-assessment (exit ticket) Goggle Form. Ensure that each participant can access and complete the form. The participants are dismissed for the day once they have completed and submitted the form, then signed out for the day.

Day 3 Materials: PowerPoint







Slide 4

Learning Objectives

By the end of this session, participants will:

- understand SAMR model and the Padagogy Wheel
- create a grade level appropriate lesson and independent student assignments using the SAMR Model and the Padagogy Wheel





IT IS NOT ABOUT THE APPS, IT IS ABOUT THE PEDAGOGY

The Padagogy Wheel is designed to help educators think – systematically, coherently and with a view to long-term, bigpicture outcomes – about how they use mobile apps in their teaching. The Padagogy Wheel is all about mindsets; it is a way of thinking about digital-age education that meshes together concerns about mobile app features, learning transformation, motivation, cognitive development and long-term learning objectives.

The Padagogy Wheel is not rocket science. It is an everyday device that can be readily used by everyday teachers; it can be applied to everything from curriculum planning and development, to writing learning objectives and designing studentcentred activities. The idea is for the users to respond to the challenges that the wheel presents for their teaching practices, and to ask themselves the tough questions about their choices and methods.

The underlying principle of the Padagogy Wheel is that it is the pedagogy that should determine the educational use of apps. It is all very well to come across an exciting new app and to think, "That is really cool, now how can I use it in the classroom?" What teachers need to do at the same time is to think about how that app might contribute to their set of

https://educationtechnologysolutions.com/2016/06/padagogy-wheel/

https://educationtechnologysolutions.com/2016/06/padagogy-wheel/

188

12/13/22, 12:53 PM

educational aims for the program they are teaching. It was in fact this very concern, how to make the pedagogy drive the technology and not the other way around, that led to the birth of the Padagogy Wheel.

The Padagogy Wheel developed by Allan Carrington

HOW DOES THE PADAGOGY WHEEL WORK?

The Padagogy Wheel brings together in the one chart several different domains of pedagogical thinking. It situates mobile apps within this integrated framework, associating them with the educational purpose they are most likely to serve. It then enables teachers to identify the pedagogical place and purpose of their various app-based learning and teaching activities in the context of their overall objectives for the course and with reference to the wider developmental needs of their students.

It is useful to see the wheel as providing a series of challenges and questions, a structured set of prompts asking teachers to reflect on their teaching, from planning to implementation. These prompts are interconnected like mechanical gears, where a decision in one area often affects decisions in other areas. Teachers should consider each area as a grid through which they filter what they are doing. There are five of these grids, as detailed below.



THE FIVE GRIDS

1. Graduate attributes and capabilities

Graduate attributes are at the core of learning design. Graduate attributes address the long-term, enduring aims of the educational activity. They involve thinking about the type of people that emerge from educational programs - their ethics, responsibility and citizenship, for example - and their employability in the current and future society. Feachers must constantly revisit the way in which their programs are contributing to the development of these attributes. They need to do the hard yards of articulating what they expect a graduate of a program to look like' that is, what is that a graduate is and does that is regarded as successful and meets the expectations of his community as a change agent and leader. How else can teachers help students know what transformation looks like?

Many universities around the world are constantly working on their graduate attributes and mapping their programs to them. The blog post *If you exercise these capabilities. You will be employed* is really eye-opening for college educators. These are the attributes and capabilities that CEOs in the marketplace want in graduates, the things they look for when hiring. If educational leaders do not have a clear picture of the qualities and capabilities of an excellent graduate of their program, then how can teachers help students strive for excellence and to be leaders in their worlds?

Every teacher needs to look at their courses and pedagogy and ask, "How does everything I do support these attributes? Is there any way I can build content and activities that help students become excellent?"

2. Motivation

Motivation is vital to achieving the most effective learning outcomes. It is valuable for teachers to regularly ask themselves, "Why am I doing this again?" That is not a joke. It refers to the choices of learning outcomes, development of activities and design of content, for example, writing text and even making videos. The wheel introduces a 21st century model of motivation that science has developed. Dan Pink presents this well in the TEDtalk *The Puzie of Motivation*. If teachers think through the grid of Autonomy, Mastery and Purpose (AMP) and filter everything they do, from ideacreation to assessment, it will significantly help their teaching be transformational. Band honeycut on her *Flipit Blog* has some good ideas on how to implement Dan Pink's AMP principles in the flipped classroom model.

4/7





12/13/22, 12:53 PM 3. Bloom's taxonom The Padagogy Wheel developed by Allan Carrington

Boom's Lawnormy is really a way of helping teachers design learning objectives that require higher order thinking. Start with remembering and understanding, which is the easiest category to serve with objectives, but produces the least fiftetive excloses is achieving transformation. When supporting teachers, try to get at least can learning objective from sach category and always push towards the domain category of creating, where higher order thinking takes place. This is the 'git the missy of inits this workshopteniar/actiesory out you do able to c.''you of thinking. Only after teachers have developed their learning outcomes are they ready for technology enhancement.

4. Technology enhancement

5. The SAMR model

Technology enhancement serves pedagogy. When teachers choose any app or technology they must remember to apply the app selection criteria. The model only suggests apps that can support the learning objectives and activities at the time of publishing. The Madagogy When closation henges dupating with apps as they are released. Teachers also should think customization all the time - is there a better app or tool for the job of enhancing their defined pedagogy?

Developed by Ruben Puertedura, the SAMR model – standing for Substitution, Augmentation, Modification, Redefinitionis a framework that assists treatments to assess the degree to which digitally empowered learning and teaching is (or is not moving beyond what can be taught using an alongoes technologies. The SAMR model is extremely useful when teachers are considering how they are going to use the technologies they have chosen.

SAMR is a widely used model with a wealth of resources online, like Kathy Schrock's excellent SAMR resources page. A very useful perspective on SAMR is through the eyes of the students, as explained in a short YouTube video.

Teachers should take each of their activities and think through how they will use the technology for each task. Ask "Does this achivity just substitute (that is, students could easily achive the tasks without this chosen technology) or can the tasks be augmented or molfield to improve the achivity and increase engigement" Finally is were the curriculum building activities and teaching practice through the SAMB grid of Redefinition. Is there any task that can be built into the achivity that without the technology would not be possible?

A CHALLENGE

Teachers should spend time thinking through how they can apply all five of the grids to their curriculum design, lesson plans and teaching practice. They should learn more about each grid, take the Padagogy Wheel out for a spin and share their best practice examples.

This year, an objective is to build an online resource of how teachers have used the model, showcasing best practice and inducting research projects. Chiva has over 14.5 million teachers (yes, just teachers) and they are all externely committee. to change, hungy for professional development and collaboration. Work on the Badagey Wheel by Australian teachers could help many thousands of educators in China, as well as others around the work?. This will help students become excellent practitiones and graduates, leading their communities into transformational change and could make the world a better place. After all, that is why you became a teacher, is it not?



Slide 7











FORMATIVE ASSESSMENT

Slide 18		
Instructional Technology Use for English Language Learners		What types of instructional technology will you use with your English Language Learners?
© e20057428@dekalbschoolsga.org (not shared) Switch account		Your answer
Name and position Your answer		What new ideas have you gained and how do you plan to implement these new ideas in your job or training capacity?
How familiar are you with the ACCESS score	es and the WIDA standards?	Your answer
no knowledge of them	4 5 very knowledgeable of the them both	What information was of great value to you? Your answer
How familiar are you with the SAMR model?	4 5 very knowledgeable of the model	What specific suggestions do you have to improve this activity? Your answer
		Submit

Appendix B: Observation Protocol

Interviewer Name:	Interviewee Name:		
Date:/ Location:	Grade:		
Start Time::End Time::	_		
Observational Descriptions	Field Notes and Reflections		

Appendix C: Interview Protocol

Project: Elementary Teachers' Reaction to Implementing Technology

DATE	LOCATION	
START/END TIME:	LENGTH OF INTERVIEW	(MINUTES)
Interviewer	INTERVIEWEE	
POSITION OF INTERVIEWEE	PARTICIPANT'S INITIALS	

In this project study, instructional technology during reading in classes with high English language learner (ELL) populations is examined. The purpose of this project study was to explore teachers' perceptions of and experiences using instructional technology during reading instruction of Grades 3-5 ELLs. The participants will be teachers, and the data will be collected from interviews. This interview will take 45-60 minutes to complete. [The researcher will have a copy of the consent form for the participant to review. The consent form would have been received and reviewed by the participant before the interview takes place.]

[The recorder will be turned on as consent was given by the participant taking the prescreening survey.]

Questions:

- 1. Briefly describe your experience with teaching reading and technology (building background).
- 2. What directives suggest you utilize instructional technology during reading in the classroom?
 - a. Please provide an example of one of those directives.
- 3. What do you believe are your technology proficiency/competency skills for utilizing instructional technology during reading?
 - a. How does this affect your use of instructional technology during reading?
- 4. What preparation strategies do you use when planning instructional technology lessons for ELL and non-ELL students?
- 5. What instructional technology strategies are used to teach reading to ELLs?
 - a. Describe a lesson using instructional technology strategies to teach reading to ELLs.
 - b. How have these strategies helped ELLs to learn to read?

- c. Would you recommend these strategies to other teachers? Why?
- 6. How do you differentiate instructional technology use specifically for ELLs?
- 7. Tell me about a lesson you taught when you successfully used technology during reading instruction for ELLs.
- 8. Tell me about a lesson you taught when you did not successfully use technology during reading.
 - a. What did you do to reteach the lesson using technology?
- 9. How do you use technology to teach comprehension, vocabulary, or fluency to ELLs?
- 10. What online reading programs have you used to help ELLs learn to read?
- 11. What forms of practice and application do you allow your ELL students to engage in when using instructional technology throughout the lesson?
- 12. What are your concerns regarding the use of instructional technology for collaborative reading assignments to improve reading proficiencies for ELLs?
- 13. Describe a typical instructional technology reading task in your classroom.
- 14. Is there any additional information you would like to add regarding instructing ELL students or using technology in your reading block?

OPTIONAL PROBING QUESTIONS:

- 15. When you say, (example entered here), how would that look during instruction?
- 16. Why does that matter during reading instruction?
- 17. Have you always felt this way about teaching reading to ELLs?
- 18. We talked about a topic earlier, I would like know more about how that topic relates to using instructional technology to teach reading to ELLs.

Thank you for your participation and cooperation in this interview. A follow-up interview may be necessary if certain responses are not clearly recorded. Your responses will remain confidential for a period of 5 years from this date and will be deleted after that.

Appendix D: Document Collection Checklist

Lesson plans were requested by e-mail and submitted by teachers in person or through an e-mail at least three days before the observation process, and lesson plans were analyzed for the following:

- ____ Activities and instructions for technology during reading
- Frequency of instructional technology used during the week
- ____ Teacher anecdotal reading notes about instruction
- _____ Technology-based tasks are at enhancement (at substitute level)
- _____ Technology-based tasks are at enhancement (at augmentation level)
- ____ Technology-based tasks are at transformative (modification level)

_____ Technology-based tasks are at transformative (redefinition level)

Notes on Research Question 1	Notes on Research Question 2